





TRINITY UNIVERSITY

LIBRARY,

S.N. Co. S.H. 16 No. 14



# PARISH SERMONS.

Second Series.

(PREACHED IN THE PARISH CHURCH OF S. EDWARD'S, CAMBRIDGE.)

BY THE

# REV. HARVEY GOODWIN, M.A.,

LATE FELLOW OF GONVILLE AND CAIUS COLLEGE,
MINISTER OF S. EDWARD'S, CAMBRIDGE,
AND HULSEAN LECTURER.

Second Edition.

CAMBRIDGE:
DEIGHTON, BELL, AND CO.;
LONDON: BELL & DALDY.
1855.

68832

252

CAMBRIDGE: PRINTED BY METCALFE AND PALMER.

1 1 7 3 1 OCT 3 1 1984

# PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION.

I do not think it necessary to offer any apology for the appearance of these Sermons, because it is the result of the reception experienced by a former volume, which I published some years ago, and the several requests which I have received that I would publish more. With the exception of a few verbal alterations, the sermons are printed as they were preached, and to this probably some defects may be due; but (as I remarked in the Preface to my former series) I feared that in the process of altering and remodelling still greater defects might be introduced, and in this fear I believe that all persons accustomed to the composition of sermons will sympathize.

The subjects of the sermons are extremely various: in making a selection for publication I was guided by principles which I need not here explain; but I may say that there appeared to me to be in the case of each some particular feature, which entitled it to occupy a place in the series.

That some measure of usefulness may attend the publication, is the only wish concerning the volume that I have any right, (or I trust) any desire, to cherish.

H. G.

# CONTENTS.

CHARACTER OF ESAU.

GENESIS XXVII. 38.

Esau said unto his father, Hast thou but one blessing, my father? Bless me, even me also, O my father. And Esau lifted up his voice and wept.

### SERMON II.

CHARACTER OF BALAAM.

NUMBERS XXIII. 10.

Let me die the death of the righteous, and let my last end be like his.

### SERMON III.

AHAB'S IVORY HOUSE,

1 Kings xxii. 37, 38, 39.

So the king died, and was brought to Samaria; and they buried the king in Samaria.

And one washed the chariot in the pool of Samaria; and the dogs licked up his blood; and they washed his armour; according unto the word of the Lord which He spake.

Now the rest of the acts of Ahab, and all that he did, and the ivory house which he made, and all the cities that he built, are they not written in the book of the Chronicles of the Kings of Israel? . . . .

33

PAGE

1

#### SERMON IV.

MANKIND	PUNISHED	$_{\rm BY}$	BEING	LEFT	TO	THEMSELVES.

#### PSALM lxxxi, 12, 13,

PAGE

50

66

83

My people would not hear My voice, and Israel would not obey Me.

So I gave them up unto their own hearts' lusts, and let them follow their own imaginations.

#### SERMON V.

#### IT IS MINE OWN INFIRMITY.

### Psalm lxxvii. 7, 8, 9, 10.

Will the Lord absent Himself for ever? and will he be no more entreated?

Is His mercy clean gone for ever? and is His promise come utterly to an end for evermore?

Hath God forgotten to be gracious? and will He shut up His lovingkindness in displeasure?

And I said, It is mine own infirmity; but I will remember the years of the right hand of the Most Highest.

## SERMON VI.

#### STATE OF MAN IN PARADISE.

### Genesis ii. 7.

The Lord God formed man out of the dust of the ground, and breathed into his nostrils the breath of life; and man became a living soul.

#### SERMON VII.

#### THE GOSPEL REVEALED TO BABES.

#### S. MATTHEW xi, 25-30.

At that time Jesus answered and said, I thank Thee, O Father, Lord of heaven and earth, because thou hast hid these things from the wise and prudent, and hast revealed them unto babes.

Even so, Father: for so it seemed good in Thy sight.

PAGE

All things are delivered unto Me of My Father: and no man knoweth the Son, but the Father: neither knoweth any man the Father, save the Son, and he to whomsoever the Son will reveal Him.

Come unto Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest.

Take My yoke upon you, and learn of Me; for I am meek and lowly in heart: and ye shall find rest unto your souls.

For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light.

98

#### SERMON VIII.

#### CHRIST BLESSING LITTLE CHILDREN.

## S. MARK x. 13, 14, 15, 16.

And they brought young children to Him, that He should touch them: and His disciples rebuked those that brought them.

But when Jesus saw it, He was much displeased, and said unto them, Suffer the little children to come unto Me, and forbid them not: for of such is the kingdom of God.

Verily I say unto you, Whosoever shall not receive the kingdom of God as a little child, he shall not enter therein.

And He took them up in His arms, put His hands upon them, and blessed them.

## SERMON IX.

WHAT IS REQUIRED OF THOSE WHO COME TO THE LORD'S SUPPER?

# REVELATION XXII. 17.

And the Spirit and the Bride say, Come. And let him that heareth say, Come. And let him that is athirst come. And whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely.

#### SERMON X.

#### TRANSIENT IMPRESSIONS.

S. John xvi. 31, 32.

PAGE

Jesus answered them. Do ve now believe? Behold, the hour cometh, yea, is now come, that ye shall be scattered, every man to his own, and shall leave Me alone.

149

# SERMON XI.

#### THE FOLLY OF UNBELIEF.

# PSALM liii. 1. 2.

The fool hath said in his heart, There is no God. Corrupt are they, and have done abominable iniquity: there is none that doeth good.

God looked down from heaven upon the children of men, to see if there were any that did understand, that did seek God.

165

### SERMON XII.

#### CHARACTER OF FELIX.

# Acrs xxiv. 24, 25, 26, 27.

And after certain days, when Felix came with his wife Drusilla, which was a Jewess, he sent for Paul, and heard him concerning the faith in Christ.

And as he reasoned of righteousness, temperance, and judgment to come, Felix trembled, and answered, Go thy way for this time; when I have a convenient season, I will call for thee.

He hoped also that money should have been given him of Paul, that he might loose him: wherefore he sent for him the oftener, and communed with him.

But after two years, Porcius Festus came into Felix' room: and Felix, willing to shew the Jews a pleasure, left Paul bound.

#### CONTENTS.

#### SERMON XIII.

(Preached on the 2nd Sunday in Advent.)

#### JUSTIFICATION BY FAITH.

S. James ii. 26.

PAGE

For as the body without the spirit is dead, so faith without works is dead also.

#### SERMON XIV.

#### THE GREAT GULPH.

### S. Luke, xvi. 26.

And beside all this, between us and you there is a great gulph fixed: so that they which would pass from hence to you cannot; neither can they pass to us, that would come from thence.

216

#### SERMON XV.

#### THE TEN LEPERS.

# S. Luke xvii. 17, 18.

Jesus said, "Were there not ten cleansed? but where

#### SERMON XVI.

#### S. PAUL'S VIEW OF LIFE.

# PHILIPPIANS i. 22, 23, 24, 25.

But if I live in the flesh, this is the fruit of my labour: yet what I shall choose I wot not.

For I am in a strait betwixt two, having a desire to depart, and to be with Christ; which is far better.

Nevertheless to abide in the flesh is more needful for you.

And having this confidence, I know that I shall abide and continue with you all for your furtherance and joy of faith.

#### SERMON XVII.

#### DUTY TO PARENTS.

PAGE

#### PROVERBS i. 7, 8, 9.

The fear of the Lord is the beginning of knowledge: but fools despise wisdom and instruction.

My son, hear the instruction of thy father, and forsake not the law of thy mother:

#### SERMON XVIII.

#### THE LOSS OF THE SOUL.

### S. MARK viii. 35, 36, 37.

For whosoever will save his life shall lose it; but whosoever shall lose his life for my sake and the Gospel's, the same shall save it.

For what shall it profit a man, if he shall gain the whole world, and lose his own soul?

Or what shall a man give in exchange for his soul? 278

#### SERMON XIX.

(Preached on the Sunday after Christmas Day.)

THE REVERENCE DUE TO THE BLESSED VIRGIN.

# S. Luke i. 46, 47, 48.

And Mary said, My soul doth magnify the Lord, And my spirit hath rejoiced in God my Saviour.

For he hath regarded the low estate of His handmaiden: for, behold, from henceforth all generations shall call me blessed.

### SERMON XX.

## BECOMING LIKE LITTLE CHILDREN.

PAGE

S. MATTHEW XVIII. 1, 2, 3, 4.

At the same time came the disciples unto Jesus, saying, Who is the greatest in the kingdom of heaven?

And Jesus called a little child unto Him, and set him in the midst of them:

And said, Verily I say unto you, Except ye be converted, and become as little children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of heaven.

Whosoever therefore shall humble himself as this little child, the same is greatest in the kingdom of heaven.



# SERMON I.

### CHARACTER OF ESAU.

### GENESIS XXVII. 38.

Esau said unto his father, Hast thou but one blessing, my father? Bless me, even me also, O my father. And Esau lifted up his voice and wept.

You will remember, that in the Epistle to the Hebrews the Apostle holds up the case of Esau as a warning to Christians. He says, "Look diligently, lest any man fail of the grace of God; . . . . lest there be any fornicator, or profune person, as Esau, who for one morsel of meat sold his birthright: for ye know how that afterward, when he would have inherited the blessing, he was rejected; for he found no place of repentance, though he sought it carefully with tears."\*

Taking the words of the text in connexion with this Apostolical comment upon them, we may conclude that they contain a worthy subject

<sup>\*</sup> Heb. xii. 15, 16, 17.

for thought to Christians at all times. I wish then in this discourse to offer you some general remarks concerning Esau's character. You will observe that, in the passage from the Hebrews which I have just now read, the Apostle seems to deal with him somewhat severely: he holds him up as a type of character very much to be shunned; he warns Christians to examine diligently and see that there be amongst them none like him; he chooses him out of all the Old Testament characters, as the example of a man whom he calls profane, a man who preferred the indulgence of his appetite to the strict rule of holiness, and who, when he repented of his folly, found the door of repentance shut against him. Now I think that the first impression would be, that the Apostle had dealt somewhat hardly with the character of Esau: I think especially, that the history contained in the chapter from which the text is taken, would incline us to pity Esau much more than to blame him-to forget his error in selling his birthright, when we remember the shameful manner in which he was defrauded of his father's last blessing.

And let me say here once for all, that I think we have no right to regard that transaction as anything else than a shameful fraud. It is true that in the good providence of God it tended to bring about His purpose of calling His people in Jacob, and not in Esau; but of course no result can justify that which is itself contrary to the rules of right, otherwise the redemption of the world might well be an apology for the treachery of Judas: let us therefore not think it necessary to withhold our pity from Esau, nor our blame from Rebekah and Jacob. At the same time let us not allow our pity to blind our eyes to the real character of Esau: although the manner in which he was deprived of the blessing be most unrighteous, yet it may be that the loss was only a just judgment upon him; it may be that the loss of the blessing was only a proper punishment for contempt of the birthright.

Let us, then, now examine Esau's character more attentively. And in the first place I will present you with the fair side of it. Unquestionably it has a fair side: Esau was by no means a man of unqualified wickedness or baseness; he had indeed some very noble qualities, and, judged according to the standard of the judgment of many men, would pass, I conceive, for a very worthy, estimable person. Let us take his conduct towards his brother Jacob as a specimen. You will remember, that after Jacob had defrauded him of their father's blessing he was extremely indignant, as he well might be, and in

his wrath he threatened to slay his brother; but this was only a passing burst of rage: although his brother had done him a lasting injury, yet he did not cherish a lasting resentment. Quite otherwise: you will find in Gen. xxxiii., that when Jacob and Esau met each other again, and when Jacob feared exceedingly the effects of Esau's rage, Esau received him with all brotherly affection, never reproached him for his unkindness, but treated him with the utmost forbearance. And if you examine the history, you will find that there is no trace of any revengeful feeling in Esau's mind; his forgiveness of Jacob was free, lasting, and complete. Now, unquestionably this whole history puts Esau's character in a very favourable light: it represents him as an openhearted generous person, who, though he might be rough in his manners, fond of a wild life, perhaps as rude and unpolished in mind as he was in body, had yet a noble soul, which was able to do what little minds sometimes cannot do, namely, forgive freely a cruel wrong done to him.

And even that selling of the birthright, upon which the Apostle founds the charge of profanity, would admit, in the minds of many persons, of considerable excuse. Let us look at the history: we read in Gen. xxv., that Esau one day came from the field weary and faint; that he asked

Jacob for some food; and that Jacob, taking advantage of his hunger, begged of him to sell him his birthright for the food. Esau reasoned thus, "Behold, I am at the point to die, and what good shall this birthright do to me?" Accordingly he sold the birthright: and though no one can quite justify the act, yet it might be said that the conduct of Jacob was far more to be condemned, who took advantage of the hunger of his brother to get possession of that which he had no right to covet. So that, looking upon the whole transaction, I can easily understand, that a person might very much excuse Esau's contempt of his birthright, while he would condemn the manner in which Jacob contrived to extort it from him.

Nevertheless, it is not without reason that the Apostle styles Esau a profane person. I think that in order to gain the whole benefit of his history as an example to ourselves, it is not only permissible but quite necessary, that we should give full credit to all that we can find in his character which is good or amiable; for if he were a man of unqualified bad character, we might be disposed to put aside his example at once, as by no means presenting anything of importance to ourselves; it is just because his character has its fair side, nay, that he is such as many persons would hold up as a model of what

men ought to be, that the contemplation of his failings, the dark side of his character, is full of interest and instruction. So it is that we may read of the punishment of some person of notoriously wicked life, without regarding it much as a warning; we may take it for granted, that as we do not lead such a profligate life, we shall not fall into such crimes nor incur such penalties: but if a person of apparently fair character, well spoken of, well thought of in the world, is carried away by temptation, and falls into the commission of some criminal act, then who can prevent the thought crossing his mind, "thank God that I have been preserved from such a fall:" and who can refrain from offering up the prayer, "Lord, lead me not into temptation, but deliver me from evil"? Therefore it is by no means necessary for my purpose, in holding up the character of Esau as a warning, that I should attempt to underrate his good qualities; rather it strengthens my position to give to all the excellent points of his character their full force: the more admirable he appears when seen in certain lights, the more reflection ought the Apostle's words to cause.

What, then, was the defect in Esau's character? I think it may be described as a want of religious seriousness: there was (so to speak) nothing spiritual in him—no reverence for holy things—no

indications of a soul, which could find no sufficient joys in this world, and which aspired to those joys which are at God's right hand for evermore. You will easily see that there is nothing in the character of Esau, as I have described it, inconsistent with our supposing it to have these defects: that openness and generosity of character, which we have remarked as belonging to Esau, may easily exist, and yet the man who possesses it may be deficient in other virtues: we are not at all surprised to find that Esau, a plain rough man, who lived a wild hunting life, should have that kind of generosity which often accompanies wild life; but this may very well be, and yet there may be sad spiritual defects of character as well: the man may be sensual, have no tastes beyond his hunting and the satisfaction of his bodily appetites; he may be entirely careless about religion, the spiritual life of the soul may be to him a subject altogether unconsidered. And such I conceive to have been Esau's case: I take him to be the representative to us of the unspiritual man; the man who, whatever be his good qualities, is yet deficient in the highest of all, namely, the love of God and of holiness.

That this is the true view will, I think, at once appear, if we consider what that birthright was which Esau sold for his mess of pottage. If it

had been a mere earthly blessing, there would have been no evil in the transaction: but then also I think we may safely affirm, that Esau would not have sold it so easily; he would, I think, have borne his hunger, or have endeavoured to find some other way of appeasing it, if he had been obliged to barter for the pottage all his worldly expectations. For you will notice, that, although we read that Esau despised his birthright, yet we do not read that he despised his father's blessing. When Isaac said that he had already blessed Jacob, and had made him lord and all his brethren servants, and sustained him with corn and wine, then Esau lifted up his voice and wept; he despised his birthright, but he wept for the loss of the corn and wine. What then was this birthright? it was chiefly this, the priesthood of the family. There seems to be no doubt, that in patriarchal times the eldest-born was looked upon in somewhat of a sacred character: it has even been thought by some that "the goodly raiment of Esau," of which we read that Rebekah took it and put it upon Jacob, was no common clothing, but consisted of sacred garments which belonged to Esau in his character of priest of the family.\* Moreover, the promise made to Abraham, that in his seed the earth should be

<sup>\*</sup> See Blunt's Scriptural Coincidences, p. 12.

blessed, together with all those other revelations which made the family of Abraham expect that something great and wonderful was to arise from their posterity, would give a great religious importance to the head of the family, in whom it would be conceived that all such hopes centered. But whatever this birthright was, (and it is unnecessary for me to enter upon the discussion at any length,) this is at all events certain, that it was a spiritual blessing, not a blessing of corn and wine, but something which could only be valued by a mind having some spiritual discernment. And this being so, what value was Esau likely to put upon his birthright? "What good shall this birthright do me?" said Esau, when he was faint and hungry: it was not meat and drink -what good could there be in it? Here you see the want of spirituality in Esau's character: everything, you will observe, must be tried by an earthly standard; that is good which satisfies the bodily appetite, which gratifies the carnal taste; a spiritual birthright is a delusion-a mess of pottage is much better than that: give me something that will satisfy my wants now, and do not tell me of spiritual privileges; let those have them who care about them and understand them-my tastes are different and less fanciful. This is the kind of language which men of Esau's

turn of mind will use; and it seems to justify the title of profane which the Apostle has assigned to him. For by that name I understand the Apostle to describe the carnal, unspiritual man; the man, who, without being necessarily depraved, dishonest, unclean, blasphemous, or the like, does nevertheless take his stand upon this world as the end of his thoughts and the scene of all his activity; who considers the land as a great hunting field, as Esau considered it; who practically makes the satisfaction of his bodily wants and tastes the whole end of living; and who, thus ignoring the existence within him of a soul which can only live in God, leaves spiritual things to others, who may be foolish enough to care about them.

And this profanity of Esau, as it is called, is further illustrated by another circumstance. Esau, we read, married two wives of the Hittites; and we read that this was a "grief of mind to Isaac and Rebekah." And again, Rebekah feared exceedingly lest Jacob in like manner should marry any of the women of the country where they were dwelling; accordingly Jacob was sent to Haran, to Laban, Rebekah's brother, and he took a wife from her family. Now there can be no doubt, but that Esau's Canaanitish marriages were in the eyes of his parents a religious offense;

he was going out of the family to whom the promises were made: and though we may not be able entirely to enter into the feelings of the patriarchs, yet unquestionably if Esau had been soberly and religiously minded he would not have acted as he did. He would often have heard, how that his grandfather Abraham had charged his servant with an oath not to allow Isaac his son to marry one of the Canaanitish women, but to go to his own kindred and take him a wife from thence. And a charge of this kind would come down to all right-minded persons with a very weighty sanction; we see, indeed, how much weight was attributed to it by Isaac and Rebekah: but Esau was not a man, with whom such views would have much influence; his fancy led him to marry a Canaanitish woman, and a Canaanitish woman he must marry; what harm was there in it? why was one race better than another? he might even deem it narrowminded and illiberal to attribute any virtue to one particular family. But the root of all was, that his taste led him in a certain direction, and he had no higher spiritual principle within him to check and control that taste. And the feeling of mind which would lead Esau to despise the religious scruples, and probably the parental commands, of Isaac and Rebekah, in the matter of his Canaanitish marriages, is quite in keeping with that, which led him to despise his birthright.

Thus then, without unduly depreciating Esau's character, we may very easily see in what sense and with what justice the Apostle calls him profane: and now one word about his repentance, of which the Apostle also speaks as being a warning to us, because it came too late and in vain.

Esau's repentance is still consistent with his character: what is there remarkable about Esau's repentance? this—that it was manifestly of the wrong kind. "Godly sorrow," says the Apostle, "worketh repentance not to be repented of; but the sorrow of the world worketh death." Esau's sorrow was of this latter kind; it was emphatically sorrow of this world-grief for the loss of the corn and wine: he found that after all his labour spent upon the things of this life, Jacob was still to have the richer portion: Jacob had taken his birthright; that, however, he could pardon him; but it grieved Esau to his very soul, that Jacob had gotten the promise of this world's wealth beside. Now how can such sorrow be availing? Esau does not repent of his profanity, does not see the mistake of his life; he continues in heart unchanged, he is only touched by the loss of what he had been expecting in the way of worldly goods: there is nothing holy in this,

nothing that is not quite consistent with the charge of being still what the Apostle calls "profane." And so Esau wept at last, and wept in vain; "Ye know how that when he would have inherited the blessing he was rejected, for he found no place of repentance, though he sought it carefully with tears."

And now, Christian Brethren, upon this review of Esau's character, what lesson may we draw for the improvement of our own? The leading feature of Esau's character, so far as his character was bad, was (as I have said) a want of religious seriousness; an essentially irreligious, unspiritual man; though not unjust, covetous, an extortioner, an adulterer, a liar, a thief, or a murderer, none of these, very far from them, still an ungodly man, one altogether of the earth earthy, one in whom the spiritual life was dead. And yet he was not a man living under spiritual disadvantages, not living in an atmosphere where everything savoured of the low and worldly, and where it would have required an almost supernatural effort to break the trammels by which his soul was bound, and to rise to better things: on the contrary, of all men on the face of the earth he appeared most highly favoured—the eldest son of the heir of the promises, the inheritor of the mystical birthright: and this being so, do you not see with what force those words of the Apostle apply to a body of Christians like ourselves, "Look diligently lest any man fail of the grace of God, lest there be amongst you any profane person like Esau"? Do you not see that this is precisely the warning which professing Christians require, "not to despise their birthright"? Who more highly privileged than ourselves? what birthright more glorious and noble than that of us, who have been born again of water and of the Holy Ghost? our danger is, not lest the grace of God should not be given to us, but lest we should fail of the grace of God, or fall from grace given; our danger is not lest we should be born to spiritual beggary, but lest, being born to a royal inheritance, we should despise it and barter it for a mess of pottage. And if we do fail of the grace of God, or if without actually falling away we decline in our spiritual life, the reason will probably be, that the temper of Esau's mind has infected our own; it will be no great wonder if we be so infected, because the disease has been epidemic since the fall: the disease is that of worldly tastes and wishes getting possession of the mind, and driving out spiritual thoughts. We see by daily experience how common the disease is; we find how difficult it is to persuade men to measure everything by a high standard; not to

make selfish advantage the test of every scheme, the touchstone of all excellence. And how few are there who lead a really spiritual life, of whom it can be said that "their life is hid with Christ in God"! how few who honestly make growth in holiness the only growth, in which they feel much concern! Alas, that so it should be-but so alas it is! I do not wish to paint the complexion of Christian society darker than it is; I would acknowledge with all thankfulness, that a wondrous change has come over the face of the world, since Christ was raised up in this wilderness that men might look to Him: but still that there is much of that character of mind which the Apostle calls profane, and which the character of Esau exhibited, I cannot pretend to doubt.

I would not, Christian Brethren, that any of us should despise his birthright, and one day have cause to lament that he has missed the aim of his life when no place of repentance is left. But he who in the time of health and strength does not strive to lead a holy, godly, religious life, cannot wonder if the reality of those spiritual things which he now disregards should one day break upon him with very fearful terrors. And believe me, that it will be found to be in our case as it was in Esau's, that he who despises his birthright will lose more than he thought;

the birthright and the blessing go together; he who despises the one is not worthy of the other; he who sells one for a mess of pottage will find that the other will slip through his hands. Therefore, by the help of God's Holy Spirit, let us cultivate all holy habits and all Christian tastes; let us remember whereunto we are called, that we are a holy nation, a peculiar people, and that it is our happiness as well as our duty to offer up to God all the activity of our lives and all the love of our hearts.

# SERMON II.

#### CHARACTER OF BALAAM.

## Numbers xxiii. 10.

Let me die the death of the righteous, and let my last end be like his.

The history of Balaam is involved in considerable obscurity; many questions might be raised concerning him: who he was; in what sense he was a prophet; whether he was ever inspired by the Holy Spirit on any other occasion, besides that memorable one on which he spoke before Balak; and other like questions, which it might be difficult entirely to resolve. But it will not be necessary for me, and I think it would not be useful, to lead you into any discussion upon such points; they are points worthy of discussion, but not here. If there be anything in the history of Balaam which is profitable for "doctrine and reproof and instruction in righteousness," we shall almost certainly find that valuable portion in what is patent and obvious,

and in that part of the history, which may be understood by any simple earnest-minded man.

I propose, therefore, to pass by all questions of doubt and difficulty, and endeavour to draw from such parts of Balaam's history as are clear and plain a lesson or two of great spiritual importance; and I would therefore now state to you the character, in which I desire to represent Balaam to you. I desire to point him out to you as a striking example of a man, who knew the blessedness of serving God, and was desirous of obtaining the advantages of religion without having the trouble of serving God.

I wish always to impress upon you that religion does impose the condition of service upon us, that it is in a very real sense and not in an imaginary one that the Lord speaks of His yoke; and that though it be true that God's service is perfect freedom, and that the yoke of Christ is the condition of our receiving that liberty of which He speaks, wherewith He sets His people free, still the yoke is a true yoke to which the neck must bend, and the service a true service which must be performed. No religion, and especially not the religion of the Lord Jesus Christ, can allow men to do as they will; it is something which binds them by vows and obligations and new duties; and he who is baptized

into Christ has to maintain a constant war against the flesh and the world, and to keep the door of his lips, and guard against the overflowings of passion, and govern his temper, and exercise himself in all good works of charity and piety and devotion. And what Christ has told us is not that He has no yoke to put upon us, but that if we will take the yoke upon us we shall find it light; and so doubtless we shall; all the lives of saints and martyrs go to prove that the Lord's words are true. And Christ has told us moreover, that those who bear his yoke in this world shall wear His crown in the world to come; that godliness in this world is the seed of happiness for evermore; that those who serve are those who shall reign. But here we come upon the manner in which men are able to deceive themselves; they remember the promises of Christ, they forget or modify His conditions; they desire to reign, but they are unwilling to serve; they expect to reap an everlasting harvest, without having sown the seed. Who shall say what amount of spiritual ruin arises from this cause? The case is common, as every one will admit; nay perhaps in an age like our own, when the general truth of the doctrines of religion is admitted, it is one of the most common forms of delusion; men wish to die the death of saints,

but they are not careful to live a saintly life; they do not see the awful connexion between their lives here and their lives hereafter, and they are content with scattering some few stray seeds of faith, or with holding certain doctrines, or with being convinced by some assurance in their own hearts, or the like, instead of setting themselves earnestly to work to build up a lasting habitation upon a life spent in the service of God.

And who does not feel the unholy influences of sin and the world, tempting him more or less to walk in this foolish way? If, therefore, we can see in Balaam the example of one, who in a remarkable manner knew what was right and how he ought to walk, and how his end might be peace, and who sighed for the happiness of those who feared the Lord, and who yet in a preeminent manner sold himself to do the devil's work and ruined himself in doing it, shall we not have a picture, upon which many may look with alarm, and from which all may gather some useful warning?

Now in examining the history and character of Balaam, so far as it is necessary for our present purpose, I would have you to observe two things.

In the first place, it is plain that Balaam was a wayward and wicked man. It may seem remarkable, that a man of such a character should have been permitted to be in any sense a prophet of the Lord; that, however, is a point with which we are not now dealing; doubtless it is remarkable, but the fact is nevertheless plain and unquestionable, that the character of Balaam was that of a wayward and wicked man; it was not that he once committed a fault and was sorry for it; the history does not reveal to us the fall of a holy man overtaken by a sudden temptation, but reveals to us a stubborn and unholy temper as the very foundation of the prophet's character. For from the very first Balaam had received instruction concerning the Israelites and commands how to act; and when Balak's servants came to him, what had he to do, but at once to explain the commands which were upon him and send the servants back again to their master? And indeed the first time that they came Balaam did send them away; but yet I fancy there must have been something which invited their return, and probably it was the manner in which Balaam announced to them the message of God; he said, "Get you into your land, for the Lord refuseth to give me leave to go with you." Now this mode of representing God's message would, I think, seem to imply that Balaam was very willing to go but dare not; he does not tell the messengers that the people are blessed of God, and that therefore the thought of cursing

them was thoroughly horrible to his mind; his words would rather leave the impression that he was himself anxious to go, but that God would not permit him, at all events at that time. The fact is, I imagine, that Balaam had an eye to those rewards of divination which the messengers brought in their hands, and that Balak's servants perceived this, and therefore thought that a more tempting reward would probably overcome his scruples; therefore when the messengers returned without Balaam, Balak sent more and more honourable persons and more flattering promises than before. And Balaam did not seem displeased; he told the messengers indeed that he could not either bless or curse out of his own mind, but he did not send them away at once as those who were tempting him to deadly sin; he took them in and lodged them, and gave them some hopes that the command laid upon him might be relaxed, and that he might be permitted to go. And God acted towards Balaam, as He is wont to do towards those who kick against the strictness of His law; He allowed him partly to have his own way; if the men called Balaam in the morning, then He might arise and go with them: but having obtained this half permission, Balaam took his own way entirely, at least I judge from the history that he waited for no further summons, but got up in the morning and went with the men. Observe the waywardness of the man; he must follow his own way, and that a wicked way; must "run greedily after reward;" must endeavour to obtain some of Balak's wealth, even though the cursing of God's people be the price of it. And so it was, that his way appeared perverse before God, and that the angel was sent to oppose him. And that I am not exaggerating the wickedness of his character appears from these two things; first, that when he had failed to curse Balak's enemies he taught Balak how he might ruin them by tempting them to sin, which is an almost incredible piece of wickedness on the part of one who knew all that Balaam knew concerning them; and, secondly, that (as we read afterwards\*) Balaam actually died fighting against the Israelites, that is, died in fighting against those whom he had himself declared blessed. Now these two things are convincing proof that, as I said before, Balaam's sin is not that of a good man who falls and repents, but it is the outcoming of that which lay deep in his heart; his noble prophecies are not the genuine utterances of a pure and holy soul, but only the constrained and unwilling words of one who would if he could have given a prophecy of a very different kind;

<sup>\*</sup> Numbers xxxi. 8.

his assumed character is that in which he magnifies the blessedness of Israel, his real character is that in which he runs greedily after reward, and seduces the people of God from holiness, and dies fighting against them.

This then is the first point, which I wish you to observe as being manifest from the history—the waywardness and wickedness of Balaam's character. And the second is this, that Balaam knew all the while that he was wrong; not one who sinned through ignorance, nor even through carelessness, but a prophet privileged in many respects to see, even beyond those of his age, into the deep things of God. He knew that he was not his own master, and that he could not curse the people, and he even told Balak's messengers that this was so; then why not there an end? it was doubtless covetousness that carried him on; but that is not what I wish to lay stress upon; what I wish to enforce is, that beyond all doubt Balaam knew that he was not walking in the path of duty. What the temptation was, how he drugged his conscience, or whether he took any pains about his conscience at all—with these points I have nothing to do just now; it is sufficient for me, that Balaam went upon his evil way with his eyes open to his wickedness: even if we were to extenuate the fault of his going with the messengers, and give

him credit for being ready to go back again when he perceived the angel in his way, yet still we have the broad facts, that after all this he deliberately took his side against the people of God, and gave most vile counsel against them, and died as their enemy. So that on the whole, I do not see how we can release Balaam from the charge of doing wickedness deliberately; sinning against light; having his heart utterly unrenewed, even while he was permitted with his lips to prophesy of the redemption of the world.

These points of Balaam's character and history lie open and manifest; and it is the consideration of them only, which is necessary to give force to the lessons that I desire to draw from the text. Bearing in mind what Balaam was, and what he afterwards did, please to notice the words of the text: he declares in the most emphatic language the blessedness of the people of God, and by consequence preaches the beauty of holiness; "how shall I curse whom God hath not cursed, and how shall I defy whom God hath not defied?"-words these, which, if taken in a sense which they may fairly bear, express as emphatically as may be the blessedness of serving God, and which might seem to be the utterance of one who thirsted "after God as the hart panteth for the waterbrooks;" and then, after declaring the future greatness of Israel

as a nation, the text concludes with those remarkable words, "Let me die the death of the righteous and let my last end be like his;" words which, without examining them particularly, certainly express this, the desire to have as the best lot which a man can have, the inheritance of the people of God. Now I do not know that ever words were uttered, which on the whole express more forcibly and almost more beautifully the aspiration of a holy man's heart, than these words of Balaam; S. Peter, or S. Paul, or S. John could have said nothing more striking and more appropriate concerning those who died as martyrs for the faith of Christ; and yet these words came from the mouth of a man, who was covetous and wayward and wicked, who knew of his wickedness and never repented of it, but continued to add sin to sin; and he who prayed that he might die like the righteous, perished in fighting against the chosen of the Lord. Were the words, then, merely those of a canting hypocrite? Not so entirely. Balaam did know, and did in a certain sense believe in, the blessedness of serving God; in fact, he had the evidence of his own tongue refusing to do its office, when he wished to curse those whom God had blessed; therefore he could not but believe, that there was a blessing belonging especially to those whom God loved; and therefore also we need not

suppose that his words were utterly hollow, when he prayed to die the righteous man's death. For who would not do so? saint or sinner—there can be no question as to which has the most light in his dwelling, when the sun of this world begins to set; give me the man, who has been the most utter despiser of all religious thoughts during the time of health, yet even he will scarcely say that there is no satisfaction in the hope full of immortality, which smooths the pillow of a dying servant of Christ. Supposing, therefore, Balaam to have meant precisely what his words seem to express, there is nothing at which we need wonder, or at all events there is nothing inconceivable: for what Balaam did was that which many others do,-he desired the peace of Christ without His yoke, and the death of the saint preceded by the life of a sinner. There is no need to suppose Balaam to have been a mere hypocrite; the experience of our own days, perhaps the examination of our own hearts, may teach us how very easy it is to look upon the service of God as that whereby we are to gain something, to treat religion as a matter of profit and loss, to have an eye to the happiness of eternity and consider how cheaply it may be won: I do not say that such views are otherwise than horrible and damnable; I do not say that our hearts, in their most thoughtful moments, can do otherwise

than shrink from such a view of our relations to God; but beyond all question this is a mode of looking upon religion, which the devil is very willing to make current in the world, and in propagating which he succeeds but too well. And, regarding Balaam's state of mind in this way, I do not see any reason for supposing that he spoke otherwise than honestly for the time, when he expressed himself in the words of the text. There were the chosen people of God abiding in their tents, enjoying the safety which God gave them, protected even from the curses of their enemies because God had declared them blessed: how could Balaam do otherwise than envy their lot? it is true that he did not envy their past hard life in the wilderness; he forgot that they had been humbled and proved; or at all events it was no part of his thought to covet for himself that strict and searching discipline, whereby God had been training the Israelitish people. No, it was the people who had passed the desert and had the promised land at length in their grasp, whose latter end the mercenary prophet desired; it was the people come to their rest, not those whose rest remained in a country very far off, whose lot was an enviable one to a man who had the mind of Balaam; and therefore I will not accuse Balaam of hypocrisy, on the other hand I will maintain that he was quite genuine in his professions; and it is because a man of so wicked a life was capable of uttering from his heart a sentence apparently so religious and good, that I hold him to be worthy of study as a warning to ourselves.

Let me, then, now make two or three simple remarks concerning the lessons, which Balaam's case seems fitted to teach.

In the first place, Balaam teaches us the uselessness, I may say the danger, of conviction without repentance, or of a knowledge of what is right without an earnest pursuit of holiness. This is a lesson which we should do well to study in these days of religious knowledge; for indeed we, as Balaam did, may in a certain sense have a vision of the Almighty with our eyes open, and yet be all the while in a trance; we may become so familiar with the dogmas of the Christian faith. so well furnished in the head with the knowledge of all things necessary to salvation, that we may mistake our religious knowledge for religion itself. But these two things may be as far apart as the north from the south; Balaam had religious knowledge, but he had no religion; he confessed the blessedness of being under God's protection, but he was utterly determined not to serve Him; and the persuasion of his mind, that Israel was blessed, never led him to the determination of worshipping Israel's God. Let us see to it, then, that we do not allow the mere knowledge of what is right, or even the habit of using our tongue in religious talk, to take the place of that life of God in the soul, which is based upon repentance, and nourished by prayer, and demonstrated by holiness.

And this comes nearly to the same thing as saying, that Balaam's history shews us the need of practical piety; piety while we have life and strength; sacrificing ourselves to God, body and soul, while we have something worthy of being sacrificed; curbing our desires and passions, before they die out of themselves; living a life of obedience and submission, while yet the temptation of the world is strong to follow a quite different course. What is the use of a man sighing for the death of the righteous, and a last end like that of the servants of God? the death is in general like the life, and the last end like the beginning; let a man live the righteous man's life, and then he will die the righteous man's death; let him have piety and faith and charity in his beginning, and then he will have hope in his end. God put us here to live as righteous men, and then to die as righteous men alone can. Oh, what a fearful delusion it is for men to fancy that they can live as sinners and die as saints! in one sense perhaps

they can: a man who has lived carelessly does not necessarily go through those awful scenes, which sometimes surround a sinner's last hours; he may in his weakness be soothed by gentle words, and the promises of the Gospel may be seized upon for comfort when perhaps they cannot rightly be so used, and so the man may die in apparent peace, and even with great confidence in his acceptance with God; but after all, the comforts of the dying bed in this world are no measure of the real nature of the man's spiritual condition; the last day alone will reveal who have died the death of righteous men, and who they are whose last end is to be envied; but what I wish to press is, that it is the life to which we are to look, and then that we may safely leave the end to be such as God wills; whatever may be the appearance, the end will be almost certainly such as has been the life; the seed will spring up, the harvest will be as we have sown. And a far wiser prayer than Balaam's would be this: "Give me grace to lead the life of the righteous, and let all the prime of my health and faculties be consecrated to Thee, O Lord."

Lastly, the death of Balaam shews us in a very striking manner the uselessness of such religious aspirations as that in which he indulged. Balaam's worst sins were committed after he had uttered the pious prayer of the text, and his end was miserable.

Oh, my Christian Brethren, beware lest any of you be in like manner tempted to evil! you may see the excellence of religion; you may be even led to utter high aspirations for the rest, which remains for the people of God; but it is only a diligent walking in God's ways, a constant battle against self and sin and impurity and worldly lusts and the like, a constant serving of God in all things which He Himself has commanded, which can ensure you against making shipwreck of your faith.

Balaam's history has been recorded for us as an example; and this is the lesson which I think should be written upon his grave:

Take warning, all ye who pass by, from the miserable end of one, who wished to die the righteous man's death, but was unwilling to live the righteous man's life!

## SERMON III.

#### AHAB'S IVORY HOUSE.

1 Kings xxii. 37, 38, 39.

So the king died, and was brought to Samaria; and they buried the king in Samaria.

And one washed the chariot in the pool of Samaria; and the dogs licked up his blood; and they washed his armour; according unto the word of the Lord which He spake.

Now the rest of the acts of Ahab, and all that he did, and the ivory house which he made, and all the cities that he built, are they not written in the book of the Chronicles of the Kings of Israel?

"So the king died"—and a very miserable death it was. A miserable death, because he died in rebellion against God; and his very last act before his death had been to punish unjustly the prophet of the Lord, because he had told him the truth.

However, most men die as they have lived; and when a man has "sold himself to work wickedness," and has devoted all the prime of his life to the pursuit of sinful objects, you are not likely in his death to find much peace and satisfaction. But I am not going to enter at length into the sinful course of Ahab's life, nor the circumstances of his death: I am intending to found my remarks upon a few words in the text, which may probably have escaped your notice, or upon which at all events you may not have laid much stress when you heard them. From the text it appears, that there was once another history of Ahab's life, besides that which we have in the first book of Kings: the text refers to a book called the Book of the Chronicles of the Kings of Israel, as containing the rest of the acts of Ahab. That book has, I suppose, now perished: probably it was of much inferior value to the books which remain to us, as being devoted especially to the history of kings, who were professedly in a state of schism from the Church of God; and this alone would be sufficient reason why such a book should form no part of the Old Testament, for the Old Testament is the history of God's Church, and therefore only deals with the history of the house of Israel, or of foreign countries, so far as they bear on the history of the Jewish Church. The history of Ahab, therefore, is professedly imperfect; it is given to us, so far as it is bound up with the history of Judah and the history of religion. But there was much that he did besides that which we now find recorded; and all this had apparently

a place in the lost book of the Chronicles of the Kings of Israel.

Now, I wish to speak to you about the difference between the history of the life of Ahab, as it has been preserved for us in the Book of Kings, and the history of it as we may suppose it to have existed in this lost book. Taking Ahab as we find him in the Old Testament, his character seems throughout to be in keeping with that awful description of him, that he was one who had "sold himself to work wickedness;" his life seems instinct with but one spirit, that of wilfulness and rebellion; there is scarcely one redeeming feature: the most favourable point in his life was the manner in which he put his faith in the Lord when threatened by Benhadad, as you may read in 1 Kings xx.; and yet in this we may find matter for his condemnation, for when we read that, in his fear of Benhadad, he was willing patiently to consult the prophet of the Lord, and when his faith was rewarded with success, how can we think that his subsequent ungodliness and rebellion was otherwise than extremely aggravated? And that other redeeming feature of his life, as it would seem, his penitence and ambition when threatened by Elijah after the murder of Naboth,\* what is that better than a

<sup>\* 1</sup> Kings xxi. 27.

condemnation, when we think that Ahab could be humbled for a few days by the fear of threatened vengeance, and yet never permanently repent and seek the Lord against whom he had sinned? And if you put out of the question these two passages, which after all do not seem much to his praise when sifted to the bottom, you can, as I have said, scarcely find a redeeming feature in Ahab's life; and we have it on the testimony of the sacred historian, that there was none like Ahab in the extremity of his wickedness, none so daring in rebellion, none so thoroughpaced in sin.

Yet I suspect, that if we had possessed the lost Chronicles of the Kings of Israel, or if we had a life of Ahab drawn by some uninspired and not very experienced hand, we might have had a very different picture given to us. The text speaks of that other book containing an account of "all the rest of Ahab's acts, and the ivory house which he made, and the cities which he built." And these glimpses of Ahab's life reveal him to us in a quite different character from that, which appears on the face of the Bible history; he would seem to have been one who encouraged arts and industry, one who did a good deal for the temporal improvement of his people, and one concerning whom a flattering historian might have said many things, which would tend to raise our thoughts of him as a useful king. You can easily fancy the figure, which the ivory palace and the newlyerected cities would form in the narrative of some human historian, and how much would be said about the adorning of the capital, the strengthening of the kingdom, the growth of wealth and commerce; but one verse of the sacred history is sufficient to include all that it was necessary to say on this head, and that which really forms the staple of the life of Ahab is his spirit of ungodliness and rebellion. And we may see an awful commentary on such lives in that which has happened in the case of Ahab: his ivory palace and the cities which he built have passed away, together with that book of Chronicles which contained their history; they are gone by and have vanished like a dream; but what has remained, and will remain for evermore, is the fearful testimony, that neither before nor since was there ever any king in Israel like Ahab, who gave himself up so completely and unreservedly to work evil in the sight of the Lord. We may see a commentary upon this truth, that the question of lasting importance to each man is no other than this, whether he has set himself with all his heart to serve the Lord, or whether he has determined to be rebellious; and that lasting praise belongs, not to him who builds cities and ivory palaces,

but to him who fears the Lord and walks in His ways.

Now all this is part and parcel of a great and general truth, namely, that God and man look upon many things in very different lights-"man looks to the outward appearance, but God looks at the heart." And seeing that each one of us, even the lowliest, has a personal history, upon the view taken of which by the great Judge of quick and dead the most mighty consequences depend, -seeing that it is of small avail to each of us to have a history or a character which men may deem praiseworthy, unless the same receive praise from the Lord Himself,-I have thought it worth while to take occasion from the example of Ahab to point out to you, how that it is possible for a character, when painted by a human hand, to appear even amongst the great ones of the earth, and when painted by the Spirit of God to appear utterly abominable. And this lesson seems to me so useful, so full of warning as to the need we have of depth and earnestness in our religious life, that I shall endeavour to impress it upon you, and illustrate it for you by several instances.

The first I will mention shall be that of Pharaoh, the king of Egypt, under whom the children of Israel were in the first place so cruelly tasked, and afterwards delivered from bondage. Now we

have our principal knowledge of this king and his character from the book of Exodus; and the opinion that must be formed from the reading of that book is certainly this, that Pharaoh was one who had more opportunities than usual of knowing the Lord, and more reasons than usual for fearing Him; and that notwithstanding his advantages, he neither knew God nor feared him. Pharaoh stands out to us from our earliest childhood as the type of hardness of heart, and stubbornness of rebellion: if you want an example of a man who rejected warning and despised reproof, of a man in whom the hardening power of sin shewed itself in all the awfulness of its consequences, of a man openly setting at defiance the God of heaven, any child would give you the name of Pharaoh; and you would feel inclined to rank him amongst the most deplorable of those, with whose character we become in Holy Scripture familiar. And yet I suspect, that if we had a life of this Pharaoh written by a different hand, our impression might be very different; if "the rest of his acts" were written for us in the book of the Chronicles of the kings of Egypt, I suspect that we should find that those qualities, which bring him before us in the book of Exodus as a man peculiarly wicked, might easily be rendered less prominent by the history of his greatness in other respects. Why

do I say this? because the discoveries of late years have brought to light exactly that which I have been speaking of, namely, a Chronicle of the kings of Egypt, and we are to a considerable extent acquainted with the history and character of many of the kings of very early times. Now it of course was a very natural question for those who were studying these ancient records to ask, under which of these kings was it, that the children of Israel were oppressed, and delivered by Moses?\* The question has been asked, and learned men have satisfied themselves as to which of the kings it was, to whom the history of the Exodus belongs: and what was his character? what impression should we form of him from the Egyptian Chronicle? does he appear there as the same ungodly, rebellious man, that we see him in the Bible history? No: he appears to us as a prince of very resolute and despotic character; one of whom all the conduct attributed to him in the book of Exodus is very credible, but one of whom we should certainly form an altogether different notion from that, of which I have spoken as the one so familiar to ourselves. He was what ordinary history would call a great prince; he raised great armies, he made great wars, built great

<sup>\*</sup> See Wilkinson's Ancient Egyptians, vol. 1. p. 54, (First Series).

cities, made his name feared, increased the power of his country; and so far was he from being affected and changed by what he had seen in the case of the Israelites, that he would seem (if we may trust the dates) to have survived the overthrow of his army in the Red Sea, and to have raised new armies and carried on his plans of war and conquest exactly as he had done before. And thus the obstinate oppressor of the children of Israel, the man who alternately trembled before Moses and hardened himself in his wickedness, the man whose name finds a place in sacred history merely because he was "a persecutor of the Church and injurious," was celebrated in his country in his own and in aftertimes as a mighty prince; one illustrious in the long line of kings; one who built palaces and cities, and whose good and glorious deeds were celebrated in the book of the Chronicles of the kings of Egypt.

Again: I will illustrate the difference between human chroniclers and the writers of Sacred history, by an instance taken from the New Testament. It is the history of the death of Herod, as recorded in Acts xii. Now first imagine that history written by an ordinary human hand, as in fact we have it written for us by a Jewish historian. It was a day of great pomp and public ceremony, when Herod was going to appear be-

fore the people of Tyre and Sidon, and to make a speech before them: no doubt everything was done to give effect to the scene; Herod was dressed in his royal apparel, it was a set day, everything arranged beforehand, a gorgeous pageant, multitudes of high officers and soldiers in their splendid uniforms surrounding the great king; the people were anxious to flatter and please Herod, and so they applauded his speech in unmeasured terms; they shouted and declared in their profane flattery, that it could be no human voice, that it was a god who was speaking to them. Alas, Herod must have known well that it was no god who was speaking! he was a bloody and tyrannical man, one whom the multitude flattered, not because they loved, but because they feared him; and yet he delighted in the flattery, and looked upon himself as one who deserved his greatness, not as one whom God had exalted in order that he might set forth His praise. However, the merely human historian would know nothing of all this; he would only see the gorgeous outside of the assembly, and hear the flattering shouts of the multitude; and then he would go on to tell you that this was the last scene of Herod's life, that a complaint which perhaps had previously been gaining ground upon the king was just now brought to a crisis, that he left the

assembly in great pain, and soon after expired in extreme agony. Now I do not think that this would be at all an unfair account of the history; I think that we cannot find fault with human historians because they give to all things a human complexion, and do not reveal to us all the hidden and divine springs by which events are brought about. But now compare the history given in the manner I have supposed, with the actual account as recorded by S. Luke.\* "Upon a set day," we read, "Herod, arrayed in royal apparel, sat upon his throne and made an oration to them. And the people gave a shout, saying, It is the voice of a god and not of a man. And immediately the angel of the Lord smote him, because he gave not God the glory: and he was eaten of worms and gave up the ghost." So then it was the angel of the Lord! there was another in that gorgeous assembly, beside those whom human eye could see; the angel of the Lord was there with sword drawn in his hand; and when Herod, his hands yet bloody with the murder of S. James and the jailors of S. Peter, allowed himself to be counted for a god, then the measure of his pride was full, and the angel smote him. Christian Brethren, if we had our eyes quite purged from human films and obscurations, do not you

<sup>\*</sup> Acts xii. 21, 22, 23.

think that we might often, in what we call accident, or ordinary sickness, or curious coincidence, recognize the hand of the angel of the Lord? He died of a severe internal complaint—so might say the human history: "the angel of the Lord smote him,"—so saith the Scripture.

In a very different way from either of the instances which I have already quoted, but still in a very useful way, we may find an illustration of the difference between divine and human history in the account of Josiah's death, 2 Kings xxiii. Josiah's youth had been spent in a great work of reformation; his reign had been one of singular blessing to the Jewish kingdom; and his death was what we should call very untimely: the king of Egypt makes an expedition against the king of Assyria; Josiah has apparently no reason for taking any part in the quarrel; however he does take a part, and is immediately slain without producing any result either way: he, whose life had been so useful and honourable, dies a most inglorious death. Can you not fancy the manner, in which a human historian would on such an occasion bring out of his store the choicest la-

<sup>\*</sup> I am speaking here of what might be said, rather than of what Josephus actually has said; for he does seem to recognize a divine visitation for impiety, which in a writer whose mind was formed upon the study of the Old Testament Scriptures is not surprising.

mentations over blighted prospects, and fair beginnings checked by unfortunate circumstances, together with reflections and wonderings concerning the strangeness of human destinies? But the sacred history merely tells us that Josiah was killed at Megiddo, and carried to Jerusalem to be buried. Why is so little said about this death? because apparently Josiah's work was done; he had commenced a reformation and had completed it, and the interest of Josiah's history consisted in what he did for the honour of God, not in any of the circumstances of his death. And indeed, if a man's virtues are not known until men read them upon his sepulchre, one is inclined to suspect that they were but sorry virtues after all; and if a man have but devoted his youth and all his energies to the honour of God, he may very well be content with as simple an epitaph as that which the sacred writer has given to Josiah. Here then again we see by an example, how that in sacred history the guiding principle is this, to record chiefly, not those things which tend most to shew the greatness of a man, the cities or the ivory houses that he built, but rather those acts which have tended specially either to the honour or dishonour of God; those acts which have had the most immediate bearing upon the progress of true religion and the good of His Church. These are the acts which after all are the most important in their consequences, either for good or evil; these are the acts which will yet be living in their results, when cities and ivory palaces have decayed and passed away.

Ah! Christian Brethren, how differently would many persons and acts be judged, if we estimated them upon the principles of holy Scripture! Suppose, for instance, a man to arise of intellect and courage and penetration superior to his fellows, and suppose this man to take advantage of his felt and acknowledged superiority to raise himself up above his brethren, and to lay the foundation of a universal sovereignty; and suppose that in carrying out his views he has but one principle, namely, the exaltation of himself, and that he suffers no laws divine or human to stand in the way of his plans; and suppose that in furtherance of his schemes he deluges whole countries in blood, and that the peace and happiness of nations is manifestly a trifle unworthy of all consideration in comparison with the great end of still raising himself higher and higher; then ought such a man to be praised? According to all deep sterling religious principles, surely not; and yet I think that the last generation saw a man whose life was as unprincipled as I have described, and whose brilliant and wonderful acts nevertheless

so blinded the minds of many, that they hardly considered how entirely that man's whole life was opposed to all principles of godliness and honesty. Thus it is, that we fall into the habit of weighing actions by other balances than that of God's sanctuary: we allow the brilliancy of a man's deeds to light up the darkness of his principles; we allow a man to expunge from his list of household words duty, obedience, submission, humility, and to put the empty name of glory in their place; and though the glory be only the glory of self, still, if it be pursued with genius and success, we allow ourselves to admire and applaud. Very differently will the lives of men seem to be, when all things are made new, and the Son of Man sits upon His throne, and all men have to be tried before Him. "Give an account of thy stewardship! thou who hast had power and wealth and talent and time; what hast thou done? what use hast thou made of thy gifts?" How will it serve an Ahab to make to the question a reply such as this, "I have done many deeds which the people applauded; I built many cities, and I made an ivory palace!" Alas! these things may look well on the page of the Chronicles of the kings of Israel, but they will find no record in the Book of Life. And indeed, Christian Brethren, many an act which has been praised and noised about in

human chronicles is like the ivory house and the cities of this unhappy king of Israel: a traveller may walk through the land of Israel and he will see no vestige of Ahab's greatness; his cities have long since been depopulated, his palace has passed away; but that testimony has not passed away, it is written in God's book for evermore, it has come down even to us as a lesson and a warning in these latter days, that Ahab was one who sold himself to work wickedness before the Lord beyond all other kings of Israel.

Wherefore let us lay this well to heart, that we too may possibly be walking in a vain show; we may possibly be judging of ourselves, and may be judged by others, differently from the judgment of God. I would that we could all feel more deeply the awfulness and solemnity of our present lives; we have a work to do in this life which requires all our care; we have "to work out our salvation with fear and trembling;" we have to build a tower upon that foundation-stone which Christ has laid in Zion, the top of which shall reach to heaven, to save us when the flood of God's wrath comes: other things we may have to do, and doubtless must do, but are we doing this? do we feel that this is our work? do we look upon our life in the flesh as seriously as we ought, considering what great issues depend upon

it? No, no-we do not; we cannot all declare that we are thus walking solemnly before God: I do not wish to judge, but I am sure that in every congregation there must be some who are conscious that the affairs of this present world have too great a share of their love, and that they are not sufficiently anxious for growth in grace and in the knowledge of God their Saviour. What can I say to you better than this, what words can I desire to print deeply in all hearts more than such words as these? "the fashion of this world passeth away;" its cities, its ivory houses, aye, and its cottages too, its domestic comforts, its luxuries, its strifes, its wants, its wishes; "the fashion of this world passeth away;" but "he that doeth the will of the Lord" humbly, patiently, earnestly, he through the grace of God "abideth for ever!"

## SERMON IV.

# MANKIND PUNISHED BY BEING LEFT TO THEMSELVES.

#### PSALM lxxxi. 12, 13.

My people would not hear My voice, and Israel would not obey Me.

So I gave them up unto their own hearts' lusts, and let them follow their own imaginations.

THE lesson which I propose to draw from these words is most important; one which lies at the root of all the relations which subsist between our souls and God, one also which I think rises very obviously from the text, and which yet I venture to guess the words have never suggested to the minds of many amongst you. It seems to me very possible that you may have read the words of the text and heard them read often, and may have taken them to mean merely this, that God withdrew His blessing from the Israelites because they rebelled against Him; and you may

have concluded, that in like manner He will now as of old withhold His mercies from those who will not heartily serve Him. And I do not say that these conclusions are wrong; they are true conclusions, true as regards the Israelites, true as regards ourselves; but they do not convey, as I think, the peculiar point and edge of the text.

For what says the text? "My people would not hear My voice, and Israel would not obey Me." Here was the act of rebellion, the determination not to serve and obey God; and it was a determination which was sure to bring down evil on their heads; and so it did: but mark what kind of evil, mark what was the sentence of God upon a chosen people who had made up their minds to disobev: "So I gave them up unto their own hearts' lusts, and let them follow their own imaginations." A strange punishment this truly! strange at least to a mind not looking below the surface of things; Israel wishes to have his own way instead of God's way, wishes to follow his own imaginations instead of God's law, and the punishment is this, that, instead of correcting the rebellious spirit by sharp chastisement and discipline, God suffers His rebellious servants to have their own way.

And it is clear from the tone of the Psalm, that this punishment is looked upon as one of the

17

most grievous which God's wrath can inflict; for the writer of the Psalm, speaking as in the words of God, laments over the people as over those who were now past recovery; as though the sword of the enemy, the famine, the pestilence, were but slight scourges, compared with that more bitter curse of being allowed to do as they would without check or curb.

This must needs seem strange to one who judges after the manner which is common in this world. For to be free from check, to do as he will, to be permitted to have his heart's lust or desire, to be able without let or hindrance to follow his own imagination,—this is what half the world are seeking after, this to half the world would be almost the definition of happiness. It is the restraint of rules and laws which many men find so galling; the laws of society forbid this, and the bonds of family interfere with that, and the Bible is severe in its code, and the Church protests, and withal conscience is for ever tormenting and vexing; and so a man who desires to walk after the ways of his own heart finds himself perpetually curbed and harassed by all kinds of restrictions; and nothing would delight him more than to receive such a sentence as this, "From henceforth you shall have your own heart's lusts, and you shall be allowed to follow your own imaginations."

And yet this boon of freedom would be the deadliest curse; this coveted state of liberty is the last awful punishment reserved for those, who have made up their minds to rebel, and whom the ordinary chastisements and warnings of God have failed to bring to repentance.

Now let us look into this subject a little more closely. The Psalm from which the text is taken throughout belongs to Israel; it is a hymn of merryhearted joy to the God of Jacob, for all His mercy and goodness. Let us then for a moment consider the relation of Israel to their God: Israel was the chosen people, they were taken out of all the world as a witness for the true God, they were to be treated with special favour, they were to be the holiest as well as the happiest of mankind. How did God shew His love to them? Did He say, Your natural appetites lead you to such and such things, and as you are My chosen people I will not interfere to thwart your propensities? Did He say, Restraints are hard to human nature to bear, and therefore I will free you from restraints, and you shall do as you please? Surely He did the very opposite of all this: God shewed His love to the Israelites by giving them a law more strict than any which had gone before it: He revealed Himself as a jealous God who would be obeyed: He

shewed that they were His chosen people by laying upon them a most complex system of ordinances and sacrifices and ceremonies: He curbed all their actions, and He punished them severely for all transgressions of His law. Thus the marks of His favour must have formed, to those who loved Him not, the most heavy galling bondage: and it was only as a last step, when the people were determined to rebel, that He granted to them that prime blessing, as a worldly mind would consider it, namely, license to follow their own hearts' lusts, and to do according to their own imaginations. A strange method of shewing fayour, if the judgment of many in these as in all other days is to be taken as the standard of happiness! If freedom to follow our own ways were the great boon to be sought by mankind, then the wild children of Esau, and not the tribes of Israel, were the people really blest by God; for they wandered after their own lusts and did according to their own imaginations, while the Israelites were checked at every turn by some law or restriction or ordinance. In truth we can only understand this mode of shewing love and favour, by supposing that that character of God is true which we recite in the Collect, that "His service is perfect freedom;" or by reflecting on that prayer, which we ourselves offer up for the

people of God, "Govern them and lift them up for ever." And this is a prayer which a wise Israelite would have put up for the Jewish Church, even as we put it up for the Christian; he would not, he dared not, have prayed, "Give us our own desires, give us leave to follow our imaginations, and so exalt us, so lift us up for ever:" he would have seen that such a prayer would have been a devil's prayer, and not one dictated by the Holy Spirit of God; he would have felt from his inmost soul, that to be allowed to follow his own wishes would be precisely to sink him below the dignity of his position as a chosen servant of God, instead of lifting him up; and therefore he would pray, "Oh, leave us not to our own ways, but do Thou rule over us, do Thou restrain us, do Thou govern us, for so only can we be lifted up above ourselves and made to be at one with Thee."

But Israel did not always see that their blessedness in being the people of God consisted in their being governed. Quite the opposite was their character; and they were continually exhibiting this character. What was it that made it a sin in them to desire a king? They saw that other nations had kings over them, and they did not estimate their own blessedness in being governed by God; and so it was that to desire a king was

to kick at God's government, and therefore a sin. You will remember Samuel's words on the occasion, "Ye said unto me, A king shall reign over us, when the Lord your God was your king;"\* and again, "Your wickedness is great which ye have done in the sight of the Lord, in asking you a king." And how did God punish them for this sin? just in the way described in the text, by allowing them to have that which they desired; it was better for them to be without a king, but they would not listen to reason, and said, "Nay, but we will have a king;" and the punishment of their sin was this, that God gave them their own way. It was no mark of favour then, that granting a king when the people desired it, but quite otherwise: and so the prophet Hosea tells us, in those words, "I gave thee a king in Mine anger."† The prophet represents the Almighty as reasoning with Israel for his rebellion, and saying, "Oh Israel, thou hast destroyed thyself; but in Me is thine help:" and how would God give him help? you will see from the next verse, "I will be thy king: where is any other that may save thee in all thy cities? and thy judges, of whom thou saidst, give me a king and princes:" and then follow the words which I quoted just now, "I gave thee a king in Mine anger." So that

<sup>\* 1</sup> Samuel xii. + Hosea xiii.

redemption from the misery and degradation into which Israel had fallen, was to be found in turning to God, and being governed by Him, and ceasing to walk after their own lusts and to follow their own imaginations.

And as I have quoted the prophet Hosea, let me call your attention to another passage in his book, which seems to bear very forcibly on this present subject. You will find it in the fourth chapter, in which the prophet complains of the idolatry of the people of Israel, of their asking advice of stocks and stones; and what is the punishment? is it death, is it banishment, is it famine, or pestilence, or war? no, something worse than all these; "Ephraim," says the prophet, "is joined to idols; let him alone:" as though the permission to do as he pleased were the last and bitterest vial of the wrath of God.

But now, leaving the case of the Israelitish people which suggested the words of the text, and which in this as in so many other instances is full of instruction for ourselves, let us come to the application to our own case of the principle of God's government, which I have been endeavouring to bring out for you. God's principles of government are ever the same; He changes not: and if it was only in being governed by Him, in wearing his yoke, in carrying his burdens, that

the people of Israel could escape bondage and be lifted up and be noble and free, then beyond doubt the same is true of ourselves, and we too shall be slaves as long as we are free, and shall only be free when we become in heart and soul the servants of God. This may seem a contradiction; but it is the very purpose which I have in view, to shew you that it is no contradiction, but a most solemn and necessary truth. Just consider our blessed Lord's view of liberty and bondage: He promised certain of the Jews, that if they would be His disciples they should know the truth, and the truth should make them free: they were insulted by the offer; as the children of Abraham they thought themselves God's freemen already, and how then should Christ make them free? But Christ pointed their eyes to some fetters which they had not seen, and which shewed that they were bond-slaves; "whosoever committeth sin," said Christ, "is the slave of sin:" Christ perceived that they who talked of their freedom had pride in their hearts, and were coated with hypocrisy, and were full of malice, and did not love God; and therefore He told them that they were slaves of sin. But He offered them liberty by becoming His disciples: and what does He say to such? "Take My yoke upon you;" and again, "If ye love Me keep My commandments." So that

the yoke of sin is to be displaced from the necks of those who enter Christ's service, not that those necks may be free from a yoke, but that they may bear His. Indeed, Christian Brethren, man was never made to be free: to be permitted to follow his own imaginations is to be permitted to plunge headlong into the most utter bondage: see how heathers, for want of a clear definite law, bearing marks of coming from God, make gods for themselves, gods to whom, however unworthy of their homage, they may bow their knees, and so satisfy the craving of their hearts for some rules to obey. Men do not always see this; they think that freedom from law is happiness, and the fetters of rules an intolerable drawback on their happiness; and yet, if the principle which I am insisting upon be true, it is the very mark of God's special favour that He does give rules, and make restrictions, and put a yoke upon the neck of those whom He loves. And the strange thing is, that men are to be found who profess to find happiness in this yoke, who do not envy those who profess utter freedom, who think the service of God to be indeed the only true happiness. This is the belief of every religious man; it must be, if he thinks those words to be true, that "godliness has the promise of this world as well as of that which is to come."

Yet who can wonder, that seeing the tendencies of man's heart the religious men should be in the minority; and that the majority should hold, that to be able to indulge their own lusts and follow their own imaginations is the very perfection of human happiness? For consider what kind of yoke the earnest service of God, and the thorough determination to imitate the life of the Lord Jesus Christ, lays upon a man. Let us not pretend that we are not bound by a law, however pleasant it may have become to us through the Holy Spirit's help to obey that law; and if a man, careless concerning the spiritual life of his soul, give as a reason for his neglect of religion, that it would fetter him and put a bondage upon him, let us give him the full benefit of the cavil; let us acknowledge that beyond doubt we are under a law, which binds our conduct and restricts our actions. Let me draw a comparison between the condition of a man wearing the yoke of Christ, and that of a man who is free from that yoke. Now the man who wears Christ's yoke feels that he must keep a watch over his life and over his thoughts: he knows what S. James says of the difficulty of bridling the tongue, and what our Lord has said concerning idle words; and therefore he looks upon his tongue with suspicion, and checks it when it is hasty, and refrains it when it is disposed to say anything which is contrary to the rules of purity, honesty, or charity. He is particular in the choice of his company, because he knows that "evil communications corrupt good manners"; he is sure that there is great danger in standing in the way of the wicked or listening to the words of those who do not fear God; he thinks it right to avoid the society of those, who are idle and careless about the more important concerns of their lives; especially if he is a young man, he remembers those words of Solomon concerning the destruction of him who is a "companion of fools." And again, he does not think it right to use the Lord's day as his own day; he believes that that day is consecrated to God, and therefore he does not think it dutiful to make it as other days: I am not laying down what is and what is not to be done on that day, I am content to leave that to your own consciences, I am only saying that the Lord's day is felt by each earnest man to be a tie upon him, a day when his duty to God restricts him in a manner in which upon other days it does not. Then again, a man who serves God thinks it right to put a curb upon his appetite; he fears being made a slave by luxury; fears lest he should make his belly his god; and so he curbs himself, he does not indulge in everything which his flesh

desires; he knows that meat and drink may become, and do become to many, among the chief of spiritual enemies. And if in this and other ways he curbs the lust of the flesh, he remembers also that there is equally a lust of the eye; that the Scripture speaks of "making a covenant with the eye"; and that our Lord speaks of adultery at heart being committed by wanton looks; and therefore he regards the eye, if not watched and checked, as an inlet for Satan's temptations, and he curbs it, and says it shall not be free to do as it will. Then again, the true servant of God thinks it right to be particular about his devotions and his attendance on ordinances; he does not think that he may pray if he pleases, go to Church if he pleases, come to the Holy Communion if he pleases; no, he regards himself as tied down by strict positive rules, which he is bound to obey and has no right to set at nought; and therefore he is strict and particular about these duties, he does not feel himself free, he acknowledges that he is not free; he wears a yoke; he does not deny it. And so we might go through all his duties and relations, and we should find the same character throughout. But I have said enough; any man, who does not wear the yoke himself, will think what I have said already sufficient to shew a life of piety to be a life of misery; "See," such a man may say, "how free am I! I think as I please, I speak as I please, I eat and drink as I please, I go to church or not as I please, I pray when I please, I bring up my children as I please, I look where I please—no covenant with the eye for me—I associate with whom I please, I spend my Sundays as I please, in fact I live as I please altogether; did not God make us to enjoy ourselves? does He not wish us to be happy? and how can I be happy, if I am thwarted in all my wishes and restrained in all my appetites?"

Indeed, Brethren, God does wish us to be happy; and it is just because there is no true happiness except in serving Him, that He sent His Son into the world, in order that having been made free by Him we may be free indeed. Free! how can a man who follows his appetites call himself free? how can a man be free who cannot command himself? what signifies it by what name you call it? if a man under the notion of being free follows his own lusts more and more, until at last he cannot help following them whether he will or no, how does that man differ from a slave? how does he do anything but confirm those words of our Lord, that he who committeth sin is the servant of sin? No, Brethren, a man may kick against God's service and think it hard and strive

to have his own way, but God in mercy restrains him; He speaks to him by conscience, by His ministers, by His providence, it may be by sickness, by adversity and affliction; and while the man is struggling with His convictions and writhing under God's hand, there is still hope; just as while the patient shrinks under the knife, there is evidence of vitality still remaining; but when a man has become hardened in his sin, and has stifled his convictions, and soiled every thread of his baptismal garment, and wiped out (if it may be) that cross which was marked in his forehead, then he thinks himself free from all restraint, and oh! fearful delusion of the devil! he is only free, because he has experienced the most deadly sentence of God's wrath, and God has "given him up unto his own heart's lust and let him follow his own imaginations."

Is there really any slavery in serving Him whose "service is perfect freedom"? surely we must serve Him, surely we shall be miserable if we do not, and surely also to those who have been accustomed to serve sin His service will be irksome and intolerable. But, Christian Brethren, God designs by His whole course of education to make us different from what we are by nature; He desires to transform us by His Spirit, to make us meet for the inheritance which He has prepared

for us, to raise our minds more and more to see the surpassing excellence of those joys which communion with Him affords. Therefore I would say, in conclusion, let us claim our privileges as Christians; let us think of ourselves as baptized into Christ precisely for this, that we may be His soldiers and servants, and so free from sin, free from the world, free from ourselves. Let us strive ever to live by rule, to keep a watch upon our lusts, our appetites, our words, our thoughts; let us endeavour to realize the horrors of being allowed to do as we please; let us seek nearer communion with Him who is our life, in prayer and sacraments and in doing good; and let us ever pray, with the earnestness of men who feel the awfulness of being without God in the world, "Oh Lord! never leave us to our own hearts' lusts and to our own imaginations, but of Thy mercy govern us in this world, and so lift us up for ever!"

## SERMON V.

#### IT IS MINE OWN INFIRMITY.

PSALM IXXVII. vv. 7, 8, 9, 10.

Will the Lord absent Himself for ever? and will he be no more entreated?

Is His mercy clean gone for ever? and is His promise come utterly to an end for evermore?

Hath God forgotten to be gracious? and will He shut up His lovingkindness in displeasure?

And I said, It is mine own infirmity; but I will remember the years of the right hand of the Most Highest.

It is evident that the Psalm, from which these words are taken, was written under the pressure of very great trouble. David had, as we know, seen much affliction, and under God this was the means of producing that wonderful spirituality and ripeness of mind which we observe in the Book of Psalms. In the Psalm before us I do not feel quite sure whether the trouble was of a public or of a private kind; I think the latter, though at the same time the manner in which God's national

mercies to the Jews are referred to at the conclusion might lead us to think, that throughout the whole the writer is speaking the language of the nation, is himself the mouthpiece of the feelings of the people. Either way the moral to be drawn from the Psalm for our own edification is the same; for what I wish you to see is, that in all troubles and adversities it is our own fault if we have not a light to guide and cheer us, and that the true remedy against despondency is to look back upon the love of God pledged to us, and His mercies shewn to us in former days.

This lesson will come out more clearly and forcibly as we proceed: at present let us examine the text and the verses connected with it. You will observe that the Psalmist, when he wrote the Psalm, was not actually in trouble, but had just escaped from it; he says in the first verse, according to the Bible version, "I cried unto God with my voice, even unto God with my voice; and He gave ear unto me." And though the Prayer-book puts this in the future, "I will cry unto God with my voice," I think there can be no doubt that the other is the true meaning; for this Psalm is not the outpouring of a disconsolate unhappy mind, but of one that has found the true way to peace, and then raises a trophy of deliverance and a guide for others who may be in like manner

oppressed. The Psalm then may be taken as the expression of feeling of one, who has been in great trouble and has found the means of escape; and without entering into any discussion as to what the trouble was, it will be evident from the language of the Psalm that it was very severe; it might have been the affliction of grievous bodily sickness, it might have been some painful bereavement, or it might have been some great worldly loss, or some great danger, or some grievous spiritual temptation; it matters not what, it must have been something very heavy which could make the Psalmist record it so solemnly as he does in this Psalm of thanksgiving. And what was his remedy? he looked back upon old times, when the face of the Lord shone upon him; he lived in the cheerful past, so to speak, instead of in the cheerless present; and so, though no light shone upon his path at present, he was blest with the reflected light of former and more prosperous days. It is clear from the tenor of the Psalm, that he had been disposed at first to give way to despondency; he thought that because adversity was heavy upon him just now, it would always be so, and that (in his own language) "God had forgotten to be gracious;" he felt inclined to murmur and to complain of the want of God's love; but when he cast the whole thing in his mind

calmly and in retirement, he was soon led to take a different view; when he communed with his own heart in the night, and examined himself and took an unprejudiced survey, such as a man is most likely to take when he kneels down in his chamber and shuts the door and communes with his Father who seeth in secret, then it was that his thoughts took that sober turn which he has represented in the text: "Will the Lord absent Himself for ever; and will He be no more entreated? Is His mercy clean gone for ever; and is His promise come utterly to an end for evermore? Hath God forgotten to be gracious; and will He shut up His lovingkindness in displeasure? And I said, It is mine own infirmity; but I will remember the years of the right hand of the Most Highest!"

Now this is a very remarkable conclusion. You will observe, that so soon as he plainly looks his desponding thoughts in the face, he sees their absurdity; and he sees too, that all his painful feelings have arisen, not from the absence of God's protecting care, but from his own weakness and foolishness: "I said it is mine own infirmity." And just observe what a sound and safe line of argument this would be in David's case: you will remember how he made use of it himself before Saul; Saul told him it was utterly hopeless and

mad for him to think of fighting the Philistine; but David's mind at once recurred to the marks which he had already received of God's favour. and which he considered as an earnest of future blessing; he told Saul how that when he kept his father's sheep there came a lion and a bear, and that he had slain them both, and he argued that He who had enabled him to do this would protect him in this his present danger. And in like manner afterwards, when he was unjustly persecuted by Saul, and was in continual fear of his life, he could look back to the preservation which God had vouchsafed to him in his combat with the giant, and believe that the same arm would guard him; he could say, and he was bound to say, "I will remember the years of the right hand of the Most Highest;" that is, I will look back to those days in which I am conscious of having received signal blessings from the Almighty's hand, and I will believe that He will protect me still. And if contrary thoughts should rise in his mind, and despondency should be beginning to prevail, he was bound to suppress it with those words which in his calmest moments he most felt to be true, "It is not that God hath forgotten to be gracious, but it is mine own infirmity."

And if the Psalmist allowed his mind a range wider than his own personal experience, and considered the past evidences of the presence of God with his Church, the conclusion would be the same. Indeed, from the manner in which in the latter part of the Psalm David expands this view of the subject, it would seem that it presented to him a wider and more firm basis of hope and consolation than anything which he could find in his own history. The question was whether God was with His people, and therefore with him: if he could feel persuaded that God was with His Church, and that he was a member of it, he would feel that it was weak and impious to complain because at one particular moment a cloud was passing over the sun; and if he asked this question, he would soon find an answer: the wonderful history of the Jewish Church at once rose before his mind; the mighty deliverance of Israel from the power and bondage of Pharaoh; the going back of the waters of the Red sea; and all the wonders of the after-journeyings and the successful arrival in the promised land; all these things were deeply impressed in the mind of every Jewish child, it was his inheritance, his birthright, to hear from his parents of all the mighty works which Jehovah had done for his fathers in the time of old; and thus, when David seeks comfort in the thought of God's strength as compared with his own infirmity, he simply and naturally as it were runs

back to the early history of the Jewish Church: "Thou hast mightily delivered thy people, even the sons of Jacob and Joseph: the waters saw Thee, O God, the waters saw Thee, and were afraid; the depths also were troubled. The clouds poured out water, the air thundered, and Thine arrows went abroad. The voice of Thy thunder was heard round about, the lightnings shone upon the ground; the earth was moved and shook withal. Thy way is in the sea, and Thy paths in the great waters; and Thy footsteps are not known. Thou leddest Thy people like sheep, by the hand of Moses and Aaron." And thus he abruptly ends the Psalm, as though the conclusion were manifest; that is, as though the picture which he had drawn of God's ancient deliverance of His Church had entirely stablished his mind in the great truth of God's continual presence; and if God were with His Church, and David a member of it, he had sufficient to make distrust a fault and despondency a sin.

And I will remark here, that we may learn a useful lesson from this character of the Psalm; I mean that we may well admire and imitate that temper of mind, which led David in his trouble not to dwell so much upon past mercies to his individual self, as upon the more striking and majestic manifestations of power on behalf of the

whole Church. If any man ever had singular personal experience of divine blessing to fall back upon, it was David, and I doubt not that he did not think lightly of what had been done for him; we are sure that he did not: but still there was something so much more grand and extended in the contemplation of the salvation of a whole nation and Church than in that of the salvation of himself, that he seems to forget his own deliverances in a deliverance more mighty still. So I would say, that in our own days the question to our minds should be, "Hath God spoken in these latter days to the world by His Son?" if not, then no fancy of individual favour of God to ourselves can give us any solid basis of comfort and hope; but if we believe that God hath so spoken, if in fact this be our very faith, the very corner-stone of our spiritual being, then it is so great and majestic a truth that the contemplation of it ought to support us under all trying circumstances. For let any man review the simple circumstances of the redemption of the world, in the same manner that David reviewed the deliverance from Egypt: David indulged in no highly-wrought figures, but he only recited the marvellous manner in which God led His people like sheep by the hand of Moses and Aaron; and so let any one recite the marvellous manner in

which God has redeemed His people through Jesus Christ, as he finds it in the Apostles' Creed; let him solemnly recal his own mind to faith in "Jesus Christ, the only Son of God, who was conceived by the Holy Ghost, born of the Virgin Mary, who suffered under Pontius Pilate, was crucified, dead, and buried, descended into hell, rose again from the dead, ascended up into heaven to sit on the right hand of God." Does a man believe this? does he in his heart believe that God hath thus visited His people and redeemed the world from bondage, and laid the foundation of a Church in such an unspeakable way? and does he also believe that he has been made by God's grace a member of that Church? then he has here such a foundation of faith as he may well rest upon securely. And I say, that no thought of individual mercies is nearly so safe or so sure, as a contemplation such as this of God's infinite love to mankind, shewn in the gift of the Lord Jesus Christ; and that as David concluded his hymn of praise with the words, "Thou leddest thy people like sheep by the hand of Moses and Aaron," so we may very well make use of a Christian paraphrase and say, "Thou hast purchased to Thyself an universal Church, by the precious blood of Thy beloved Son."

But now let me impress upon you particularly

that portion of the text, in which, after having weighed the circumstances of his condition, David comes to the conclusion, "it is mine own in-Observe first, how the spirit of this firmity." conclusion is worked out in our Church services: the main thing which the Christian man seeks is peace with God, and as the means of peace he seeks pardon; this is the very thing which the Lord Jesus Christ has rendered possible, and which we are taught in all services, whether public or private, whether in our own chambers or at the altar of the Holy Sacrament, to seek as the great boon of the Christian covenant. And how are we taught to seek it? this is the point to which I wish to call your attention: the first step is confession of "our own infirmity"; however devoid we may be of spiritual peace and comfort, however we may have reason to fear that our hearts are not right with God, however we may feel distressed and ill at ease, the first step is to acknowledge that we have erred and strayed like lost sheep, and that there is no health in us. This is the case with our ordinary morning and evening prayers; it is still more remarkably the case in the service for Holy Communion. It might have been thought that no confession of sin could be written, which should be suitable to all persons and to all times; and those dissenters

who eschew set forms of prayer might probably select this as a salient point against the Church system, arguing that it is impossible that a printed confession of sin can be the sufficient outpouring of every heart at every season: and doubtless each person must have sins of his own to confess, which only his own heart and God can know, and which in the secrecy of his own chamber he will make known with sorrow and seek to have pardoned; but the question is, whether it be not possible to express in a general form that tone of mind, with which every Christian man must come before God to acknowledge the greatness of God and his own infirmity; and whether the confessions of our Church service and Liturgy do not precisely express that self-condemnation, which every Christian, whatever may be his peculiar faults and sins, ought to feel right heartily when he comes to present himself before God; and which also he is bound to express, in the attitude of a suppliant, reverently, on his knees, if he would hope to obtain the blessing he seeks. Ah! Christian Brethren, I have often wondered when I have seen the easy, lazy, listless manner in which Christians sometimes acknowledge their own infirmity, when I have observed them resting in apparent carelessness on their seats instead of bend ng themselves into that posture which Christ

our Lord hallowed by adopting it Himself,—I have wondered, I say, whether these easy followers of the Lord can possibly feel the infirmity, which to all appearance it costs them so little trouble to confess. Indeed I cannot think that any one, who really groans under that infirmity, which he feels to be ever marring his best actions and pulling him back from the performance of his good resolutions, I cannot think that any one who is thus minded can consider any posture fit for confession, but that of the most lowly reverence.

This however is a digression, though I believe not a useless one: what I wish to impress upon you is, that the preparation for public worship which the Prayer-book enjoins is precisely founded as it were on the experience of David, who could find no peace for his soul until he had acknowledged that whatever cloud there was between his own soul and God was the result of his own infirmity. And now I would go on to say, that each one of us in the ordinary progress both of his temporal and spiritual life may find much that is worthy of his imitation, in the conduct of David as expressed in the text. I mean that in all the roughnesses of the road which we have to pass over, we may, after first acknowledging our own infirmity, repose our minds on the thought

of God's mercies to us in days gone by. For though I have spoken to you of the general view of God's redemption of the world, as so great a manifestation of mercy as almost to eclipse all other and smaller lights, still I think that we should be ungrateful and blind to God's providential care over ourselves, if we did not endeavour to trace His guiding hand in the history of our own lives. And I think that most persons, although they may be ready under the present pinch of adverse circumstances to complain, "God hath forgotten to be gracious," will nevertheless, on a calm and quiet review of their lives, be able from their hearts to confess their own hastiness and infirmity, and to acknowledge that all has been working for good. Of course it is impossible to know the history of each individual man; what a complicated tale would be the history of the very simplest man, if any one were able to pourtray with delicate pencil all that has been done for him and by him from his childhood to his age! no man knows this history of another, only imperfectly does he know it of himself; and therefore in speaking of it, I can only give such general hints as may lead those of you, who may be so disposed, to follow out the thought in your own particular cases.

I shall confine what I have to say to two re-

marks; one upon a man's temporal history, and one upon his spiritual. And first with regard to temporal things: I mean a man's life in this world so far as that life depends for its comfort and support upon worldly blessings. I suppose that almost every man is liable in this respect to ups and downs, if I may so speak; that there will be times when most persons will be inclined to take a gloomy view of their prospects, and to indulge or at least give way to that temper of mind which would lead them to say, "God hath forgotten to be gracious." Now we might say at once to any Christian person who took this view of his condition, it is directly contrary to your Christian profession; for as a Christian you are bound to believe that all is working together for good; yea, though it please God to strip a man of all his earthly possessions, or of those who may be dearest to him, it is manifestly his duty to say, as Job did say with much smaller spiritual advantages, "The Lord gave and the Lord hath taken away; blessed be the name of the Lord!" But however much this may be a duty, it may be difficult to perform; and what I wish to point out to you from my present subject is, the kind of meditation which is likely to bring a man into such a state of mind, that an expression like that used by Job may be

no empty cant, but the sincere feeling of his heart. I should say then, let any man look back upon his past history, and I shall be much surprised if he does not see in it from time to time such manifest marks of a "divinity shaping his ends," of an influence over his life guiding him, watching him, preserving him, as shall enable him from the strength even of his own personal recollections to bow with joy to the will of God. Of course if every man in his adversity felt keenly persuaded of God's presence with him, he would not, he could not, give way to murmuring and desponding thoughts; but at such times there is an evident opportunity, which the Tempter will by no means omit to make the best of, an opportunity for pouring into the mind thoughts of disloyalty and feelings of distrust. And I say, let a man so tried throw himself back upon past mercies, let him "remember the years of the right hand of the Most Highest"; and if he has been able to trace the hand of God throughout the years that are past, he will see that it is as unreasonable, as it is sinful and mischievous to himself, to doubt the providence of God, because the dealings of that providence may just now be painful and hard to bear.

But, secondly, I wish to make a remark upon the bearing of this subject upon a man's spiritual history. Now I do not wish to encourage any feverish kind of religion, any hot and cold fits of devotion, because I believe that the life of the soul like the life of the body is then most healthful, when it is most free from paroxysms, and most even and quiet in its course. Nevertheless I believe that it is impossible for any one who looks upon religion as a serious thing, who regards himself as a being endowed with a spiritual and divine life which is to be constantly and earnestly cherished, I believe it is impossible for any one who is thus minded, to live for ever in what may be called spiritual sunshine. There will be times when the soul's sensibility to spiritual impressions, when the sense of that "peace of God which passeth all understanding," when even the consciousness of loyal faith in Jesus Christ our Lord, will be so darkened, that a person may be led to the most gloomy and overwhelming thoughts respecting his own condition before God. Persons who have nothing corresponding to such experience in their own minds may smile at such thoughts, and may think that gaiety will dispel them; but the "heart knoweth its own bitterness," and such gloomy feelings are not the less gloomy because others do not share them. Now without entering at length into this subject, which is an extensive one, I would say that the course pursued by David in the text seems to me to be the only true one; namely, to throw oneself back upon past mercies, and to remember the time when the peace of God shone in our hearts with such a pure and divine brightness, that we believed we should live in the light for evermore; to call to mind past seasons of spiritual joy, as perhaps the season of our first communion, when God seemed to be nearer to us than we had believed in this world He could be; to live thus in the past, to strive to believe that it is indeed "our own infirmity" that things are not so now. And thus, Christian Brethren, I believe, that every simpleminded earnest person who feeds his mind with the remembrance of God's goodness, and walks in the light of God's ordinances and in the ways of holiness and charity, will find that those words are true, that "to the godly there ariseth a light in the darkness," and that though "sorrow may endure for the night," yet the morning will come at length and bring joy with it.

# SERMON VI.

### STATE OF MAN IN PARADISE.

### GENESIS ii. 7.

The Lord God formed man out of the dust of the ground and breathed into his nostrils the breath of life; and man became a living soul.

There is no subject upon which our thoughts can rest with a greater mixture of pleasure and pain, than that of the state of our first parents before sin came into the world. All of us, I suppose, look back to the garden of Eden with inspiring thoughts of its loveliness and beauty; we picture to ourselves the first man and woman in all the fair colours of primal innocence, fresh from the hands of their Maker, pronounced like all other works of God to be very good; and we feel as though it were scarcely possible to imagine the exceeding happiness and bliss, in which they must have spent their sinless days in Paradise. On the other hand, we cannot but think bitterly

on Paradise lost, and grieve that the deceitfulness of sin and the subtilty of the Tempter were able to seduce our parents from their obedience, and bring sin and death into the world. And thus we must look back upon the state of Adam and Eve in Eden with mixed feelings of pleasure and pain; pleasure arising from the sight of their innocence and happiness, pain from the thought that the innocence and happiness are no more.

If we come a little closer to the subject, and endeavour to form distinct notions as to what the condition of Adam and Eve before the fall actually was, we find that there is very little in the Bible to satisfy our curiosity: the Bible was written for man in a fallen state, not for man in a state of purity, and therefore is principally occupied, not with the condition and history of man in Eden, but of man in this cold comfortless world under the blight of sin. Therefore we do not find enough to enable us to make out a complete account of what the life of Adam and Eve in Eden actually was; nevertheless something we are told, and though not very much, yet perhaps the hints which we have are on that account so much the more to be prized; and the little which we do learn seems to me to be important,-important because the knowledge of it may be very useful in enabling us to see a good deal of our real

condition at present, and in exciting us to strive earnestly to obtain the fruits of that blessed victory, whereby Christ our Redeemer has trampled upon the head of the Tempter and opened for us again the gates of the Paradise of God.

I propose therefore in this Sermon to say something concerning man's state before the fall; striving, while I treat on such a subject, rather to profit than amuse you, and above all things endeavouring to speak that, which shall be in accordance with God's truth.

Now the text tells us as much perhaps as any single verse respecting man's primitive condition, for it tells us the manner of his creation. What it says is this, that God made man of the dust of the ground, and breathed into his nostrils the breath of life. You might say at first sight, that this verse taught us nothing concerning man's creation, that it only asserted that God had made him, and put life into him, and that this might be said of other creatures, for that God made them all of the dust and gave them all life. But a very little thought will shew, that this would not be a true conclusion; the best way to find out whether there is anything in the account of the creation of man, which makes his creation strikingly different from that of the beasts, is to compare the history of the two; and if we do this

we find something very striking. In the creation of the birds and fishes we read, "God said, Let the waters bring forth abundantly the moving creature that hath life, and fowl that may fly above the earth in the open firmament of heaven;" and in the creation of the beasts and creeping things, "God said, let the earth bring forth the living creature after his kind, cattle, and creeping thing, and beast of the earth after his kind." Thus the inferior creatures were created by the word of God; they would seem to have come into existence in all their countless variety at the creative command of God. But when the history comes to the creation of man there is a very great difference; in the first place we have as it were a council in heaven, as though the work to be done were of very far greater importance than any which preceded; "Let us make man in our image, after our likeness; and let him have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over the cattle, and over all the earth, and over every creeping thing that creepeth upon the earth." Observe here the words "in our image, after our likeness," that is, the image and likeness of God,-very strong words, which I shall not dwell upon just now, but only observe that they shew that the model upon which man was to be made was something very different from all which

had gone before; in whatever way man was to bear the likeness of his Maker, that likeness he certainly was to bear, he was to be the present image of the unseen God, the highest reflexion of His likeness in a world where all things more or less, as being good and beautiful, shewed forth the glory of God. And as having God's likeness man was to have dominion over all other created things, he was to be their Lord, all other living creatures were to own his superiority and bow down to his will. This was the design of God, and it was carried into effect; for we read, "So God created man in His own image, in the image of God created He him."

You see then that it was the will of God, that there should be between man and the other creatures whom He had formed an enormous gulf; that men were intended to be raised above the beasts altogether in kind; that they were to be not merely superior, not merely animals higher than others, as we may say that a dog is higher than a worm, but that they were to be different as having a likeness which no other creature had, as being the image of God.

The text carries out this distinction between men and beasts very clearly and forcibly; it gives us an account of the creation of man, which, though we may not be able wholly to interpret it, yet certainly teaches us very much when contrasted with the history of the formation of the lower creatures. The text tells ns, that "God formed man out of the dust of the ground"so far like the beasts, for they and we are all dust and return to dust alike-and "He breathed into his nostrils the breath of life; and man became a living soul." The way in which man first received his life by a direct inbreathing of life from God, whatever difficulty we may find in determining how much it means, at least means as much as this, that man's life is a divine gift in a sense in which the life of beasts is not, that man's soul was put into him in a far more solemn manner than any other life was bestowed; just as when we build a common building for common purposes we roof it and finish it and begin to use it the next day without any ceremony, but when we build a church or a cathedral we open it with solemn forms and rites, and dedicate it in the most impressive manner we can devise to the service of Him whose it is. And when God had made man's body He had built a temple for Himself, a temple to be kept pure and clean, a temple not to be given up for the use of other gods beside Him; and therefore He did not merely say to it, "Rise and walk," but He breathed some of His own breath into it, gave it as it were a divine

life, and so man became a living soul. I would that all men remembered this their godlike origin: it is true that the likeness of God has been darkened and marred, and that man is something very different now from what he was when God first breathed into his nostrils; nevertheless his beginning was glorious, and though it is easy to find men in whom all trace of the godlike seems to have well-nigh departed, and the likeness to the beasts is much more clear than the reflexion of the image of God, and though few comparatively speaking exhibit much of the character which we should expect from such words as those of the text, yet we should bear in mind that this is not as it ought to be; man ought not to be thus degraded, he was intended for better things; and he is most likely to rise to what he ought to be, who thinks much of what God intended him to be, who remembers the divine life which was first given to him, and grieves that sin has entered into the world and spoiled the fair work of God.

Now let us examine the subject more accurately, and endeavour to see how much is intended by the text; in other words, let us endeavour to form for ourselves some notion of what the condition of man was, when God first made him and pronounced him very good.

There can be no doubt but that one great gift which Adam received from God was a highly intelligent mind, a mind capable of very great things; for we know what wonders the human mind is capable of now, we know what surprising results men of science and skill are able to arrive at, how all nature seems at their command, so that in fact one would rather ask what man cannot do than what he can; and certainly one cannot suppose, that the mind which was given to the first man was of a lower order, than that with which his fallen children have been blest. Some persons have thought on the other hand, that the mind of Adam in innocence was far above what men have been favoured with since, that a blight came with the fall upon his intellectual powers as well as upon all other parts of his being; this may or may not be: I cannot see however any reason in Scripture, or upon any other grounds, to suppose that the mind of man was thus weakened by his sin; the effects of the fall I imagine to have been very distinct from this, but I shall not dwell upon the point, because it is not so important as some others; for there are some endowments which man had at first which we know he has not now, there are some losses which we feel in ourselves that he has sustained, and we have enough to do in deploring and striving to remedy these, without speculating concerning other losses, which are possible but not so sure.

I go on then to remark, that Adam received from His Maker a heart pure and spotless, a heart which loved what was good because it was good, and that in this respect his mind would be a reflexion of the pure holy mind of God. That which was holy would be delighted in by Adam, because it was holy, even as in heaven holiness is the happiness of saints and angels. There would be in the garden of Eden much to delight a being of far lower tastes than Adam, for we read that it abounded in trees pleasant to the eye and good for food, and doubtless even on this account the life of Adam and Eve in Paradise must have been a life full of joy; but I apprehend that the chief happiness of Adam was in something different from this, even in a love of holiness. Think what causes almost the whole of the misery which exists in the world; it is the existence of sin; there is an evil taste in the world, men love darkness and hate light, men love sin and hate holiness, and therefore it is that the world groans and hearts are heavy. But in Paradise there was no grief, because there was no sin. And God gave to Adam also a conscience, a voice within him; and this voice ever testified for what was good; yea it has not ceased to speak even now, for we still know what is good though frequently we do it not, and every one feels that within which says, "this is the way, walk in it," whenever he walks in the way of holiness. But with us too frequently conscience is an accusing voice; or rather our hearts are frequently so different from what they ought to be, that conscience cannot approve, but can only Too frequently we find a law, that when we would do good evil is present with us. But this is disease; God did not make us in such a condition; it was different with Adam; his heart was tuned to holiness; and his conscience, though ever ready to condemn if required, was never forced to condemn until the day of his dischedience.

I may further observe, that when the text speaks of Adam receiving life from God, we may suppose that life to consist of two, what we may call the spiritual and the natural, the life of the soul and the life of the body; but both the one and the other of these do not appear to have been so given that they required no divine support; on the other hand, I think we can make out clearly what the divine means were, whereby each was continued and supported. Adam's spiritual life appears to have been supported by communion

with God; for we do in fact read of God speaking to Adam several times, and especially that appearance in the garden after the eating of the forbidden tree seems to have been only what Adam expected, as though he were in the habit of receiving spiritual communications from God in some mysterious manner. This is quite in accordance with all that we know of the character of God; he does not create beings to be independent, He gives no life except out of the fulness of His own life, and it is only Himself who has the unspeakable prerogative of living for and in Himself; we "live and move and have our being in Him," but He says of Himself, "I am, because I am." And thus I think we shall only be rightly interpreting Scripture, if we say that Adam had by frequent communion with Almighty God such supplies, as were required to renew that spiritual life which God had given to him.

Adam's natural life too seems to have been continued by supernatural means. The Apostle speaks of death coming into the world by sin, that is of death which undoubtedly was the lot of other creatures becoming the lot of man; yet we are not I think to suppose that man was created immortal, and that by sin he lost some vital power which God had given him: a truer view seems to me to be this, that he lost by sin those super-

natural means of support which he had enjoyed before. For when Adam and Eve had sinned and were expelled from Eden, one great curse upon them was that they were forbidden to go to "the tree of life which was in the midst of the garden." What was this tree of life? I conceive it to have been the means, the sacramental means I may perhaps call it, of preserving man from decay: so that as long as Adam and Eve were sinless and had access to the tree of life, so long, though not by nature immortal, death had no power over them; but so soon as they lost that tree they lost their support, and then death became their master, even as he was over all other creatures of flesh and blood.

Thus you will see, and I wish to call your attention especially to this point, that the life which Adam held, the life spiritual, the life natural, the peace of mind which he had in consequence of inward purity, and all the happiness he possessed, he held upon a certain condition; and that condition was obedience to God. God breathed into him the breath of life, and made him a living soul, but it was not that he should live for himself or in his own strength; far from it, God intended that man should be a reflexion of His own glory, that He should live by a stream of life flowing from Himself, that man's

spirit should thrive and grow by communion with the Holy Spirit. And God laid a command upon Adam, a command in the doing of which he should live, and in the breaking of which he should die: that command was the test of obedience, and the simplicity of it shewed for what it was intended, and was a kind of type of the simplicity of all God's commands. "Thou shalt not eat of the fruit of the tree of the knowledge of good and evil." What a simple command! how easy to obey! and yet Adam broke it and lost those blessings with which he had been endowed, and that life which God had breathed into him. Yet who is he who condemns his first parents, and says that the command was easy and the burden light? who will venture thus virtually to assert, that he himself would have kept the command? Easy to obey! why, Brethren, all God's commands are easy to obey, and yet we do not obey them; Christ's yoke is easy and his burden light, and yet what thousands of persons prefer the heavy burden of sin! The fact is, that we are all prone to disobey; we have all a spirit of pride in us, which revolts from the humble attitude of persons implicitly obeying God's will; we are headstrong, we must have our own way, and Satan whispers in our ear the while, "Ye shall not surely die; God has said so, but so it will not be; ye will be as gods, knowing good and evil." Alas! alas! it was not in Eden only, that the Tempter has uttered such blasphemy against the Most High, as that which he spoke to our first parents. "Ye shall not surely die" has been the most constant and perhaps the most successful lie, with which the father of lies has from the beginning until now seduced the souls of men.

But I must conclude. I have been speaking concerning the condition of man in Paradise, and I have tried to point out to you what kind of happiness he had, what his endowments were, what kind of life he had, and how his life and his happiness were preserved. And now I will add, that through the merits of our blessed Redeemer we look forward to a restoration of that life and happiness, which Adam forfeited by his sin; he who overcomes will be admitted again to the Paradise of God, and permitted to eat once more of the tree of life.\* For that joyful restoration let us wait patiently, and strive earnestly that we fail not of the promise. In the mean while let us remember, that though we have not now that perfect likeness of our Maker in which we were created, though the image of God is broken and defaced and marred, yet even now

<sup>\*</sup> Rev. ii. 7.

there is much in us which shews that we were meant to be great and glorious, and that each one of us may exhibit features of wonderful likeness to God if only he strives against sin and follows after holiness. God has given us life again, even after we had sinned; even in this world man may live again; those who are born anew of water and the Holy Ghost may even yet put forth green leaves, and flourish and bear fruit to God's honour. Only let us remember, that whatever life God has given us is like the life given to Adam, not a life to be preserved by our own strength, not a life which we can live of ourselves, but one which can only be maintained by constant communion with God; in fact, it is not we that live but Christ who liveth in us, and the life which we live we must live by faith in the Son of God, who loved us and gave Himself for us. Thanks to God, who hath caused us to be born again, and to have that new life which by nature we cannot have! Therefore, while we grieve over the bliss which our first parents lost, let us ascribe glory and praise to Him who pitied our estate, and made it possible that the divine image should be restored and the joys of Paradise regained.

# SERMON VII.

### THE GOSPEL REVEALED TO BABES.

### S. MATTHEW xi. 25-30.

At that time Jesus answered and said, I thank Thee, O Father, Lord of heaven and earth, because thou hast hid these things from the wise and prudent, and hast revealed them unto babes.

Even so, Father: for so it seemed good in Thy sight.

All things are delivered unto Me of My Father: and no man knoweth the Son, but the Father: neither knoweth any man the Father, save the Son, and he to whomsoever the Son will reveal Him.

Come unto Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest.

Take My yoke upon you, and learn of Me; for I am meek and lowly in heart: and ye shall find rest unto your souls. For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light.

I have taken as many as six verses for a text, because they assist in interpreting each other; but the subject which I intend to bring before you is chiefly contained in the first three verses. It is my wish to clear away, if possible, a difficulty which seems to hang over the words of our Lord

recorded in those verses, and to obviate the danger of incorrect conclusions being drawn from them; but I could not help observing, that our Lord's latter words contained themselves the best commentary upon His former words, that the last three verses of the text were the best light to the darkness which might hang over the first three, and that a person could not very well deduce incorrect conclusions, who had thoroughly entered into the spirit of that merciful invitation with which the text concludes. Now let me explain myself upon these points; and if we should touch upon delicate ground in the course of our discussion, let us pray God to be with us by His Spirit to guide us into all truth.

I observe then, that there seems to be a difficulty hanging over the words of our Lord in the first verse of the text. Our Lord thanks His heavenly Father, because He has hid the knowledge of His truth from the wise and prudent and has revealed it to babes; and these words may be used to support the notion, that Almighty God has by an eternal decree revealed His will to some and hidden it from others, entirely irrespectively of the moral condition of those persons; they may be used to support that view of God's providence, according to which a man imagines that he has himself no concern in his own sal-

vation, that he must lie without effort to help himself until a supernatural and irresistible power comes to him from without and makes him a new creature. I am here alluding to a question, which has given rise to an enormous amount of dispute and discussion; and it is a question which I cannot and do not desire to examine now at length: all that I am anxious to do is this-to point out the right meaning of our Lord's words in the text, which may, as I imagine, very easily be perverted to a false meaning in connexion with the controversy in question. Observe, I do not say that there is no difficulty about our Lord's words, so that they who pervert them to a wrong meaning must necessarily pervert them wilfully; on the other hand, I at once allow that there is a difficulty, and I observe also that this difficulty is increased by the parallel passage in S. Luke,\* where we read that our Lord "rejoiced in spirit" when He uttered the words of the text: the reason why I speak of this addition of S. Luke's increasing the difficulty is, that if the text should express that God has by an absolute decree hidden the Gospel from some of His creatures, then we might feel surprised that such an order of His Providence should be the only subject of rejoicing which is recorded on the part of our blessed

<sup>\*</sup> S. Luke, x. 21.

Saviour; for it is remarkable, particularly as a commentary upon that passage, "He was a man of sorrows and acquainted with grief," that there is in the Gospels but one recorded instance of the Saviour rejoicing, and that was when He thanked His Father for having hid His mysteries from the wise and prudent and revealed them to babes. However, I believe that if we examine our Lord's words carefully, we shall find that there is no real difficulty in the matter, and that we shall be able to find cause of rejoicing and of thankfulness to God in those very things, to which our Lord referred in the text. In order that we may arrive at this result, I shall call your attention to several leading features in our Saviour's words.

In the first place, I will observe that the word which our English version renders "I thank Thee," is in reality of more extended meaning. It means something of this kind, "I confess, I acknowledge, Thy great wisdom." And the reason why I call your attention to this point is this, that you may see that there was something in the dispensation of God's providence, of which our Saviour speaks, which at once commended itself to His holy mind as wise and good; not merely something in which He saw the demonstration of God's power, which proved God's omnipotence, but rather that which equally proved His mercy, His goodness, His

wisdom; the Lord in the text addresses God as the Lord of Heaven and Earth, as Him according to the will of whose unerring mind all things have their laws and whom all creatures must obey, and the Lord's words are those of a person who has seen in the ways of men much injustice and cruelty and hardness, and who turns from such to the doings of God, and admires in them that perfection of all excellence and wisdom which he missed in the ways of men. And our Lord was speaking from earth to his Father in heaven; He spoke as a man therefore, and His confession of God's wisdom and His thankfulness to Him must, as one would imagine, find an echo in the hearts of us men; it is not to be believed but that, if we can gain the same view of God's dealings which Christ the Lord had, we too shall instinctively be filled with the same feelings of thankfulness, and the same readiness to acknowledge God's goodness and wisdom. And hence also we may fairly conclude that we have misunderstood the passage, if the consideration of God's dealings, as referred to by the Lord Jesus Christ, does not tend to make us sympathize in our Lord's joy.

But again, you must observe, that when our Lord says, "I thank Thee, O Father, Lord of Heaven and Earth, that Thou hast hid these things from the wise and prudent, and revealed them unto babes," the words are not to be understood, as though God had by some inflexible decree hidden the truths of the Gospel from certain persons called wise and prudent, and as though this "sending of the rich empty away" were a subject of joy either to Jesus Christ our Lord, or to any holy man; to suppose this would be to shock every right feeling of our hearts, and would be directly opposed to such conduct as that of our Lord when He wept over the guilty city, or when He prayed for His murderers on the very ground that they knew not what they were doing. Take the former of these instances; it is emphatically a case of the things of God being hidden from the wise and prudent; our Lord says, "If thou hadst known at least in this thy day the things which belong unto thy peace; but now they are hid from thine eyes"-hid from thine eyes-words which exactly tally with those of the text-"hid these things from the wise and prudent"; the case of impenitent Jerusalem therefore will throw light on the text. How were the things which concerned her peace hidden from her eyes? by God's inflexible decree? nay, but by her own sin; here was that which had blinded her, contempt of God's mercies, and therefore it may truly be said that she had blinded herself; she had sinned against the light, had despised God's warnings, and so, like all others who have done the same, she had become hardened. When therefore we read, that God has hidden things which concern their peace from the wise and prudent, we may safely say that the thing intended is, that these wise and prudent men have hidden them from themselves, that there is some defect in their method of treating God's message, or some root of bitterness in themselves, which renders them unable to see that which even babes are able to see clearly. And when our Lord rejoices, that "God hath hidden these things from the wise and prudent, and revealed them to babes," we may conclude, that, although God's justice cannot be taxed on account of these men rejecting the Gospel, seeing that they have blinded themselves, still it is not that blindness which is a cause of thankfulness and joy: quite the contrary; in the case of Jerusalem it made our Lord weep; the cause of joy and thankfulness is this, that although the wise and prudent rejected the Gospel, yet the babes, the simple ones, received it; that although He Himself were a stumbling-block and rock of offence to many, and those wise in this world, still the poor and simple received Him as their Saviour. Let me illustrate this by an example: if I said, I rejoice in my native country, because in it the wicked suffer the penalties of the law, and the

good are happy and free; should I mean that the sufferings of wicked men were a matter of joy to me? or should I not rather intend to express, that whereas the wicked suffered the good were happy, and that this happiness of the good was matter for joy? I should grieve that there were any wicked, I should grieve that it was necessary to vindicate the majesty of the law by punishing offenders, but I should know that in every state the safety and happiness of the innocent can only be secured by executing the law against the guilty; and therefore I might truly say, that I rejoiced and was thankful to live in a country, where the guilty are punished and the innocent are happy. Even so it is not the rejection of the Gospel by the wise and prudent, but the fact that although they rejected it the simple and humble accepted it, which gave rise to our Lord's thankfulness and joy. So that in fact the meaning of the first verse of the text would be expressed by some such words as these, "I thank Thee, O Father, Lord of Heaven and Earth, that although the wise and prudent have shut their eyes to the wonders of Thy Gospel, still Thou hast revealed them in all their majesty and beauty to every simplehearted man, who has sought Thee in earnestness and sincerity."

But this leads us to ask, What does our Lord mean by wise and prudent? these are words capable of a good sense; all the writings of Solomon teem with the praise of these two very qualities, wisdom and prudence; yet it is obvious that our Lord uses them in a very different sense, forasmuch as He represents them as hindrances to the reception of the Gospel. And here we come upon a point, to which S. Paul alludes more than once in his Epistles; as when he speaks of "not many wise men, not many noble, being called;" and of "God taking the foolish things of the world to confound the wise"; and again, of "the preaching of the cross being to them that perish foolishness, but to them who are called, Christ the power of God and the wisdom of God." Now it is obvious that the text cannot mean that God has hidden the Gospel from all those who are endued with powerful minds, or who are learned in such things as pertain to this world; for, as it would be an insult to the Gospel to suppose this to be true, as it would be all that its worst enemy could desire in condemnation of it that it should be admitted to be incompatible with human science and learning, and with the conclusions of human reason, so is the supposition utterly contrary to fact. For to go no further, what was S. Paul but one of the wise and prudent

in this sense? a man of eminently high powers of mind, and good education according to his times; and yet it is manifest that his wisdom and prudence, so far from hiding from him the truths of the Gospel, were the means in God's hands of enabling him to see deeper into its mysteries than almost any other man of his age. And the same remarks would hold of S. Peter and S. John; and in times after the apostolical we shall find, that many of those, who have been the most notable instruments for the propagation of the Gospel, have been men as remarkable for their talents and learning as for their religious zeal. I lay some stress upon this point, because I think there is a tendency in our days to imagine that knowledge and talents stand in the way of simple Christian faith; that the Christian religion requires us to do violence to our reason; that when we enter upon questions concerning the Bible, or concerning the mysteries of our faith, we are to give up all those principles and modes of judging of truth, which we should maintain in other subjects; and that in fact, the expression of God hiding His truth from the wise and prudent and revealing it to babes may be taken as implying, that a clear head and a wellinformed and well-disciplined mind are obstacles in the way of a due appreciation of the Gospel. Now I should say at once, that this is an unmanly, unworthy view of Christ's revelation; if it were true, it would at once condemn the Christian religion: if we have a message purporting to come to us from God, and to be carried by His Son who has condescended for that purpose to become man, and if in order to believe this message we are obliged to hoodwink the eyes of our reason, and cramp our minds, and restrain those faculties which God has given us for the express purpose of refusing the evil and choosing the good, then it is utterly impossible for any reasonable man to accept that message. Rather should we expect to find, as I believe in the Gospel we do find, the worthiest object for all our powers to fix upon; we should expect to find such a light upon all the ways of God, such a clearing up of difficulties, as should make us confess Jesus Christ to be the very "wisdom and power of God". If it be said that the wisdom and prudence of this world can never reveal God to us, and can never be a substitute for that revelation which God has been pleased to make to us in Jesus Christ, this is indeed most true, and contains the meaning of the words of the text: for the first appreciation of the value of the Gospel of Jesus Christ requires something, for which no talent, no learning or wisdom or prudence, can be any substitute, any

more than seeing can be hearing, or hearing can be smelling. And if the wise and the prudent very often miss the message of the Gospel, this is probably the point at which they go wrong; they imagine that they have in their own wisdom and prudence the guide to all they want to know; but it is not by his wisdom or his prudence that man holds communion with God; it is not by reasoning that he learns his true relation to God. For what is that true relation? it is that relation in which a man stands by sin, the relation of a lost sheep wandering and straying to a shepherd willing to lead it back again; and it is obvious that no wisdom or prudence can teach a man this; and that is why our Lord in the last verses of the text gives the invitation, of which I have already spoken as the best commentary upon his other and more difficult words. Observe that invitation: "Come unto Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest"-labour under what? heavy laden with what burden? surely with the burden of sin; with the sense of God's holiness and our own unworthiness; and the boon offered is rest, therefore they who accept the invitation must feel the need of rest, must feel that there is a contest within them, a contest of passions, of desires to do good and tendencies to do evil, and the like, for which no earthly

physician can devise a cure. Again the invitation continues, "Take My yoke upon you and learn of Me, for I am meek and lowly of heart, and ye shall find rest unto your souls; for My yoke is easy and My burden is light:" here we have clearly a proposal to change masters, a proposal made to persons who are supposed to be smarting under a very bad master and wishing to be rid of him; and the excellence of the change of masters, and the lightness of Christ's yoke as compared with that of the world, the flesh, and the devil, is clearly something which in the nature of things no wisdom or prudence, no books, no reasoning, can teach: a man who has done a hard day's work does not feel weary because he has studied anatomy, but because his limbs ache and his energy flags; and so, in like manner, nothing but a sense of the emptiness of things temporal and the weariness of the service of sin, can make a man enter into the meaning of Christ's words, and therefore make him eager to accept His invitation. Here then we see how it is, that the Gospel which the wise and prudent despise may be accepted by babes, that is, by the poorest, the weekest, the simplest, the most ignorant; and yet we are not compelled to allow, that there is anything in the Gospel to which our highest reason refuses assent; because

wisdom and prudence can never teach man that he is a sinner, or make him sigh for the rest which Christ alone can give; and yet if he have but this sense of his need of a Saviour, then he may find in the message of God to man by the Lord Jesus Christ the highest wisdom, the noblest subject for his thoughts, the most perfect mirror of all which his heart and his reason approve.

Once more, I will call your attention to the assertion in the text, an assertion in perfect harmony with so much of what we read in the Gospel of S. John, that "no man knows the Father but the Son and he to whom the Son will reveal Him." In such words as these the Lord points to Himself as the channel of divine grace to mankind; if a man wishes to know God, whom to know is life eternal, then he must seek to know Him in and through Jesus Christ; therefore the character and temper of mind of the Lord Jesus Christ may be to us a very good index of the character and temper of mind, to which the mysteries of God will be revealed. Now that which strikes us in the picture of the Lord given us in the Gospels is chiefly His humility, His gentleness, His meekness; He Himself says in the text, I am meek and lowly of heart, —that is the characteristic which He holds forth as a sufficient argument to men to receive His yoke; and hence we may see why the Gospel is spoken of as being revealed to babes, because those who are most like the Lord Jesus Christ, who exhibited the character of simplicity and lowliness, are most accessible to the claims of the Gospel; and those who can most admire the character, which our Lord exhibited to the world, will manifestly know most of God, whom it is the very office of Christ to reveal to mankind.

And now I think we shall have no difficulty in entering into the force of our Lord's words, when He acknowledges the goodness and wisdom of God's dealings. He says, "even so, Father: for so it hath seemed good in Thy sight;" not because the Father (with reverence be it spoken) had adopted some method of distributing His mercies, which appeared repugnant to our sense of justice, but which nevertheless became right because God had adopted it; but because the ways of God, as the Lord described them, were essentially such as to commend themselves to the admiration and love of all simple-minded holy men. For what do we see in this world? this world, in which sin has introduced disturbance, and discords into the harmony of God's works? what do we see but this, clever wickedness prospering; the wise and prudent in this world pressing before and gaining the advantage over the simple, the babes; talent and

wit estimated much more highly than virtue and humility; altogether an incorrect standard for measuring one man against another? I do not say that this is without exception, but I am sure that all must allow that as a general rule in this world might is right, and that the patient, forbearing, forgiving character, which Jesus Christ first exhibited to the world in all its completeness and majesty, is strangely undervalued and despised. And our blessed Lord saw this, and He saw that in His kingdom it was different; and He felt, that He was restoring to the world that true judgment of what is good and excellent, which sin had marred; and therefore He rejoiced in spirit, and acknowledged thankfully the goodness and wisdom of God. And if we, Christian Brethren, can enter into our Lord's views, we shall be able to sympathize in His joy; and what we rejoice in will not be the degradation of wisdom or prudence, or of any of the high attributes with which God has blessed us His creatures, but our joy will be this, that a fountain is open for sin and uncleanness in which the simplest may wash and be clean, if only he feel his pollution and desire to be purified; what we joy in is the free unmerited grace of God, which requires on our parts no natural gifts and endowments, but only a hearty weariness of sin, and

a willingness to take His yoke; yea, we rejoice that we ourselves are able to come with confidence to the throne of grace, and to know the Father through Jesus Christ.

In conclusion then I would say, that the whole key to our Lord's language may be found in the last words of the text. He is using language which can only be appreciated and understood by those, who can feel the strength of His gracious invitation as addressed to themselves; "Come unto me all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest;" these words are the key to the whole Gospel, and therefore also to all passages in which the laws of the Gospel dispensation are spoken of. Now our Christian life consists in a continual coming to Christ; we are ever represented in Scripture, as having no life in ourselves, but as drawing all we have continually from Jesus Christ our head; therefore I say, that our Christian life consists in continual coming to Christ according to His invitation; coming by prayer, coming by sacraments, coming by deeds of mercy and charity, coming by penitence, coming by a life of faith. And the strength of our zeal in thus coming to Him depends upon our feeling that without Him we cannot live, -aye, and cannot die either; that sin ever darkens our view of God, and that He only can clear the

view for us and so give us peace. Therefore I should say, Brethren, strive to gain deeper views of the nature of sin as thus darkening your view of God; strive to feel more and more your own deficiencies in holiness, in purity, in charity, in humility, in all Christlike qualities; and then you will feel more deeply the meaning of Christ's invitation, "Come unto Me;" and then too you will feel and rejoice in that mercy and goodness of God, which has provided for you what no wisdom or prudence of your own could ever have attained, even the means of knowing Him through His Son our Lord Jesus Christ.

## SERMON VIII.

#### CHRIST BLESSING LITTLE CHILDREN.

S. MARK X. 13, 14, 15, 16.

And they brought young children to Him, that He should touch them: and His disciples rebuked those that brought them.

But when Jesus saw it, He was much displeased, and said unto them, Suffer the little children to come unto Me, and forbid them not: for of such is the kingdom of God.

Verily I say unto you, Whosoever shall not receive the kingdom of God as a little child, he shall not enter therein.

And He took them up in His arms, put His hands upon them, and blessed them.

This passage is, as you well know, read as a part of the Baptismal Office; and an exhortation is founded upon it, in which the Church justifies the practice of bringing little children to the Christian font: after pointing out the manner in which the Saviour Himself commanded the little children to be brought to Him, and even held them up to others as examples of innocency, the Priest is instructed to assure the congregation, that

beyond all doubt Christ will in like manner accept those who are brought to Him, and give them the blessing of eternal life and make them heirs of His kingdom. I suppose that on account of the manifest difficulty, which attaches to the administration of a sacrament, requiring repentance and faith, to a babe incapable of both the one and the other, it was thought desirable upon every occasion when a child was brought to be baptized, to explain that the Church believed such an order of things to be most agreeable to the will of Christ: I say the manifest difficulty, because I think that any one who looks at baptism by itself, considers its requirements, its conditions, its supposed effects, would be inclined at first thought to say that it was a sacrament for adults only; and we know that there are a considerable number of persons, who are unable to get over the difficulty, and who therefore live in secession from the Church upon this point. Yet there are even greater dificulties the other way; that is, it is more difficult to believe, that a body like the Christian Church should have no means of bringing into covenant with Christ the little ones of His redeemed family: and on the whole I think, that the most mature and careful reflexion will bring us to conclude, that the practice of infant baptism, which we may call the Catholic practice,

that is, the general and recognized practice of the Christian Church, is indeed worthy of being followed as most agreeable to Christ's institution.

Nevertheless, that the subject is not without difficulty is proved by the fact of the abundance of controversy to which it has given rise; difficulty however, not so much about the duty of infant baptism itself, as about the nature and extent of the blessing which it conveys; difficulty also it may be observed, a considerable portion of which would belong equally to adult baptism and to infant. And it will not be satisfactory to say, that provided the duty be admitted it matters not what people think of the blessing obtained; for though in one sense this is true, yet on the other hand it is quite certain, that if the blessings be depreciated, the practice itself will soon be neglected and despised. Hence it seems to me, that any remarks which may tend to throw light on this subject are worthy of our utmost attention: I know very well that the subject involves a certain kind of difficulty which cannot be removed, but whatever difficulties arise from our own misconceptions or prejudices do appear capable of being at least relieved; and it is to some points of this kind, that I desire to draw your attention in this sermon.

I have long thought, that the passage which I

have taken as a text had a meaning as regards the spiritual influence attaching to infant baptism, beyond that which the exhortation in the Baptismal service appears to assign to it. The argument there used is, that as Jesus Christ received infants in the days of His flesh, so He will receive them now; the exhortation perhaps chiefly strikes us, as setting forth the merciful temper and divine condescension of the Lord in not allowing the infants to be driven away; but there is a deeper view than this, which I do not say that the exhortation has missed, but which at all events it does not put forward prominently. Our Lord's conduct seems to prove, that infants are susceptible of spiritual influences, that it is possible for infants to receive a blessing real, yea beyond price, and yet impalpable and easily despised or denied: I do not say, that the infants whom Christ blessed received precisely the same blessing as that which infants receive in baptism, whatever that may be; but if we find it necessary to admit, that infants were benefited by being brought to Christ, and that every difficulty which belongs to the question of infant baptism belongs in an equal degree to the case of the infants received and blessed by Christ, then we shall feel that it is far from incredible, rather that it is in the highest degree probable, that infants brought into Christ's spiritual presence in His own ordinance do receive a real spiritual benefit thereby.

In the first place then, did the children who were brought to Christ receive any benefit? It is clear that the parents thought that they would; nay, they were even what would be called in these days superstitious about the matter, for they brought the children that they might be "touched;" they evidently imagined that Christ's body was so holy, that contact with it would have a wholesome influence, like a charm to drive away evil. And it is clear also, that the disciples regarded the children as unfit subjects for the Saviour's notice; if they had believed that the children could have received any blessing, they would certainly not have driven them rudely away. Moreover between these two parties our Lord inclined to the former; that is, although He might not favour the notions, which perhaps some of them held respecting the healing influence of His mere bodily touch, yet He distinctly commanded, that the infants should not be dismissed, as being incapable of receiving any gift at His hands. And when we read, as we do in the last verse of the text, that "He took them up in His arms, put His hands upon them, and blessed them," I should deem it impiety to suppose that they received no benefit; even if this benediction had been given without any of those

attendant circumstances of which the text tells us, I should think that we were derogating from the dignity of Christ by supposing, that His hands touched and His mouth spake words of blessing in vain, that a blessing from Him was but as a blessing from ourselves, implying a kind wish and a feeling of anxious love; I could not allow the notion of vain touch and vain speech being attributed to Him, whose will is the law of the Universe; but when I find the benediction given in the teeth of the objections of the disciples who would have kept the infants away, when I find it accompanied by an express declaration that little children are proper subjects of His gracious influences, how can I doubt that His words which contained the blessing were also effective in bringing a blessing down? I think that any one who considers the question carefully will be convinced, that reverence for the Saviour's character and power will not allow us to attribute any other than a very strong meaning to such words as these, "He put His hands on them, and blessed them."

Let us admit then, that through the faith of their parents or friends these children received an advantage, which other children not blessed by Christ did not receive: so much I think it is easy to grant. But when we come to inquire what that advantage was, the answer is not so easy. It may perhaps be said, that they received no advantage above others, but were themselves only the type as it were of the whole race, and that the whole race of infants were blessed in them: be it so; still the question remains, what advantage did they, or the race through them, receive? And here I conceive that there is a difficulty; and it is much more easy to say what the benefit was not, than to define accurately what it was. For instance, was it a certainty of salvation that these infants received? Surely not, it would be impiety to imagine it for a moment; Adam and Eve were blest by God and pronounced very good, yet Adam and Eve fell; and Judas must, I suppose, have often received the blessing of His Master, although he turned out a traitor. Indeed the ultimate safety of every one is so entirely limited by the condition, "whoso endureth to the end, the same shall be saved," so much depends upon daily diligence and fear and trembling, that to attribute a certainty of final acceptance to any one act or to any one spiritual influence, even to a blessing pronounced by the Lord Himself, would be monstrous and absurd; and therefore the certainty of salvation was not the consequence to these children of receiving the blessing of the Lord.

Again, was it security from temptation? would Christ's blessing serve ever after as a charm against evil spirits, keeping the children in afterlife free from trial and from the dangers and troubles connected with it? Surely not: in this world of trial and temptation it has never been granted to any to have exemption; on the other hand, those have usually been the best and holiest, who have been most subject to them; and if one of those happy children who received Christ's blessing imagined, that in afterlife he need take no pains in resisting the devil or curbing the flesh, if he imagined that the touch of Christ in His infancy would remain to him in its virtue and efficacy throughout his life, keeping from him all hurtful things and making his path free from spiritual danger, it is manifest that he would deceive himself, that he would be guilty of abusing his privilege, that he would turn the Saviour's blessing into a curse. I do not suppose, that any one of the children would be likely to take this view of what had been done for him in infancy; I think rather, that when those children came to years of discretion, and were told by their parents (as doubtless they would be told) of this remarkable passage in their childish history, when they attended the Christian assemblies and heard what manner of person Christ was, when they heard of His holiness and purity, or still further when they began to realize His divine nature, when they knew Him not only as a man "who went about doing good," but as the Son of God, "God manifest in the flesh," and then connected this with the fact that they themselves had been touched and blessed by Him, they would at once rise above all low views of their blessedness, and would strive only to walk as they should walk, whom the Saviour of the world had blessed. They never would imagine that they were free from danger, but they would feel bold to meet any danger to which they might be exposed in the strength of Him who had given them such a pledge of his love. They would believe that Christ had claimed their bodies as His temples, yet not as temples locked and barred, into which no foul thing could enter, but as temples the gates of which they must themselves ever keep from intruders with all watchfulness and care.

But further; was the benefit of such a kind, that it would be manifest to all men and to the children themselves in afterlife, that they had received it? was it such that it would be impossible for those who were disposed to do so, to deny that any benefit had been received? I think that certainly the blessing was not of this kind:

I can easily believe, that if any one of the children turned out careless and reprobate, he could easily persuade himself that neither he nor any of the rest were any the better for Christ's touch. I can believe in like manner, that any parents, who might have neglected to present their children to Christ when they had the opportunity, could easily reconcile themselves afterwards to the belief that their children had lost nothing by it, that they were as well provided for as those whom Christ touched and blessed; for the spiritual dealings of God with the souls of men are generally of a quiet nature, easily doubted, laughed at, and despised by those whose hearts prompt them to do so; God's converse with the human spirit is not with thunder but with a still small voice; His most persuasive utterance is a whisper to the conscience, which the noise of the world or the clamour of passions within may easily overpower and render ineffectual; and according to this analogy, I should expect that the blessing which Christ imparted would be nothing palpable. but some more secret grace, the very reality of which might with much plausibility be denied.

But enough of what the blessing was not: it was not a guarantee of salvation; it was not a charm against evil spirits, or a certain preservative from sin; it was not so palpable and open in its

result upon the life and conversation, that its existence could not with any colour be denied; and yet it was a blessing after all, a blessing beyond price, one which those children themselves doubtless felt in after years, that they would not exchange for the wealth of worlds. And if this be so, then we come to this important result, that it is possible to predicate of children that they have received a great spiritual benefit, a benefit which no human words can exaggerate, and yet not to assert anything absurd or anything dangerous. Now let us see how this bears upon the Sacrament of Baptism; in this case we have children presented to Christ, and if the sacrament be of His own appointment and the children come to it by His own invitation, then it seems quite necessary to believe that they receive a blessing from the Lord, a blessing which we may speak of in the broadest terms, which we need not fear to exaggerate by any such language as we can frame, and to assert which need not bring upon us the charge of declaring anything absurdly false, or anything dangerous. For the blessing of Baptism may be quite analogous to that which the children in the text received; it is not necessary for my argument that it necessarily should be, but certainly there is no reason why it may not be; and in this case we know, that Christ

touched the children and blessed them, and that it would be impious to imagine that He did so in vain; and yet anything which can be said in disparagement of the virtues of Infant Baptism, can be equally said of the virtues of Christ's touch and benediction; it gives no certainty of salvation, it is no charm against the devil, it is no preservative from trial, it is impalpable in its effects, and its influence may be with plausibility denied. What follows then? manifestly this, that we may not apply to the case of Christian Baptism a line of argument, which will not hold good when applied to the similar case of Christ blessing children in the days of His flesh; the mode of His spiritual operation on children then, may be entirely analogous to the mode of His operation now.

This is a very difficult subject, Christian Brethren, necessarily very difficult; anything must be so, which concerns the manner in which grace is conveyed to our souls by external means. But still the question involved is one of so much importance, one upon which the minds of all of us must be more or less so certainly exercised, that I have thought it worth while, at the risk of being somewhat hard to understand, to point out to you how the Sacrament of Baptism is illustrated by the conduct of our Saviour on earth. And what I desire to maintain is, that whatever

difficulties attach to the view which our Prayerbook takes of the blessings of the Sacrament of Baptism, the same attach to the case of the children whom Christ touched and blessed. And let me say, that there are other passages in our Lord's life which in like manner illustrate for us the grace of sacraments, or generally of means of grace. For instance, if it seem difficult to conceive of the grace of remission of sins being in any way connected with the Holy Communion, as the Prayer-book seems to imply, let us think of such a case as this: in the days of our Lord's life on earth He frequently used these words, "Thy sins are forgiven thee"; now there must have been some connexion between the utterance of these words and the remission; and yet the remission took place in consequence of an act of faith performed before the words were uttered; one might ask in what condition a man was spiritually, who had performed an act of faith which led to his forgiveness, in the interval between the performance of the act and the absolution being pronounced by Christ; forgiven he was not, for the words of Christ were not declaratory merely, but were themselves efficient for pardon, as Himself demonstrated; and yet he must have been in quite a different position from that in which he was before. Now you

may say, that it is useless and dangerous to discuss such points; no one can think so more than I do; I know well how much easier it is to make difficulties than to solve them; and I know also that to the plain humble man there is no difficulty at all; he knows that by faith in Christ he can have his sins forgiven, and he goes to Christ and finds all that his soul needs; but still, if a person finds a difficulty in believing, that certain ordinances can be spiritually efficacious to men's souls, then I think it is right to let him see how much of the difficulty in reality attaches to the spiritual influence of our Lord, when He was personally here on earth. I wish him to see that there is an essential difficulty attaching to all gifts of grace from Christ to ourselves, and that the difficulty is neither increased nor diminished by the fact of the Lord being now at the right hand of God, instead of being in our flesh walking upon earth. I wish him to discover, that whereas there are doctrinal statements in the Prayer-book concerning which he doubts and hesitates, there are statements of the same kind in Scripture, which he passes over without seeing their difficulty. The influence of God's Spirit upon the spirit of a little child is a mysterious thing; it is mysterious even in the case of fullgrown men with all their faculties; "the wind bloweth where it listeth," said the Lord, "and thou hearest the sound thereof, but canst not tell whence it cometh nor whither it goeth; so is every one that is born of the Spirit;" it is a mysterious thing that the soul of a man should be so influenced by an unseen spiritual energy as to become a new creature, so that he should be able to say "old things are passed away, behold all things are become new;" but it is still more wonderful, more puzzling, more incomprehensible, if we endeavour to imagine for ourselves the influence of that same Spirit upon the heart of a little child, or if we endeavour to describe precisely the relations which the spirit of a child may possibly bear to the Spirit of God. Yet if we take low unworthy views of this subject, how shall we understand the conduct of the Lord in the text? Hath He not for ever exalted and magnified little children, by laying His hands upon them and blessing them? Was that laying on of hands a form and nothing more? Was that blessing, which His sacred lips spake, a mere expression of kindness and courtesy, or did it not rather partake of that character, which He Himself ascribes to His own words when He says, "Heaven and earth shall pass away, but My words shall not pass away"?

Christian Brethren, I leave these thoughts for your consideration; I am aware of the difficulty

of speaking clearly on such a subject, and will ask you to supply the defect by reading over the text again, and thinking upon it in connexion with what I have said. And now I will conclude with these two remarks: first, let the subject teach us in all ways to reverence the spirit of little children; in our intercourse with them let us try habitually to assign to them that high place, which Christ has given them by making them the subjects of His blessing; let us act towards them with a temper and spirit in accordance with the example which the Lord has given us. And secondly, let us thank God for the revelation which He has given us of Himself in Jesus Christ, according to which the blessings to be distributed to mankind are so free, so universal, that even little children are not excluded, but may have a share in the heavenly gifts; and let us pray God, that we may not in maturer years fall back from the grace, nor discredit the position, which Christ in His mercy gave us in our infancy; let us pray earnestly that the voice, which once said "Suffer this little child to come to Me," may never be heard to utter such withering words as these, "Depart from Me thou cursed one; I know thee not."

## SERMON IX.

WHAT IS REQUIRED OF THOSE WHO COME TO THE LORD'S SUPPER?

## REVELATION XXII. 17.

And the Spirit and the Bride say, Come. And let him that heareth say, Come. And let him that is athirst come. And whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely.

I QUOTE these words, Christian Brethren, because they seem to express in a short space the whole spirit of God's dealings with us His creatures. They represent our Heavenly Father as inviting by His Spirit, and by His Church, all men who will, to come and freely drink of the water of life, or living water, which He alone is able to bestow. You will remember that when our Lord sat by the well of Sychar, and talked to the woman of Samaria who came to draw water, He spoke of His power of giving to those who asked Him "living water", as His own

special prerogative; and it is evident that He intended by the figure of living water, to express that new life in man's soul which He was able to impart, that principle which having commenced in faith and holiness in this life should bring forth eternal life in the world to come. And the text is quite in accordance with the words of our Lord, representing the Spirit as inviting all men who will to accept of this heavenly gift.

Now it is not my present purpose to say anything concerning the greatness of this heavenly gift; what I wish to point out is the condition upon which it is granted. The only condition is this, "whosoever will;" there is absolutely no restriction; whosoever thirsts is invited to drink of the waters, just because he does thirst; if a man feels his need, that is his title to ask for succour. Of course the mere fact of a man needing a gift does not render it certain, that he will obtain the gift; but in this case the gift, having been rendered possible by the death of Christ, is offered upon the one simple condition of a man feeling his want and being ready to accept it; and this condition must be fulfilled; God has made us such that we are able to judge for ourselves; we have a will and He does not constrain it; He puts before us great inducements and great threats, but after all the will is unfettered, and he who

says, I will not serve God, is not compelled to do so. And every one who will may serve Him; the terms of the Gospel both in the Old Testament and the New are those which are laid down in the text, "Whosoever will, let him come freely."

I call your attention to this characteristic of the Gospel, not because it is new, nor because it requires any argument to establish it, but that I may make this observation, that although men will profess that this is the characteristic of the Gospel, yet they will not in all points act upon their profession. They will allow that the Gospel is free, that God says to all men "Come and drink of the water of life freely," and that when God is pleased to give us such an invitation He means it in its veriest letter; but many persons will not practically allow, that the spirit of such invitation extends to the invitation, which they receive, to come to the Lord's Supper. This is the subject which I wish to treat in this sermon: that it is an important one no person can deny, especially an important one to those, who will not come when they are bidden; and I wish to consider what ground they have to stand upon, who hang back from the Lord's Table. It is an old subject; but it is one which I cannot drop, which I dare not drop, so long as there are persons in my parish who are invited and will not come. It is a subject also, which cannot in a set discourse be discussed in all its bearings; there may be, in particular cases, peculiar difficulties and misgivings which can best be relieved by private conference with God's Ministers, as recommended in the Book of Common Prayer; all that can be done is to lay down general broad principles, and forasmuch as in this case "the Spirit and the Bride say Come," and as we can find no reason why those who are athirst and are willing should not come and receive God's gifts freely, I wish to examine fairly and plainly what the requisites are, in order that a Christian may with a good and safe conscience come to the Lord's Supper. And though what I shall have to say may be addressed more especially to those, who systematically refuse the Gospel invitation to the holy Feast, yet I believe that it cannot be without advantage to all of us to enter occasionally into those thoughts concerning the Lord's Supper, and the title we have to partake of it, which such a subject as the present must needs bring to our mind.

I will explain the line of reasoning which I am about to adopt. When a man considers with himself, whether he ought to present himself at the Lord's Table, frequently he is beset with a

host of difficulties and questions, as to what is required of him and as to his own fitness. Where shall he go for safe guidance? I reply that he need go no further than the Catechism which he learnt when he was a child; I do not believe that he will find the qualifications of a worthy communicant any where more clearly laid down, or with more authority. And I do protest, Christian Brethren, that when that authorized formulary of the English Church states plainly the conditions which are required, no member of the Church has any right to impose upon either his own conscience or that of his brother any other conditions; yet practically it is evident, that men do impose other conditions, because when a person assigns his reasons for not going to the Lord's Table, they are scarcely ever of this kind, that he cannot satisfy the Prayer-book conditions: the Catechism says that certain things are required, and it implies that no others are required; but when a man makes his excuse, it almost always refers to matters of quite another kind, and thus proves, as I have said, that men do in practice lay other conditions upon their own consciences and those of their brethren, besides those which the Prayer-book has imposed. And I cannot impress upon you too strongly, that no member of the Church has any right to do this; a dissenter

may do it if he will; but as consistent members of the Church, we have no right to teach her Catechism to our children, and then virtually deny its truth by imposing conditions of communion over and above those which she herself lays down.

What then are the conditions? The Catechism sums them up under three heads, which I shall speak upon in order. First, it is required of those who come to the Lord's Supper "to examine themselves, whether they repent them truly of their former sins, steadfastly purposing to lead a new life." Beyond all doubt this must be required, and it is a most reasonable requirement; for to take no higher view of the sacrament than this, we may regard it as a mutual pledge given by Christians to each other, that they will keep the commands of Christ; the early Christians, when accused of meeting together for evil purposes, declared that at their solemn weekly festivals they pledged themselves not to break the laws nor to live in lust and wickedness, and in saying this they referred to the pledge of holy living, which the Sacrament of the Lord's Supper implied. And doubtless, whatever other and deeper meaning the Lord's Supper may have, this it must have; that is, it must be regarded as a pledge of our desire and determination to

live in accordance with the will of Him, whom we then most solemnly recognize as our Lord and King. But what I would wish you to observe is, that the condition of which I am speaking is not something peculiar to the Lord's Supper, but something which is quite necessary whether we come to the Lord's Table or not: the Catechism does not say, "if you would come to the Lord's Table, you must examine yourselves whether you repent; and if you do not care about coming to the Lord's Table, then you need not examine yourselves;" but it only lays down that as a necessary condition of coming to the Lord's Table, which every Christian ought to do, nay, which unless a man does he can scarcely be considered to be a Christian. Who will venture to say, that he has no need to repent of his sins, and to make up his mind to live a holy life? and who will say that he ought not to examine himself carefully, as to whether he is doing this or no? No one I am sure will venture to say, "I am not thinking about coming to the Lord's Table, and therefore these questions do not concern me;" every one will feel that it would be the grossest impiety to speak after this fashion; and therefore, as I have said, the Catechism is only laying down as a condition, that which every Christian, without exception, ought to do. You will see the point at which I am aiming; I wish you to see, that no proper distinction can be drawn between the duties of communicants and non-communicants, but that every one who is worthy of being called a Christian is worthy of coming to the Lord's Table; that the requisites for coming there are identically the same with the requisites for being a Christian in life and reality, and not only in name; and contrariwise, that any one, who declares himself unfit to come to the Lord's Table, does thereby (though he may not intend it) declare himself unfit to be called a Christian at all.

But let me go on to the second thing spoken of in the Catechism as required. It is required, says the Catechism, that those who come to the Lord's Supper should "have a lively faith in God's mercy through Christ, with a thankful remembrance of His death." The meaning and necessity of which requirement appears at once, when you consider the Lord's Supper in the light of a celebration of His death: the Apostle Paul says, "as often as ye eat of this Bread and drink of this Cup, ye do shew forth the Lord's death:" the broken bread and the wine poured out do indeed set forth, in a simple yet impressive manner, the broken body and the shed blood of Christ; and he who joins in communion joins in shewing forth Christ's death; but it cannot be merely as a piece of history, that any man can desire to publish to the world that Jesus Christ died; he must desire to publish it, as a great religious truth, because he feels it to be the great truth which the world ought to know; in fact he cannot care to celebrate Christ's death, unless he can enter entirely into the truth of Christ being the Saviour of the world, and His death the world's life. And if he really believes mankind to have been redeemed from an intolerable bondage by Christ's humbling Himself to death upon the cross, he will find it hard to set bounds to the thankfulness, with which he will regard Christ's redeeming work; and thus a lively faith in God's mercy through Christ, and a thankful remembrance of His death, will of necessity belong to him, who comes with a sincere heart to celebrate Christ's death in Christ's own way. But here again I ask, what is there peculiar to a communicant in this? it is true, that this is required of those who come to the Lord's Supper, but is it not also required of those who do not come? can they forget Christ's death without blame, simply because they refuse to celebrate it in His own way? I would admit at once, that every one who says, I have not a lively faith in God's mercy through Christ, and I have no thankful remembrance of His death, I feel

no gratitude for what Christ has done and no hope of mercy through Him,—I would admit at once, that every one who said this should keep away from that Feast, which is the very assertion of those feelings which he does not possess; but what Christian will venture to make this plea? who does not feel, that to take such ground is to deny his discipleship altogether? Wherefore this second condition also imposes nothing peculiar upon communicants; but only lays that down as their duty, which is clearly required of every one, who desires to call himself without profanity and without hypocrisy by the holy name of Christ.

Let us pass to the third and last condition. The Catechism tells us, that those who come to the Lord's Supper must "be in charity with all men." Quite a reasonable requirement this, if we remember that the Lord's Supper was regarded from the earliest times as a feast of love or charity. The holy Eucharistic Feast was never regarded merely as a commemoration of the sacrifice of the cross; it was this indeed, but it was something more, it set forth in the most emphatic manner the unity of the Church, the great truth that all Christians were members of one body of which Christ was the head; and so S. Paul speaks of Christians all "eating of the one bread;"

and if the Christians desired to be set forth before the world as a body of men having one head and one heart, they could not be seen to greater advantage than when in commemorating the death of Him, who being rich for our sakes became poor, and by becoming poor levelled all earthly distinctions, and made all men rich who believed in Him, they met together on one common ground, as men who loved each other because they were constrained by the love of Christ, as men who forgave each other their trespasses because God through Christ had forgiven them, as men who honoured one another on account of that common nobility which belonged to them as "heirs of God and joint-heirs with Christ." And this being the spirit of the holy Feast, it is clear, that all envy and malice and ill-feeling and unkindness must be put away by those who attend it: to come to the holy Table without freely forgiving our brother his trespasses against us, and making restitution in whatsoever we may have injured him, without a genuine spirit of love and benevolence for those who are partakers with us of a common salvation, is evidently rank mockery; it is to act the part of Judas, to attend the Feast with a treacherous heart. So that if any one pleads guilty to a want of charity towards his brethren, if he is living on terms of hatred

and malice towards any one, if he is unkindly in his feelings towards the least and humblest of mankind, then I cannot say "Come to the Lord's Table." But who dare make this plea? What Christian would not shudder at it? Whether a man be in attendance at the Lord's Table or not, nay, even if he never intends to take the question of his duty in this respect into his serious consideration, still want of charity is vile, damnable, unchristian. When S. John said, "Little children, love one another," he did not say, "love one another, if you go to the Lord's Table; but if you do not go to it, it is no great matter;" he laid it down as a chief fundamental point of Christian practice, even as our Lord had before. This third requirement of the Catechism then, like the others, lays no new duty upon us; it merely says to us, Such and such things are your duty; if you are not performing it take heed that you do not partake of an ordinance, in which you cannot possibly join without danger and without hypocrisy: it does not imply, and was never meant to imply, that there was a certain catalogue of new duties, which devolved upon a communicant, and from which a noncommunicant would be free; on the other hand the whole spirit of the Catechism is this, Are you living in remembrance of your Christian

profession? are you what the Scripture would call awake, or are you asleep? do you mean anything more by saying you are a Christian than this, that you were born in England and not in India, that you can repeat the Apostles' Creed and do not worship Juggernaut? when you speak of Christ as your Lord and Saviour, do the words express the deep convictions of your heart, or are they the mere remnants of nursery or Sunday School teaching? Now if in reply to such questions as these you would reply, "God forbid that my Christian profession should be a lie! I wish to serve Christ, being persuaded that He first loved me, and by redeeming the world from sin and enabling me to become a child of God has laid such obligations upon me as I can never repay"—then the spirit of the Prayerbook would say, Go to the Lord's Table, there seek nearer communion with Him whom you desire to serve, there set forth His death, there join with your fellow-Christians in an act of worship to God and love to each other. This I say is the spirit of the Prayer-book; and again I assert, that as consistent members of the Church we have no right to lay down other terms of communion, than those which in the Catechism we find: there are three conditions laid down, and they are very plain and very simple, and he

who can find in them no obstacle to his coming to the holy sacrament ought to find no obstacle at all: and my design has been to shew you, that those things, which the Catechism says are required of persons who would come to the Lord's Supper, are in reality required of all Christians; no one may venture to demur to them; because, in confessing that he is unfit for the Lord's Supper, he is confessing that he is unworthy to be called a Christian at all. And thus we are brought to this conclusion, that every Christian ought to be a communicant, that a non-communicant Christian is an unchristian Christian, a man who bears a name in the world which here in God's Church he dare not support. What do you think of that conclusion?

Observe, I do not deny, that a person who is in the habit of going to the Lord's Table will probably feel a degree of responsibility, which another may not feel; but then it is one great advantage of the Holy Communion, that it does bring before the mind, in a way which can hardly be neglected, the importance of holiness and godliness; and I do not deny that every communicant has a character to support, and that any fall on his part will be thought more of, will bring greater discredit on religion, than that of a more careless person; but what I do assert

is, that every Christian has his duties, and that they do not become more his duties nor less because he has done what every Christian ought to do, and that it cannot be taken as a palliation of any sin in the eyes of God (whatever it may be before men) that he who committed it had always been careless about religion, had never thought of the Holy Communion, had looked upon his Christian name as a mere mark to distinguish him from his fellows. It can be no palliation of any sin to say, I have committed others, and I never took the means which God in His mercy provided to make me grow in grace.

Do not imagine, Christian Brethren, that I have any very great hopes of such arguments as those which I have now used, producing much effect with those, who have for years past been living in neglect of the ordinance of the Lord's Supper. I believe that the arguments are good ones, and that you would have great difficulty in overturning them; but I know also, that those who will come to the water of life are not those whose intellects have been convinced by arguments which they cannot gainsay, so much as those who are athirst and those who have the will. Yet I think it well that you should see clearly before you what is your duty; and espe-

cially I desire, that no one of you should ever have to say it of me, that I failed in plain expositions of duty, and in declaring as simply as may be the whole counsel of God. And now I would conclude my discourse thus: I have treated the text as an exhortation to the Lord's Supper, it is more obviously perhaps an exhortation to the Supper of the Lamb in Heaven: some of you will not take the invitation in its former sense, but I should conceive that in the latter sense few of you think that you are refusing it-well, God grant that none of you may! but this I would have you to bear in mind, that the qualifications for the one Supper and for the other are the same: those three things, which the Catechism lays down as being required of those who come to the Lord's Supper, are also precisely those things, concerning which a man must be called upon to examine himself, when he is preparing to leave this world and appear before God-repentance, faith, charity; these in brief are the demands, which are made upon those who would come to the Supper of the Lord; which of them can you omit, Christian Brethren, as a requisite for entering heaven? can you go there without repentance? can you go there without faith in the Lord Jesus Christ? can it be heaven to you, if your hearts are not warmed with

charity? You see then that there is nothing required of those who come to the Lord's Supper, which is not required of those who are prepared to meet their God: and meet Him we must, there is no choice about that; a man need not come to the Lord's Table if he is not prepared, but a man must appear before God, whether he be prepared or no. Think of that; and do you who have hitherto slighted the invitations of your Lord, pray God to give you grace to grieve Him by your neglect no more.

## SERMON X.

## TRANSIENT IMPRESSIONS.

S. John xvi. 31, 32.

Jesus answered them, Do ye now believe?
Behold, the hour cometh, yea, is now come, that ye shall be scattered, every man to his own, and shall leave Me alone.

There had always been a degree of mystery and reserve in the manner in which Christ our Lord revealed Himself, even to His disciples, before His resurrection. From the people at large He had, as we know, almost completely concealed His real character; He appeared as a preacher of righteousness, a preacher of God's kingdom which He declared to be at hand, as a rebuker of sin, an instructor of the ignorant, a healer of the sick and of all manner of infirmities; and they who had simple hearts and earnest faith, and who compared the works and sayings of Christ with the words of the prophets of old, would be able to detect, in the humble dress of

Jesus of Nazareth, Him of whom Moses in the law and the prophets did write. Nevertheless a veil was thrown over His person, and it was only here one and there one who were able to discern anything of what he really was. And even to His chosen companions the same mysterious reserve was maintained: when Simon Peter confessed Him to be the Christ, our Lord spoke of His confession as embodying a truth which must have been revealed to Him from heaven, and He charged His disciples not to tell any man that He was the Christ. So also when on the Mount He was transfigured in the presence of the three chosen witnesses, and His shining garments and heavenly face gave a momentary view of His really glorious being, these three witnesses were strictly charged not to tell what they had seen until after the resurrection.

Thus there was evidently a systematic hiding of His Godhead, even from His chosen twelve, during our Saviour's life: I am not intending now to explain why this was, but only to note the fact as necessary for understanding the circumstances under which the text was spoken. If you look at the verses before the text, you will find that our Lord had broken through some of His usual reserve; during His latter conversations with His disciple before His crucifixion,

you will find that there is a great deal less of concealment of Himself than there had been during His lifetime, as though He were gradually preparing His Apostles' minds for that full outbreak of His Godhead, which was eventually to be revealed to them.

If you read the verses\* which immediately precede the text; you will see in what spirit it was that those words were uttered. You will observe that Christ declared whence He had come and whither He was going, "I came forth from the Father, and am come into the world; again I leave the world and go to the Father:" and the disciples were so struck with this clear declaration, that their hearts were warmed with lively emotion and unwonted faith; they now felt sure of their Master's greatness; they believed that He was come from God; they felt at the moment ready to do and dare all things in His name; they had never, from their first call until now, felt within themselves more clearly the assurance, that they were following one worthy of their faith and love.

But Christ was greater than their hearts and knew all things; His eye saw the coming storm, He knew by what a lowly gate He was about to leave the world, and how different His betrayal

<sup>\*</sup> S. John xvi. 25-30.

and crucifixion were from the bright visions of His return to the Father which filled the Apostles' minds. And Christ knew that the storm which was coming would rock and toss the boat of His Apostles' faith, so as well-nigh to overturn and sink them; therefore He gives them a word or two of warning, "Do ye now believe? are your hearts and minds now entirely convinced of My glory, so that you will never allow your faith to be clouded over again by doubts, nor your feet to be shaken in the path in which I lead you? Do ye now believe? Alas! you do not know yourselves and your own weakness: the hour is close at hand, when you who now profess such perfect faith, will be scattered hither and thither, and I shall be left alone." This was our Lord's warning, and you know how well the result justified it; almost directly after came Judas and the hired band, and then all the disciples forsook Him and fled; and Peter, the most bold and zealous of all, having followed by stealth, followed only to deny Him thrice. A sad falling away, though only for a time; but one which, if we consider it well, may perhaps be of use by way of example and warning to us Christians of the present day.

I should say that the lesson which the warning of Christ in the text, taken in connexion with the conduct of His disciples, principally teaches us is this: not to trust in matters concerning our religious state to momentary influences or sudden impressions, but rather to the results of long habits and intimate communion with God and ourselves. I mean that any impression made upon our minds suddenly, by some extraordinary exciting circumstance, by something out of the common way which appeals very strongly to our feelings or imagination, is to be mistrusted; I do not say it is necessarily bad, it may be the means in God's hand for great good; but it must not be leaned upon and trusted in, as those convictions may, which are the result of long religious habit and quiet waiting upon God. I think that if we look at the generality of mankind, we shall find that there is a considerable tendency to act upon a different principle, that is, to trust to what is exciting, moving, stirring, rather than to that which is quiet, unobtrusive, working unseen. I shall take occasion presently to illustrate this by some examples; at present I will say, that this error was precisely that of the Apostles: Christ had been with them constantly for several years, always teaching them, and though veiling to some extent His divine being, yet shewing them enough of His glory to win their adoration and demand their faith. But on the occasion which gave rise to the text, He spoke more openly than usual, He declared His divine being, and that He was about to return to His Father; the disciples were moved, their minds were excited, their hearts were elated, and they could not fancy that the fervour which they felt would ever cool and die away; but Christ knew them better than they knew themselves, and therefore warned them of the danger of trusting to the warm feelings of a moment as a pledge for future steadfastness in the faith.

Now let me take two or three instances of cases, in which the lesson, which I suppose to be taught by the text, is illustrated and its importance made to appear. The first shall be one of very marked character and not of unfrequent occurrence; it shall be the instance of professions and vows made on a sick-bed, in the supposed prospect of death. Almost every Christian minister will, I should think, in the course of his experience have met with something of this kind: a person who has been thoughtless and careless, or at least not so thoughtful and so earnestly concerned about his spiritual condition as he should be, is brought to greater seriousness respecting his condition by sickness: I do not take the case of a profligate sinner brought low by God's hand, because that will not illustrate my meaning quite

so well; I take the case of a person whose mind, though not abandoned to sin, is not so earnestly set upon holiness and heaven as it ought to be; such an one is laid, we will suppose, upon a sickbed, and then the folly of laying up treasure where the rust and moth corrupt and of making provision for the body while the soul is left to beggary and hunger, stands forth with a clearness and distinctness which was not seen in the days of strength and activity; the thought of time misemployed and opportunities wasted and privileges abused then stings the conscience, and if it does not overwhelm with despair, perhaps leads to holy resolutions, and an honest determination, if God should give health and strength again, to devote them to His honour and glory: a person thus grieving over the past and tasting of its bitterness, and fully persuaded of the duty and delight of taking Christ's yoke and learning of Him, will be likely not to suspect his own steadfastness, or to think it possible that his vivid views of duty and his earnest longings to put them in full practice, can ever be wiped from his mind by the return of former health. Nevertheless in no case is a warning more necessary, like that which Christ gave to His disciples in the text, "Do you now believe?" and happy is it when the resolutions of sickness are not, like the vows of the Apostles, scattered to the winds when the excitement of the moment has passed away. Such impressions as I have been speaking of may undoubtedly be turned to good account; they are to be looked upon as messages from God, and are intended to bear fruit: I am only pointing out that they may also easily decay and come to nought, and that unless they be vigorously followed up when health returns, they will be like a dream when one awakes, like the delirium of a fever which has abated, and will leave only condemnation to the subject of them, and sorrow to the hearts of those who love him.

Let us take another instance: a person reads a religious book written in a very exciting style; there is much concerning the blessedness of serving God, the peace and joy unspeakable of faithful service; the book details the life of some one represented as eminent for piety; his faults are perhaps kept out of view, his virtues magnified, his life is pictured as full of holiness, his end described as one of perfect peace. And a person reading such a book becomes enamoured of a religious life, the path seems pleasant, the prize easy to be obtained, and the contemplation of religion in another leads the reader to vows of religion for himself. Or it may be that the book does not contain a life, but is one which paints in

letters of fire the judgment of sin; a striking exposition of God's judgments, an alarm to the careless, an earnest call to repentance; and the reader is struck, and astonished that he never saw things in the same light before, he trembles and thinks what he must do to be saved, and he determines to alter his course and flee from God's wrath. Or it may be that a person hears from the pulpit some emphatic denunciation of a ruling passion or favourite sin; a person heedless and coming to church from habit, or necessity, or vanity, or curiosity, is struck with some pointed word, some dart of the Spirit, some arrow shot at a venture; and he shakes and is alarmed, and says, how dreadful is this place, this is God's house; and he vows that he will come again for worship, and not for the reasons which brought him to church before. Thus an impression is made, which may by God's grace become deep and lasting, and bring forth fruit unto life eternal. Now in all these cases the mind has been affected, the heart touched, the feelings moved; and this first motion of the Spirit should be followed up with diligence, and not be allowed to die away; but there is great danger, lest what has been done suddenly should be destroyed easily, like the seed which fell on stony ground, where there was no depth of earth, and the seed sprang up

quickly, but when the sun rose up it was scorched and withered away. And therefore such a warning as that of our Lord in the text is most valuable in a case like this; "do you now believe? now that your mind has been excited and your affections warmed? it is well to believe even now; but take heed, lest, when the rub of actual conflict with evil comes, your emotions shall have passed away, and your faith become dead."

There is one other case which I will mention, in which the warning of Christ concerning momentary influences seems to be applicable. I refer to the resolutions of serving God which earnest people make at solemn seasons; as for instance in Confirmation, the young persons renew their vows, they come in full hope of a blessing, their hearts are joyful in their Redeemer, they feel it a high privilege and unspeakable delight to answer with all their souls that they do ratify and confirm their vows; it is a season of religious joy, and the sunny side of the Christian life glitters and is beautiful, while the hardness of the Christian warfare does not come into very great prominence. Young Christian soldier! do you now believe? from your heart you do; but Satan has ten thousand snares for your faith between now and your death, therefore pray God that you may have your faith firm, not now only but when the lust of the flesh assails, and pride endeavours to blind you, and evil tempers irritate you, and Satan strives to seduce you. The same thing applies to the vows of self-sacrifice and obedience made in the Holy Supper: meet right and our bounden duty it is in perfect faith to devote ourselves then to God, but there is danger lest the warmth of feeling which the solemn service calls forth should freeze and deaden during the secular occupations of the week: therefore may every devout communicant say to himself, while paying his vows and rejoicing to give himself up to Him who died for his sake, Do I now believe? God give me grace to believe in His Son, not now only, but henceforth and for evermore!

These instances will be sufficient to illustrate the manner, in which the advice of Christ in the text may be used by persons in our time. The point which I have desired to lay stress upon is, that we cannot safely trust to expressions of our own hearts, or of the hearts of others, when those expressions are called forth by some peculiar excitement or extraordinary stimulus. But do I undervalue any warm emotions or enthusiastic feelings? far from it; they may be turned to the best account, they may be like the electric shock to a body in which animation has been apparently suspended, but which revives under the exciting

influence: but religious emotions, excited feelings, spasmodic expressions of earnest faith, are of no value in themselves; they are only to be prized, when by God's grace they are the springs of a holy and religious life. Therefore I do say, that such feelings are not to be trusted, neither are they particularly to be coveted; but if they exist, they are to be watched with care, and made subservient to our spiritual growth. The Church of Corinth was gifted with very remarkable gifts; they spake with tongues, they prophesied, they had a more than usual share of those exciting influences, which God in His wisdom poured down upon the infant Church; and S. Paul feared lest they should be intoxicated with their spiritual privileges, and esteem more highly than they ought those gifts, which were only valuable so far as they tended to the edification of the Church and the conviction of the unbelieving: therefore he wrote to them that he could shew them a more excellent way, that charity was the great end they should seek, that is, love in all its fulness to God and man; that was the end of their faith, that was the heavenly dress which would clothe them for ever, when miracles had ceased and tongues had died away.

What S. Paul said to the Corinthians may apply in its measure to us; that which God wishes

to have done in each one of us is, not that we should be full of warmth at one time and cold at another,-not that we should be earnest and full of vehement supplication in sickness and the sight of death, and selfish and indifferent in health,not that we should be moved for the moment (like trees in a sudden gust) by some stirring sermon or affecting story or religious service, and then be all still and lifeless again;—no, this is not what God would have; rather would He have our whole life renewed, animated with a principle of quiet earnest faith, built up with Christian love. If we look at the life of our blessed Lord, we see the picture of uniform quiet welldoing, passive meekness, active love, a life of union with God, of goodwill towards mankind: and his is the most perfect specimen of Christian life, whose conduct in this world the most nearly approaches that heavenly pattern, whose life is not one of feverish fits, hot and cold as external circumstances may influence it, but of continual warmth fed by faith and love.

And indeed, Christian Brethren, I think that all of us are so placed in this world, that we may well lay to heart the need of deepening and strengthening our faith; we may be in smooth water now, but the winds and waves may one

day swell and rise, and then, as in the case of the Apostles on the lake of Galilee, the question will rise, "Where is your faith?" it is not the calm weather that tries whether the ship is tightly built, but the hurricane and the storm; and so it is not spiritual prosperity which tries of what stuff our faith is made, but the day of temptation and adversity. For instance, a man is in ease and comfort, and he blesses God and lives in His fear; but the time may come when God will take away his wealth and make his lot hard, as in the case of the patriarch Job, and then will come the trial whether his faith is firm, and whether he can bless God in adversity. He believes now, will he believe then? Or again, a man is in health and is living as he supposes a life of faith in Christ; but sickness will come sooner or later, and the quiet chamber, and the painful days and weary nights, and the approach of death: will his faith stand then? Or again, a young person is living under a parent's eye, and his ways are watched and he is warned of evil and kept as far as possible in the ways of holiness, and the young person has never had his faith tried and doubts not of its strength: does he now believe? God have mercy upon him and keep him in the faith; but soon the trial will come when the parent's

eye is removed and he becomes his own master, and sees evil around him, and is in the midst of bad companions and snares of all kinds; and the question is, will be believe then? many have started fairly, and have forsaken Christ and fled when they have seen His enemies near. And so of numberless instances; God only knows how important an application our Saviour's warning may have to each one of us; wherefore I would say, let us look to it well that our faith is deep and well-rooted, like a house built by a wise man on a rock, that we have something more than a name to live while we are dead, that our faith is such as will stand against the storms of this troublesome world, and last until it is lost in the vision of God. And how shall we strengthen and deepen our faith? a wide question, Brethren, and one which would require much time to answer it fully: this only I will say, that faith in God and Christ is best strengthened and supported by doing God's will: he whom Christ likened to a wise man, who built his house on a rock, was he who heard His sayings and did them. That is the key to the whole secret: he who actively does Christ's will, and endeavours to walk in all things as Christ would have him to walk, worshipping Him revently in all His ordinances, will

by God's grace grow to fulness of faith in Him; so that he will believe not only in the sunshine of Christian life, but also in temptation and trial, the hour of death and the day of judgment, his faith will be living and strong, and he shall live by his faith.

# SERMON XI.

### THE FOLLY OF UNBELIEF.

## PSALM liii. 1, 2.

The fool hath said in his heart, There is no God. Corrupt are they, and have done abominable iniquity: there is none that doeth good.

God looked down from heaven upon the children of men to see if there were any that did understand, that did seek God.

I SUPPOSE that when David wrote these words he was alluding to no imaginary case; that is he was not fancying what men might do, but was speaking of what they actually did, when he described a man as saying in his heart "There is no God." There were Atheists in David's days, practical Atheists at least, as there have been in all days, and probably ever will be; and the general bearing of the Psalm, from which the text is taken, teaches us pretty clearly the judgment which David formed of them. You will observe, that from the expression of the first

verse of the Psalm, "The fool hath said in his heart, there is no God," David at once goes off into a description of the abominably wicked lives of those who said so; the man who says there is no God is declared by David to be a fool, a man wanting in judgment, in clearness of head, in powers of reasoning; this is an imputation upon his mind, his intellect: but the matter does not rest there, for David does not proceed to deplore the weakness of the Atheist's faculties, but the rottenness of the Atheist's heart; he says they are corrupt, altogether become abominable. And I think it is clear from the tone of the whole Psalm that David concluded, not so much that a man was led by the dimness of his intellect to deny God, and then fell into wickedness and persecution of God's people, and the like, but rather that the man first fell away into evil courses, became corrupt and abominable, did not seek God and so of course did not find Him, went away backward, became filthy, and then finally said in his heart "there is no God." The Atheist therefore, on this supposition, was led to his atheism by no strict process of reasoning, but by a wicked course of life; he was probably brought up to fear God and believe in Him, but temptation got the better of his early principles, he fell away by little and little, and as he fell further into sin, he trembled at the thought of the God of vengeance of whom in his childhood he had heard; but what shall he do? leave off sinning he cannot, that were too great a sacrifice; the pleasures of sin have thrown such a spell around him, that he is bewitched and cannot draw back; at length a light opens upon his mind, but it is a light such as in swampy places sometimes tempts a traveller from the right way; no light of the sun, no guiding star: and what is the light? it is this, that after all perhaps the vengeance of God against sin is but a cunning fable, an invention of priests, a mere bugbear to frighten children; and to a man who is determined to sin this is right comfortable doctrine; and it is easy to believe true what we wish to be true, and what could a man who has become corrupt and abominable wish to be truer than that there should be no God? And thus the man is led by his sinful life to say, "there is no God!" it is no conclusion of the reason, but the reason of the man given up to wickedness and lust is degraded from its high position, to give a false-hearted and mocking assent to the conclusion of the unreasoning and unruly passions.

Such I think is manifestly the course to the denial of God, as it appeared to David when he wrote the Psalm upon which I am speaking;

yet he does not commence by saying "the sensual man," or "the corrupt man," or "the murderous man," hath said in his heart there is no God, but the fool hath said this; and though, as every one must have observed, there is a continual connexion in Holy Scripture between sin and folly, as there is between holiness and wisdom, still there seems to be something intentionally emphatic about the charge against the Atheist in the text; as though the wickedness of a man in saying "there is no God" were lost in the folly of it; as though when David heard a man sneeringly remark that there was no God, he forgot for a moment the man's sensuality and licentiousness in his astonishment at his weakness. And I conceive that there would be something very cutting in the words of the text for this reason, that they who take upon themselves to say "there is no God," or in other important matters to deny what good people believe, do uniformly take to themselves the credit of being more clearsighted, wiser, more philosophical than their neighbours; and the last thing they would expect would be this, that a believer would say of them as David did, "It is only the fool who speaks thus." Nothing could, I think, hurt the pride of an unbeliever more than this; and nothing also could be better for him, nothing more likely to shake

him in his proud conclusions, than to find that a man capable of judging, knowing his premises and his conclusions, should not say, this man is a deep speculator and has a great deal to advance in support of his views, but on the other hand should at once break through all his reasonings and come to the conclusion that he is mad.

Now let us for a moment consider the words of the text, "The fool hath said in his heart, there is no God," with reference merely to the folly of it, without saying one word about the corrupt state of heart which may have led to the conclusion. Of course this is a most extensive subject, and I can only say a few words, which must be most inadequate to put it all before you. Still if the folly be so egregious, it cannot require many words to expose it.

Suppose then a man to say absolutely "there is no God,"—not denying merely a God who presides over the world and punishes the wicked and rewards the just, nor denying merely the God in whom we believe as Christians, but a God altogether; thus going beyond the heathens, as some few profess to have done. Then in this very extreme case the folly is so palpable that all nature seems to protest against it; the question, Who made all these things? confounds such miserable atheism: we are told that the world

is governed by chance, by necessity, or by some such pretended principle; all of them words observe, mere words; for what is chance? what is necessity? and how is it possible for any but a fool to separate the ideas of order, regularity, law, such as we see exhibited in the world from the belief in a presiding mind? Indeed this kind of unbelief is so manifestly and monstrously foolish, that I think it may be questioned whether many have really held it; I am sure that you will all account it as the reasoning of the fool, and will contrast it with delight with such words as those of David, "The heavens declare the glory of God, and the firmament sheweth His handiwork."

But there is another form of denial of God, which is more reasonable, or at least not so utterly preposterous as that of which I have just now spoken; and this is the denial that God rules and governs the world by just laws, punishing the wicked and rewarding the just; a kind of denial this, which is alluded to in the Psalm, "and yet they say, Tush, God shall not see it." This view also may, I think, without much difficulty, be convicted of folly. For let us consider; is it possible to think of God as being otherwise than perfect? surely not—an imperfect God is no God at all; if perfect, then He must be perfect

in goodness, in holiness, in truth. You can only deny this by saying that there are no such things as goodness, holiness, and truth; but you cannot well say this, because your own heart will testify that you honour a good man, you cannot help it; you respect a man who leads a holy, simple, unselfish life; you hate a falsehearted, lying character, that is, you reverence truth; therefore, unless you overthrow all distinctions in the world, and say that truth and lies are one, that villainy and honesty are one, that licentiousness and purity are one, you cannot deny that there are such things as goodness, as holiness, as truth, which our souls acknowledge to be excellent and reverence accordingly. And if so, must not God be perfect in all such qualities? in fact, is it possible to conceive of such as being anything else than the reflexion of His matchless perfections? You must therefore grant, unless you make yourselves better than God, that God is perfect in goodness and holiness and truth. And if so, is it possible that God should have created this world and established in it a wonderful order of natural things. day and night, summer and winter, and all the other mysteries of His universe, and yet taken no thought about the good and the evil which exist in it? is it possible that He can smile equally on the unholy and the holy, the false

and the true, the murderer and the saint? is it conceivable that S. John and Judas Iscariot should be equally pleasing to their Maker, differing from each other merely as two stones of different colour differ? Surely all this is monstrous; it is not merely contrary to the Bible, or to the inventions of priests, but it is utterly opposed to the plainest dictates of reason: and therefore I am not surprised that where there has been no revelation of God (in the ordinary sense of the term), still not only has God been almost universally believed, but He has been believed to be a just God, one who would not love the guilty; those words of S. Paul in fact speak the universal verdict of mankind, "that he who will come to God must believe that He is,"-and not only so, but "that He is the rewarder of them that diligently seek Him." Therefore I find no difficulty in agreeing with the expression of the text, that he who in this way denies God by making Him only the Creator and Preserver, and not the righteous Ruler and Judge, gives evidence thereby of his folly.

There is however one other manner in which a man may deny God. He may allow all that I have contended for hitherto, and may agree with me that it is contrary to sound reason to deny it; but he may still refuse homage to that

God, whom we worship as revealed to us in the Lord Jesus Christ. We know that there are such persons, that there always have been such; and we know that the leaders of such a party have accounted themselves as clearsighted beyond others, men of great freedom of thought, not slaves to vulgar prejudices, but rather men who have risen above all vulgar prejudices into an atmosphere of their own. Well, men may be wise in their own conceits without being really wise, and it seems very possible that these infidels may after all be of the class of David's fool. If this be so, it will not take long to shew it; for folly consists not in searching deeply into a great body of evidence and coming to a wrong conclusion after all, the wisest man may in some cases do this; but genuine folly consists in missing the truth, when it stands out clear and palpable to every one, who with an honest heart will open his eyes to it. I shall not therefore go into a long discussion of evidences, but shall put two or three simple points before you, from which I think the folly of those who deny God, or rather who deny the Lord Jesus Christ, may appear open and manifest. In the first place it is to be remarked, that most holy and thoughtful men have found in the revelation which God has made to man through the Lord Jesus Christ the satisfaction of all their spiritual wants; they have wanted peace, and they have found it there; they have wanted high motives to holiness, and they have found them there; they have wanted strength to fight against evil, and they have found the strength they required; they have wanted an example of all that is pure and holy, an image of God in this imperfect world, a light to lighten them, and they have found all this in the Gospel of Jesus Christ. In fact, the religion of Christ is the only instrument whereby the human character has been rendered, I will not say perfect, but really admirable and beautiful: there may be apparent exceptions to this statement, but if we take the estimate of excellence which as Christians we are in the habit of forming, if we consider how much we require of a man before we can allow him a high place as a pure and holy man, we shall see I think that the statement is generally true; as indeed we might almost conclude from this, that in our language the name of Christian includes in itself all that is gentle and lovely and of good report. But further, in estimating the reality of the revelation which God has made to us in Jesus Christ, it is necessary to observe the wonderful power that the revelation has had; how it has broken up kingdoms and formed others, how it has reduced whole nations

to its dominion, and then civilized and informed them; how it has unquestionably been the mainspring, the chief mover, of all the history of the world since the time that Christ came: a man must I say take into account all this; he does not come upon Christianity as a new thing, to be unravelled for himself out of the Bible by such ingenuity as he may have, but he sees it as the admitted destroyer of idol-worship, the faith which, as it would admit of no rival, so in all countries where it has once taken root has abolished all rivals. The mustard-tree of Christ's kingdom, which has spread its branches as Christ said it should, has made such a wondrous growth that the only way of accounting for its existence seems to be to believe, that the mustard-seed itself was of God, and that it has been watered by the dews of heaven. And once more, it is to be noted that if Christ be not "the way, the truth, and the life," at least there is no other; either God has revealed Himself in Christ, or He has not revealed Himself at all; for there is no other religion in this world, which any one will pretend to substitute; the rankest infidel will not tell us that the religions of the East are more reasonable, more credible than that of the Lord Jesus Christ; therefore, if Christ be not the revelation of God, we have no revelation

of Him, except the imperfect whisperings of our own minds, and those lessons which nature teaches us. And is this a reasonable belief? When the whole world has been hungering and thirsting after some revelation of God, seeking by all kinds of worship and inquiry of oracles to catch a voice from God more clear and distinct than that which nature affords,-nay, when, in default of articulate utterances from Heaven, men have sought in sorcery and witchcraft and charms for some voice from Hell, is it reasonable I say to believe, that God has never satisfied this earnest longing by giving us any true revelation of Himself? From such cold, sickening, deadening thoughts of God's righteous government, how do those words float like music upon our ears from the mouth of our sacred Lord, "He that hath seen Me hath seen the Father. I will not leave you comfortless. I am the way, the truth, and the life. To the poor the Gospel is preached."

This is a very painful subject to enter upon, Christian Brethren. I must almost ask your pardon for speaking of the denial of your faith in this house of God, where we are met not to doubt or deny, but to fall down and worship and love. Yet as the text has brought the subject before us, I have thought that it may not be without its use to point out to you, how that it may be

made to appear true now, as in the time of David, that it is only the fool, who says "there is no God;" I have thought that this may be useful, because I do not know to what influence you may be exposed, especially the younger amongst you; you may be compelled to mix with, and resist the poison of, those who say there is no God; and if you are, you will almost surely find that they will lay claim to a superior intelligence, will pique themselves on their wisdom, will boast themselves to be above foolish prejudices; and under such circumstances it may be of the utmost advantage to have printed in your minds, in legible characters, the verdict of David, "the fool hath said in his heart, there is no God."

I have time to say but one word concerning the second verse of the text in this connexion. David, as I have already observed, passes abruptly from the speech of the fool's heart to the state of his heart: "corrupt are they, and become abominable in their wickedness." What are we to learn from this part of the text? surely this most true and valuable lesson, that the denial of God generally proceeds from the heart more than from the intellect: I do not now enter into particulars; doubtless the faith may sometimes be tried even of those who are holiest and best; but I have no doubt that a great deal of practical denial (at all

events) of God and Christ has come about in this way: a man has indulged his passions, has given way to vice and temptation, has become the slave of his lusts, has got his mind sensualized, and then Satan suggests to him, "perhaps after all there is no God, who cares what kind of life you lead"a welcome message to such a man, one easily believed true; and then how easy to sneer at the devices of priests, and the paid professors of religion. I do not say that this is so in all cases; for when systematic attempts are made to destroy the faith of mankind, it is not to be wondered at if in some instances the belief of simple men should be disturbed; but depend upon it, the fear of a future judgment, and the wish to get free from the thought of it at any cost, is the root of much unbelief.

But without speculating further concerning the root of unbelief in others, let me say a few words to you, Christian Brethren, concerning your own faith. By God's blessing we have as Christians such a revelation of Himself as at once satisfies our reason and warms our hearts; we see our race fallen in Adam, but reconciled to God in Christ; we recognize as the great spiritual cornerstone of our faith that mystery of godliness, that deep unsearchable mystery, God manifest in the flesh. With this faith firmly fixed in our

minds we need not fear; things present and things to come, all are ours; and therefore it is for us to strive by all means to hold fast this faith; nothing can compensate us for the loss of it; there is no truth in earth or heaven, no philosophy that wit of man has devised, which can by possibility be substituted for it; if we have it, we are rich in a cottage; if we have it not, we are poor though in a palace. Therefore it may well be the earnest desire of our lives ever to hold fast this faith; and sometimes we may think it impossible that it should be shaken; we may have realized all the truths of our religion at some moments so vividly, that we may deem it impossible that ever we should let them slip. And yet doubts and fears do sometimes trouble the mind; the best of men have sometimes felt them; it may be that to experience them is part of our appointed discipline in this world: if then any person should be so tempted and tried, I should remind him of our blessed Lord's promise, "He that will do the will of God shall know of My doctrine, whether it be of God or whether I speak of Myself." You see that our Lord gives an essentially practical rule for strengthening our faith; He does not say, shut yourself up in your study and go carefully through all the evidences and weigh them with an unbiassed mind,-but,

go and do God's will. And so when He heard the Pharisees disbelieving, He did not say, how can ye believe who will not look into evidences?but, "how can ye believe which receive honour one of another, and seek not the honour which cometh of God only?" Here was the defect: the Pharisees were well read in the Law, men of acute minds, cultivated intellects: if Christ were the Messiah, why could not they, who were actually looking for Him, recognize His true character? because they were seeking their own glory, seeking honour one of another, and not that which comes of God. What a strange reproof was this to those who piqued themselves upon their wisdom! Christian Brethren, let us learn a lesson from it; let us learn that the true road to a clear sight of our Saviour is by an earnest holy life; here is one mark of the heavenly character of the religion of Christ, that while the wise cannot find it out by their wisdom, the simple and the humble can find it through holiness: if therefore you would have clearer and stronger faith, live more holy, self-denying lives; live more for the honour of God and less for your own; do more for your neighbours and less to please yourselves; bring under your bodies, and bring them into subjection; in fact, realize more and more in your lives, that you are born to do the. will of God. And surely, Christian Brethren, the fruit of active holiness shall be that which God has promised by His prophet, "then shall thy light break forth as the morning, and thy health shall spring forth speedily: and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall be thy rereward. Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall answer; thou shalt cry, and He shall say, 'Here I am.'"

## SERMON XII.

#### CHARACTER OF FELIX.

Acts xxiv. 24, 25, 26, 27.

And after certain days, when Felix came with his wife Drusilla, which was a Jewess, he sent for Paul, and heard him concerning the faith in Christ.

And as he reasoned of righteousness, temperance, and judgment to come, Felix trembled, and answered, Go thy way for this time; when I have a convenient season, I will call for thee.

He hoped also that money should have been given him of Paul, that he might loose him: wherefore he sent for him the oftener, and communed with him.

But after two years, Porcius Festus came into Felix' room: and Felix, willing to shew the Jews a pleasure, left Paul bound.

This is a passage which must be familiar to you all. Felix' convenient season has become quite a common word in our mouths, and I suppose there is scarcely one amongst us to whom Felix has not been held up, either by parents, or ministers, or Sunday-school teachers, as a warning of the danger of putting off till to-morrow what

ought to be done to-day. He is preeminent in fact amongst those unhappy men, who, though they have done little in their lifetime to forward the cause of religion and holiness, have nevertheless been eminent instruments, in spite of themselves, of warning their fellows of the danger of sin and the necessity of fleeing from the wrath to come; even as Lot's wife, though she perished herself by looking back upon Sodom, has been a lesson to all ages of the danger of hankering after forbidden pleasures; and Esau has been a teacher of the sin of selling spiritual privileges for a mess of pottage; and Pharaoh has been a sermon on the awfulness of a hardened heart: and Saul an instance of the manner in which fine capacities for good can be rendered useless by wilfulness and a spirit of rebellion. Thus I say, that Felix, though himself most miserable, miserable even in this world by his subsequent disgrace, and yet having laid up his treasure here and not in heaven, has nevertheless been made, by that good providence of God which brings good out of evil, a standing lesson upon the danger of putting off,-especially in those things which concern our spirits' peace, -of putting off till a convenient season that work which, if ever it is to be done, ought to be done now.

Nevertheless I must remark that, although the

history of Felix is undoubtedly to be regarded in this light, yet it appears to me that the circumstances of his case are not generally rightly understood. Thus I think that when the text speaks of Felix sending away S. Paul, and promising to call for him again when he had a convenient season, it is not to be understood that that convenient season never came; I think that this convenient season did come and come again; yea I think that it is the very feature of awfulness about the history, that Felix had convenient seasons such as scarce any man else ever had, that he had not the excuse of having no opportunities of warning and repentance, but contrariwise, had the great Apostle of the Gentiles at his bidding, and had interview after interview with him, and heard from those wonderful lips the stern honest denunciation of his sins, and yet never repented: if it had been but once that he had trembled and sent S. Paul away, and the subject of their conversation had never been renewed, then we might have wondered that a man should have been made to tremble and not have been made to repent, but the case would not have been so bad as in matter of fact it was; for the text tells us, that Felix sent for Paul often and communed with him; it was no solitary interview, that in which the text tells us that Felix trembled; no, the same thing happened again and again; Felix thought that Paul would be ransomed, and Felix loved money, and therefore, though he must have hated S. Paul's warning voice, yet he cherished the hope of making gain, and on that account sent often to see him. So that if we were to conclude from the second verse of the text, which speaks so emphatically of "a convenient season," that S. Paul at his first interview reasoned with Felix and made him tremble, and then, being dismissed until a convenient season should occur, was probably never permitted to open the unpleasant subject again, it seems to me that we should miss a great part of the meaning of the story.

What I conceive to be the truth is this. Felix the governor of Judæa was a very depraved man, one to whom S. Paul would have believed it his duty, when opportunity occurred, to speak plainly concerning his vicious life; the Jewess Drusilla was another's wife and was living with him in sin, and his conduct as governor was so infamous and oppressive as afterwards to lead to his disgrace. Now Felix loved money, and knowing that S. Paul had come up to Jerusalem for the express purpose of bringing alms and offerings for his brethren, he looked upon him as one whose captivity might be turned to his own advantage,

by wringing out of him a large ransom for his liberty. It would seem also that Felix had some knowledge of the principles of the religion of the Christians, for he is spoken of as one who "had a more perfect knowledge of that way;" and though he seems never to have thought of becoming a Christian himself, yet he was well satisfied that there was nothing in their doctrine or way of life so dangerous as the ignorant supposed; he knew that they were men who followed peace with all, that the weapons of their warfare were not carnal, and therefore that S. Paul was one who without any danger to his own government might be set at liberty, and if he could persuade him to buy his liberty, so much the better. And here is the first deadly sin of Felix with respect to S. Paul, that although he manifestly considered him an innocent man, insomuch that he gave orders that his prisoner should have his liberty and be allowed to hold intercourse with his acquaintance, yet he was too timid or too covetous to let him go altogether. No, he would keep him in custody, and see to what advantage he could turn his imprisonment: so he sent for Paul, and appears to have treated him kindly, permitting him to speak on the subject which was ever uppermost in the Apostle's mind, namely the faith of Christ. And if S. Paul had confined

himself to matters which did not touch Felix personally, Felix would have listened to him with pleasure; but the doctrine of Christ necessarily brought in the subject of righteousness, temperance, and a judgment to come,—fearful subjects these for a man who was oppressing the people committed to his charge, who was living in adultery, and who was abusing his own office of judge by holding a man in chains whom in his heart he knew to be innocent. But Felix was not a man to look his sins in the face and forsake them, nor yet was he one of those whose consciences are seared so that they can look at their sins and laugh; he was rather in that middle state which is so very common, in which a man can continue in sin and be alarmed when he thinks of his spiritual state, and yet say like the sluggard, "a little more sleep, a little more slumber, a little more folding of the arms to sleep." So Felix cut the matter short, by sending his unwelcome monitor away; Paul went and Drusilla remained, and then Felix' trembling fit was over, and he became himself again. Then again he would send for S. Paul, and hint at the possibility of his restoration to freedom, and tempt him to offer a bribe; but he misunderstood his prisoner's character; Paul was not a man to make a way for escape, when God's will did not appear to sanction him, and therefore again he would introduce the subject of his ministry, and again his reasoning of righteousness, temperance, and judgment to come would make Felix send him away in alarm. Still the hope of gain led Felix to send for Paul; when the convenient season would have arrived if it had not been for this, I cannot say; but as it was, I believe that Felix often made it convenient, and often sent his prisoner away, when he heard nothing of a bribe for liberty, and much of righteousness and temperance and judgment to come. And these matters went on until Felix was removed from his post; and being anxious in every way to please the Jews, whom he knew he had injured by his evil government, he sacrificed Paul's liberty to his own advantage and left him in bonds.

So much for the history of Felix' interviews with S. Paul: now, before I make application of the history to ourselves, let me draw your attention especially to these three points. First: note this, that Felix was not a man altogether ignorant of the religion which Paul preached; he is, on the other hand, spoken of as one who had a more perfect knowledge of that way, that is, of the religion of Christ; this you are to bear in mind, in order that you may not attribute his rejection of S. Paul's warnings to an entire igno-

cance of the claims which S. Paul had upon his attention. Secondly: you are to note that Felix' neart was not wholly hardened, his conscience not wholly seared; he was a man who had sinned grievously, who sinned against light and knowedge, and therefore was, so to speak, on the high road to utter hardness and blindness of heart; but he had not arrived at that condition yetif he had, he would not have trembled when Paul spoke of judgment to come; for this is the strange characteristic of sin, when carried to the extent of producing spiritual blindness and hardness of heart, that those solemn glimpses of an unseen world, those feelings of horror at the thought of the loss of God's favour, become at length like the dreams of infancy, and are regarded as little; but Felix trembled,—then his conscience was yet alive,—then he was not absolutely dead, and therefore no one may venture to put away the case of Felix from himself as not coming near him, on the score of Felix being unlike himself, that is, utterly dead to all spiritual impressions. And thirdly: you must remark, that although Felix was not ignorant of the claims of the Gospel, and was not utterly beyond hope as being spiritually dead, still he was able to make the warnings of S. Paul utterly useless; Felix trembled, but he did nothing more; he acknowledged the truth of Paul's words by his present fear and distress, but he gave the lie to his convictions by going on in sin; Felix' mind was disturbed as by the sudden gust of a storm, but there was no abiding impression, no deep lasting effect, and so the storm passed over and he rested in his sins unchanged. And the reason why you are to note this is, that you may see in Felix a proof, that it is possible for a man who has a tolerably perfect knowledge of that way, and whose heart is still susceptible of religious impressions, to render spiritual advantages useless, yea to hear even the words of an Apostle, and still remain without repentance and therefore without holiness.

Now then, Christian Brethren, let me take a more directly personal view of the subject before us; and do you give me your serious attention, whilst I try to point out several ways in which the case of Felix may be an example to us. I have already endeavoured to prevent you from passing by the story as though it had no warning for yourselves, and I would beg of you to search rather for those points which do come home to you, than to dwell upon those which make Felix' case different from your own. For my part, I confess that the history of Felix seems to bring out in a very pointed way much which belongs to the spiritual history of numbers in every

Christian congregation; and when I have brought two or three points before you, I will then take occasion to ask you, whether there be no one amongst yourselves who can find in the history of Felix' mind some touches of the experience of his own.

First, then, is it not a besetting sin of us all to be afraid, or to be too idle, to look into our consciences? to examine our acts, our thoughts, our words, and see whether in each day they have been such as God will approve? is it not in fact the very tendency of fallen man ever to follow the example of his first parents, and hide himself from the searching eye of God? if this were not so, men could not live such unprofitable lives; they must be improving in their spiritual condition; they must be getting free from sinful desires and becoming more holy in their thoughts, approaching more nearly to that state which the Scripture calls walking with God. Few of us, comparatively speaking, do as we ought in this respect; serious thoughts of holiness in this world and judgment in another come upon us and are dismissed; at first they make us tremble, we feel their awfulness, but the din of the world deafens us, its sights dazzle us, and we do not act up to our convictions, we do not keep a watch over our hearts and a bridle upon

our lips, and so the convictions become less vivid, and at length perhaps our conscience, like Paul, is left in chains. Now if this be something like the history of many of those who call themselves Christians, and who yet manifest no earnest Christian life, how do such differ from Felix, who heard the warning voice and trembled, but who, because he only trembled and did not act, did not look his sins in the face, did not deal honestly with Paul, did not deal honestly with his own convictions, rendered his warnings useless, and remained in sin?

Again, are there not many who listen weekly to sermons, and in them hear Christ's ministers, as Felix heard S. Paul, "concerning the faith of Christ," who yet are none the better for what they hear? they are covetous, perhaps, and they remain covetous; or they are illtempered, and they remain illtempered; or they are fond of dress, and they remain fond of dress; or they sit in their pews, though compelled by no weakness of body, and listen at their ease to confession and absolution and prayers, instead of kneeling on their knees, and they continue to do so; or they neglect God's ordinance of the Holy Supper, and they continue to neglect it; or they fall short of the right standard of Christian excellence, and the weekly sermons do not move them a step;

and yet they listen, and they sometimes applaud, yea, such grace may be given to God's servants that their words may even cause trembling, when they speak of righteousness, temperance, and a judgment to come; we may be able to account for this or not, but whether or no, I feel convinced that the fact is as I have said; and if it be so, shall we marvel at Felix, or think the tale not true to human nature, when we read that he too listened time after time to sermons, sermons from an Apostle, sermons which at first made him tremble, but which he contrived so to keep out of his heart of hearts that they left no permanent sting behind them, and at last became mere idle words?

Again, is there nothing Felix-like in the manner in which people very frequently treat those warnings of God, which more clearly than any human words speak of righteousness, temperance, and a judgment to come? Every one, at least every minister, must have met with instances, in which the subsequent life has in a lamentable manner belied the trembling professions of a sick-bed; I have sometimes heard such declarations of what should be done, if God should be pleased to restore health and strength, that I have thought it right to give warning of the danger of transient impressions, especially when those impressions are

produced by the presence of great bodily weakness, and in the absence of all possible allurements to the vanity and sins of the world; and then I have seen health restored, and carelessness with it, and I have compared with a heavy heart the professions of sickness with the performances of restored health. Now is not this mode of treating God's messenger very like Felix' mode of treating S. Paul, trembling in his presence while that presence brought before his mind a judgment to come, and then when he was present no longer following his own ways? Oh, my Brethren, God knows there is many a Felix in our days who has saddened a minister's heart!

Once more: may we not see in Felix generally a type of want of seriousness in religion? What was Felix' characteristic fault in his intercourse with S. Paul? just this; that he thought it safe to listen to the faith of Christ, yea to send often for one who could teach him that faith, and yet not to give his serious attention to the subject. Felix had a knowledge of that way, and seems to have wished to have a more perfect knowledge; he did not forbid Paul to speak upon it, on the contrary he listened to him again and again; and yet all this knowledge and hearing never went below the surface of his heart; it was not a deep stirring of the waters of the pool, shewing

that God's angel was at work in it, but a mere ripple on the surface which soon passed over; no, there was no seriousness in Felix' mind, religion was not to him the life of his soul, he did not ponder Paul's words deeply to see whether he spoke truth or no, he did not examine himself to see whether that trembling which came over him when S. Paul spoke was mere childish weakness or was intended as the beginning of deeper tremblings still: and now I think we have got at the root of Felix' character; it was a character wanting in deep solemn feeling, wanting in judgment as to the value of things, unable to see for more than a transient moment the awfulness of those thoughts, which made him tremble when they were uttered by S. Paul. And if this be so, may we not find a parallel to the character of Felix in many amongst ourselves? nay, Brethren, I will not say who is like him, but who is not like him more or less? who does not find this want of seriousness in religion, this want of an abiding sense of the awfulness of God's presence and of our condition before Him, who does not find this, I say, the great drawback to his soul's growth, the great canker that eats into his health, the great weight which draws him downwards when God and good angels would raise him to heaven? If Felix was a man who trifled with

his more solemn convictions, who did not take that deep abiding view of the importance of religion which he ought, who trembled sometimes but did not tremble always, and yet did not change his trembling into rejoicing in the Lord always, then it seems to me that Felix must for ever be a type of many within the pale of the Christian Church.

In conclusion then, Christian Brethren, I return to the question which I promised to ask; and I ask you whether there is any one among you, who can find in the history and character of Felix some touches of his own religious experience? Is there any one among you who feels constrained to say in his heart, I am like him? Is there any one who trifles with his own conscience, and will not look into it, but dismisses it continually until a convenient season arrives? or is there any whose heart condemns him for having trembled in this place on the Sunday and forgotten his trembling during the week, or for having heard lessons here and never practised them, or for having received in the Church views of religion which the return to the business of life has dissipated and destroyed? or is there any one who is conscious of having made vows to God in trouble and distress, which he has forgotten to pay when the trouble and distress

were gone by? and lastly, is there any one whose heart reproaches him for want of seriousness in his religion, for suffering other gods in his heart besides the true one, for refusing to the Lord Jesus Christ that central place in his thoughts and affections, which His characters of Redeemer, Saviour, Brother, declare of right to belong to Him? Is there one? nay, Brethren, do we not all feel ourselves in some way condemned? and if so, shall we not all join in one spirit and say, O Thou! in whom alone our spirits live, give us grace that we may never fall from Thee, but walking in Thy ways with seriousness and worshipping Thee in spirit and truth, may ever "grow in grace and in the knowledge of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ."

## SERMON XIII.

(Preached on the 2nd Sunday in Advent.)

### JUSTIFICATION BY FAITH.

S. James ii. 26.

For as the body without the spirit is dead, so faith without works is dead also.

THE Collect for this day, Christian Brethren, teaches us the manner in which we are to regard Holy Scripture; it teaches us that all the holy Scriptures have been given to us for our instruction, not to be the subject of angry controversies and the storehouse of party weapons, but to make us wise unto salvation; and it teaches us that the true way to profit by God's gift is to read them attentively, comparing one part with another, using (as I conceive) all convenient helps for the right understanding of them, and moreover striving earnestly so to enter into their spirit that we may truly be said to have inwardly

digested them. And I may remark by the way, that this is a very excellent phrase, this of inwardly digesting, because the Scriptures are our spiritual food, and he who merely knows the letter of the Scripture, is like a man whose food does not nourish him, whose digestive powers are disordered and whose food therefore gives no support; whereas he who has entered into the spirit of the Scriptures, and received into his heart the mighty truths of redemption and mercy which they contain, has indeed found a food for his soul which will be a real source of support and enable him to live and grow.

Now persons have manifestly not recognized the true use of the Scriptures, when they have exalted one New Testament writer above another, or have maintained that there was opposition between their teaching; and one cannot help feeling surprised that there should ever have lived persons within the Church, who should thus have abused Holy Scripture; nevertheless you must be well aware, at least many of you, that there often has been a kind of war in the Church respecting the sayings of S. Paul and S. James concerning the nature of faith; some thinking their doctrines contradictory, and in their zeal for one Apostle saying most unwarrantable things concerning the other, and others again spending much time and

learning in endeavouring to reconcile the teaching of the two. Of course there must be some appearance of contrariety in the writings of the two Apostles to have led to this decision; if the statements of the two had gone clearly side by side, there could have been no controversy raised; and therefore I can well believe that there may be in the minds even of some of you some lurking difficulties on this subject; why should there not, when so many have felt such difficulties before you? I think it well, therefore, to take an opportunity of saying something to you of S. James's doctrine as compared with S. Paul's: if when you read the Epistle of S. James, the thought ever rises in the mind of any of you, "how does this teaching agree with that of the Epistle to the Romans?" then I shall be glad to attempt the answer of such a question honestly and fairly; and the more so, because I am sure that you will understand and appreciate S. Paul better, if you thoroughly recognize the force of the teaching of S. James, and that the comparison of the two will end in the conviction not of their opposition but of their harmony, and will assist you in that profitable study of the Holy Scriptures, for God's assistance in which we have this day prayed.

Of course you cannot expect, nor is it desirable,

that I should give you in the compass of a short sermon an account of all that has been written concerning the subject which we have in hand. All that I shall attempt will be, to give you such general leading thoughts as I have found satisfactory to my own mind; and I think that if I can only put you on the right road and point out the way to a clear solution of the difficulty, you will have no hindrance in coming to the conclusion of the journey by yourselves.

Let me premise, that although for shortness' sake I have read to you only the last verse of the second chapter of S. James as a text, yet I should prefer that you should consider as my text the whole passage commencing at the 14th verse; for it is there that the subject begins, which continues to the end of the chapter. S. James introduces the subject by asking, what profit there can possibly be in a man professing that he has faith and has no works; and I suppose from the fact of his introducing the subject thus, that there were persons who did assert for themselves this kind of faith; and if it be argued that such a notion was founded upon the doctrine of S. Paul, I should not care to deny it, but would at once admit that probably it was; the more so, as such a view of his doctrine would only be parallel to that distortion of his teaching concerning grace

of which he himself speaks, "Let us sin that grace may abound:" I do not say that the notion was founded on S. Paul's doctrine, but would admit that probably it was; yet if it was, I am quite sure that S. Paul would repudiate it quite as much as S. James, and that it is not S. Paul whom S. James opposes, but those who caricatured and abused, either ignorantly or else maliciously, the doctrine of faith which S. Paul preached: so far from opposing S. Paul, S. James opposes those who would utterly subvert S. Paul's teaching and evacuate it of its meaning, and turn the grace of God into lasciviousness, and make that faith in Christ, for which the Epistle to the Romans contends so earnestly, instead of a living energetic principle, the merest emptiest sound that ever man's lips uttered. It requires no forced interpretations, no paring down of strong expressions on both sides, to make this appear; no, let the full meaning of each Apostle be brought out in all its breadth and distinctness, the more clearly the better, and it will be seen that so far from S. James being opposed to S. Paul, he is his most valuable interpreter; and the passage of S. James upon which I am speaking, so far from being a difficulty to the Church, may very well be regarded as a most valuable treasure, as being a most clear and firm protest against all who in any age of the Church may venture to abuse the doctrine of faith in Christ, and so turn God's truth into a lie.

Now let us look at the teaching of S. James: do not let us allow our minds to be troubled with any fears of his teaching being contrary to S. Paul's, but let us take the passage upon which I am speaking in its simple meaning, and see whether it does not contain that which our consciences at once assent to as good and true. He represents a man as boasting of his faith, of faith not inclusive of works but as opposed to works, of a faith therefore which must be nothing more than a mere belief in a certain number of propositions; he illustrates this kind of faith by taking a parallel instance from everyday life, he says it is like a man professing to have charity without works, as though a man should say to his poor neighbour, You are hungry and I pity you, you are cold and naked and I am very sensible of your condition. What would the reply of the needy person be but this? If you thus pity me, give me warmth and food and clothing. No, says the man of charity without works, that is not according to my principles, I leave the relief of your wants to others, I content myself with assuring you of my sympathy. This is S. James' method of testing by an ex-

ample in common life the religious theory of those, who spoke of having faith without works; and a very excellent method it is, because if men adopt in religion principles which when paralleled in the affairs of common life are shewn at once to be utterly rotten and absurd, then this is proof positive that however the principles in matters of religion may be disguised, yet in reality they are utterly worthless and false. And it is manifest. that in the case cited, faith in our brother's necessities without active relief of his wants, so far from being charity, so far from being in the most remote sense a virtue, is the very essence of hypocrisy, and the most hateful of all cant. S. James finds an example of such faith in Hell; he tells us that if this be faith, the devils have faith too; if faith without works be the faith which Christians are to cultivate, then the devils are saints; for they believe, it is their very torment that they do, they are fully persuaded that God is merciful, and that Jesus Christ came into the world to save sinners; but this belief brings forth no fruit, they are beyond the pale of God's grace, there is no horror at sin, no striving after holiness, no love of God; no, they are devils still, and their firm belief in God only makes them tremble, because they see in His holiness the assurance of their own misery. Then,

turning from this fruitless faith, which flourishes even in Hell, S. James comments on the opposite kind of faith which Abraham displayed; Abraham was, if ever man was, an instance of faith; the Scripture had said of him, that he believed God, and that his faith was counted to him for righteousness; but a moment's consideration of Abraham's life is sufficient to shew, that his faith was altogether different in kind from that of the man who boasted of his faith without works; for the characteristic of Abraham's faith was just this, that it led him to obey the commands of God in a case where all the feelings of nature had to be sacrificed in order that he might obey. What possible resemblance is there between the faith of a man, who says, I believe in God, and there leaves his faith, and that of Abraham, who said very little concerning his faith, but at the command of God offered up his only son Isaac whom he loved? If you call the faith of these two men by the same name, it is evident that you are describing by one common name things utterly and radically distinct; light and darkness, life and death, are not more different than faith shewn by obedience and love, and faith without works. If therefore S. James found, that any Christians of his time had by any means fallen into this misapprehension of what is meant by

being justified by faith, if he found that men rested for salvation on faith as distinct from works, instead of on faith as including works, including holiness and renewal of life and hearty serving of God, can we wonder that he should protest against such a monstrous delusion, and strive to bring them to a sounder mind? Do we not feel, that so far from weakening the doctrine of justification by faith, he is contending for its integrity, that he is confounding those who abused it? does not our conscience assent to the conclusion, that faith without works is dead being alone? if it were possible, as I believe it is not, to choose between faith without works and works without faith, do we not see at once by an unerring instinct, that works are to be preferred, as much as the fruit without the root is better than the root without fruit? and do we not entirely assent to S. James' final sentence, that "as the body without the spirit is dead, so faith without works is dead also"?

So much for the view which S. James has given us of faith and works; a view concerning which we feel inclined to wonder, not so much that any Christian man should ever have stumbled at it, as that ever the doctrine of justification by faith should have been so perverted as to need the correcting doctrine of S. James. Yet men

have frequently fallen into that very quagmire which S. James pointed out, and have ventured to base their hope of salvation through such dead faith, as that of which S. James writes, upon the doctrine of S. Paul. Now therefore let us look for a moment at S. Paul's doctrine; of course I cannot comment upon every passage in which he introduces it, because almost every chapter of his Epistles contains it, but I shall make one or two leading remarks which seem to me to take away all difficulty from the matter.

First, I will observe, that justification by faith is in fact a doctrine belonging of necessity to all true religion, and not to the Christian religion only. This is a truth, which, if it had been borne in mind, would I imagine have saved much controversy: men speak sometimes as though the Gospel had introduced a method of salvation, which is not the completion and perfection of all that went before, but a method utterly opposed to it; as though Abraham and the patriarchs entered heaven by a quite different door from S. Paul and the members of the Christian. Church. But the New Testament teaches differently; S. Paul entirely repudiates the notion of his having made void the law by the doctrine of faith; he shews\* that the principle which

<sup>\*</sup> Romans iv.

justified Abraham was identical with that which he preached as the principle of Christian justification; a conclusion which is confirmed by that Old Testament expression, that "Abraham believed God, and it (that is his faith) was counted unto him for righteousness." And in the Epistle to the Hebrews we have a still further development of this view, and there it is shewn at length how that the principle of faith was the one connecting bond which joined together the saints of God in all ages, and was equally to them all the source of spiritual life. But apart from Scripture arguments, it seems to me clear that in the nature of things faith must be the ground of man's justification before God; for I take it, that the misery of man's condition is this, that he sees the purity of God and his own impurity, and his instinct teaches him that his happiness is in being pure, and yet he finds in himself continual tendency to sin. Now if this be so, it seems to me quite plain, that no unaided efforts of his own can bring about that change in his condition which shall give him peace, that is, in the fullest sense of the words he cannot be saved by his works; the most active man cannot lift himself; if a man feel that God is above him and wish to rise and be with God, then he must be sensible that he requires communion with God;

and when once the man has said from his heart, "My God, I am weak and Thou art strong, pity my weakness and clothe me with Thy strength," when once such an aspiration as this has gone from a man's heart, then he has declared that he cannot be saved by his works, but that he seeks justification by faith. If therefore I wanted any independent confirmation of S. Paul's doctrine of justification by faith, I would seek it in the confession of any man whose spiritual consciousness was ever so slightly awakened, and who sought on his knees before God some communication of the divine life; and I am sure that the earnestness with which such a man would implore help from above would sufficiently shew, that no works of man can establish that union with God which is the life of the human soul.

But, secondly, it may be asked, why, if it be manifest that men cannot be justified by their own deeds, S. Paul was so earnest in asserting the doctrine of justification by faith? In the answer to this lies, I think, the explanation of the chief part of the difficulty: it seems to me quite clear, that when S. Paul wrote with so much earnestness, it was not faith itself for which he was contending, so much as faith in the Lord Jesus Christ, as opposed to faith shewn in any other way. Take for instance the Epistle to the

Romans, his fullest and most elaborate treatise, and you cannot but be struck at once with this, that its argument is throughout against Jews, against men, not who denied the power of faith, but who denied the power of faith in Christ; men who were persuaded that salvation was for the circumcised, and that Christ was not a new and living way: thus, when Abraham is adduced as an instance of faith, it is not with a view to set his faith above his works, as from the language of S. James we may imagine that some wished to do, but to shew that Abraham was not justified in virtue of his circumcision, but in virtue of a faith which he possessed before he received the covenant of circumcision. In fact S. Paul's purpose was, if I may so say, not to preach faith, but to preach Christ; he desired to represent Jesus Christ as having come into the world to establish a new kingdom, a kingdom to which circumcision and Jewish blood should be no introduction, a kingdom for man as man, a kingdom for all nations and tongues and people, a kingdom of purity, righteousness, holiness; and if you asked the way into this kingdom, he would tell you, You must acknowledge Christ as your King, you must believe that Jesus Christ of Nazareth is the Son of God, you must seek the Father through Him; and if he said this, what would it be but

to say, you must be justified by faith? be you Jew or Gentile, it is all one; Christ has knocked down the wall of partition; circumcision is nothing and uncircumcision is nothing; there is but one way to God, and that is by faith in Christ. Now if S. Paul preached the way of salvation thus, who shall say that he put faith before works? he never made the comparison at all, he simply pointed to Christ as the way to the Father, and therefore to union with Christ, or faith in Him, as the only conceivable means of bringing forth fruit to the praise and glory of God.

And this view of the subject will remove another difficulty: sometimes fault is found with teachers for laying too great stress on the Sacraments, as though they taught justification by them in opposition to justification by faith in Christ. Thus one of the homilies speaks of being justified by baptism: is this a phrase that need offend us, or in any way clash with the doctrine of S. Paul? if indeed baptism be a merely outward washing, or if it be merely an initiation into a humanly constituted society, then it would be the very depth of superstition to speak as our homily speaks; but if baptism be the divinelyappointed means of union with Christ, if its only signification can be that it is a grafting a new member into Christ's body, and if the conditions of this entrance into Christ's Church be repentance and faith, then it is not derogatory to S. Paul's doctrine to speak of man as justified in baptism; it is only to assert that Christ's own ordinance is a means of communication with Himself. Or if I should teach a man feeling the burden of sin to seek relief at the Table of the Lord, that is in fact, to seek there that justification, which having received a man has peace with God through the Lord Jesus Christ, should I be liable to the reproach of preaching justification by other means than by faith in Christ alone? I should indeed, if that sacrament were a ceremony of man; but if it be the divinelyappointed symbol of the presence of Christ in the world, and if the ordinance be entirely emptied of its dignity and its meaning, when it is looked upon otherwise than as setting forth in a divine manner Christ crucified, then to seek Christ there, and through Him to obtain forgiveness of sin and all other benefits of His passion, is to declare in the most emphatic manner that we seek not to be justified by our own deserts, but by the infinite merits of Christ. The fact is, that if we only realize the truth of Jesus Christ being the centre upon which all intercourse between heaven and earth turns, if we see that all our worship and our deeds are good so far as they are informed

by His Spirit and set forth His glory, we shall not think it necessary to hold to one particular phrase, when we speak of being justified by faith. Is Jesus Christ the centre of our religious system? do we apprehend Him as "the way, the truth, and the life"? do we see that there is no way to the Father but by Him? do we ever seek to conform ourselves to His likeness, and to bring forth the fruits of the Spirit? If so, we need not fear to say, that we receive justification by our works, that we receive justification through Christ's sacraments, or that we are justified by faith only; for we shall be one with Christ, and this it is, however expressed, which gives us of His fulness and saves us from the wrath to come.

On the whole, Christian Brethren, I would say, that if you wish to have your minds clear from difficulty on the point which I have been bringing before you, and if you would see distinctly how S. Paul and S. James, being both Apostles of the Lord Jesus Christ, did each in his own manner preach the same Gospel to the Church, then you must strive evermore to realize the truth of Jesus Christ being "the way, the truth, and the life." S. Paul did not fear lest men should imagine that they could be saved in their sins by mere profession of belief, because he held that those who had been baptized into Christ had put on

Christ, that they had given themselves up to Him as new born, as alive from the dead, as anxious to bring forth fruit; and how could a man, who had thus received the truth as it is in Jesus, fall into that monstrous doctrine that he had better sin that grace might abound? or how could he talk of his faith without works saving him? So on the other hand, when men had turned the grace of God into an excuse for sin, S. James did not fear that he should detract from the virtues of Christ's death, by asserting that men must do as well as say; for he knew that this was in entire accordance with those words of the Lord, in which He spoke of a man, who should hear His words and not do them, being like a man who built his house upon the sand, and whose house was swept away by the flood. And in like manner we also, if we firmly recognize the truth of God being made man for our sins in the person of Christ, shall not fear to assert the doctrine of justification by faith, while we assent from our hearts to the doctrine of the text, that "as the body without the spirit is dead, so faith without works is dead also."

Finally, Christian Brethren, let me take occasion from this subject to say, that the religion of Christ is a practical thing; it is not a mere profession of faith, it is a life; Jesus Christ came, not to save us in our sins, nor to save us without effort of our own, but that we might have strength to work out our own salvation with fear and trembling. You see this no where more clearly brought out than in the Epistle of S. James: if a man thinks that his being called a Christian will save him, S. James blows such idle belief to the winds; no, it is a life of holiness which God wishes to produce in each of us, and the more we exert ourselves to be holy, the more will He assist us with His Spirit. God has granted us pardon freely, the gift of life is free, no one could have bought it; but God does require of us, that we should not be idle because He has pardoned us freely, but that we should add one virtue to another, and not content with the stature we have attained, be ever stretching forward and striving to grow in grace.

## SERMON XIV.

#### THE GREAT GULPH.

### S. LUKE, XVI. 26.

And beside all this, between us and you there is a great gulph fixed: so that they which would pass from hence to you cannot; neither can they pass to us, that would come from thence.

There are considerable difficulties belonging to the parable of the Rich Man and Lazarus, of which this verse forms a portion, and there are several ways of viewing the parable, and correspondingly several lessons which may be learnt from it. But I do not propose at this time to undertake a full discussion of the parable, nor to attempt to deduce all the lessons which may be deduced from it; that would take us far beyond the limits of a sermon: I propose only to take one particular view and draw one particular kind of lesson, not saying that it is the only or even the most important lesson, but feeling that at

any rate it is taught by the parable, and is one which it much concerns our souls' peace to study diligently.

What I wish to bring before you then is the "great gulph," of which our Lord speaks in the text, and which, at the time when Abraham is represented as speaking the words, was "fixed" between Lazarus and the rich man, a gulph so wide and impassable that communication was impossible, and neither could pass from one side to the other. Now I do not think, that it was our Lord's desire by this parable to make us speculate much concerning the nature of the unseen world; it is quite characteristic of Scripture not to enter into details, or excite our curiosity, concerning the actual manner in which those things shall come to pass, to which in this life we look forward as belonging to the next world; as for instance, in that most extended account of the last judgment which is recorded in S. Matth. xxv., our Lord uses language so manifestly figurative, describing the Son of Man as separating the sheep from the goats, putting the one on the left hand and the other on the right, as to make us feel convinced, that it is the general lesson of the parable, as enforcing the doctrine of a judgment according to works, and not the details of that judgment, upon which our Lord wished us to fix

our minds. So likewise in the parable of the Rich Man and Lazarus, I do not think that our Lord intended to teach us any mysteries concerning the world of spirits; He used phraseology with which His hearers were familiar, when He spoke of Lazarus being carried to Abraham's bosom; He revealed nothing really new, when He spoke of the fire which tormented the rich man, and of the peace which belonged to Lazarus; and therefore, if we propose to ourselves to draw curious doctrines from the parable respecting the condition of the departed, we shall probably fall into grievous error. At the same time we must remember, that the words of the parable are Christ's own words, and therefore doubtless contain important truth, if only we have the wisdom to find that truth; and when He speaks as in the text of a great gulph fixed between the rich man and Lazarus, though doubtless He intended not to give us any information concerning the abode of the dead, yet we may certainly conclude that this gulph is something awfully real; and if it be as impassable as the text represents it, then may we consider it to be one worthy use of the parable to call our attention to the existence of this awful gulph, and to make us reflect on the means by which we may secure an abode on Abraham's side of it.

I propose then to say something to you concerning the impassable gulph, of which the text speaks; and in order to do so advantageously, I think it will be well to draw a comparison between the rich man and Lazarus while on earth, in order that we may see more clearly, how there came to be such a wide gulph between them afterwards. Now in your bibles you will find this parable described as that of "the rich glutton," but that name does not altogether well describe the rich man's failing: it is true that he fared sumptuously every day, but so probably did David, and so did Solomon; and it is true that while he himself thus fared sumptuously, he does not appear to have taken proper pains to supply the needs of Lazarus: but the rich man's disease was deeper and more widespread than this; and those little circumstances, which are recorded concerning his life, seem to be intended as hints to guide us to the real character, of which we have in the parable only a few indications. I conceive then that in the rich man our Lord intended us to see a picture of one, whose mind was so engrossed by the cares and pleasures of this world, as to forget altogether the things concerning another: our Lord speaks in another place of the deceitfulness of riches and the lust of other things creeping into a man's heart, and choking the

good seed of God's word; here is an example of this very thing; the pleasure of show and luxury, of faring sumptuously and being clothed in purple and fine linen, had overlaid and choked the good seed of Moses and the prophets; the rich man knew his duty, knew the difference between right and wrong, knew the danger that there was in pleasure and luxury, and the wickedness that there was in hardheartedness and want of love to his brethren, but the purple and fine linen and the pleasures of his sumptuous table hid all these things from his eyes; and the consequence was, that he lived for this world only, he lived like a beast, with no higher purpose than that of filling himself with dainties and covering his poor body with fine garments.

This seems to me to be the kind of character which our Lord would paint for us in the rich man; but here let me observe, that if this be so, it is by no means necessary that a man should be rich; in order that the same character may belong in some measure to him; for if worldly-mindedness, the having the heart set only on the seen and the temporal, the living for the body only, the want of spiritualmindedness, the incapacity of seeing anything beyond this life, if these be the features of character which our Lord wished to bring into prominence, then it

signifies not whether it be by riches, or by any other snare of the Devil, that such features are made to appear: it is true that it is the direct effect of money or of the love of money, and of ease and luxury and sloth, to produce such results, and therefore, when our Lord wished to draw for us the picture of a worldlyminded unspiritual man, He represented him as a rich man clothed in purple and fine linen; but I say that there are other things besides purple and fine linen which may bring about a similar result, and a man who has hard work to earn his daily bread, may by that very means be brought to something like the same state of worldliness, as that of the man who fared sumptuously every day. For the question is just this, and it is a question for us all,—are our hearts entirely set upon the things of the body? does our happiness consist in worldly things, or do we see with our souls' inmost eyes, that no purple and fine linen and no sumptuous fare can give the soul of man the same abiding peace and joy as the love of God and the doing good to our fellows? is in fact the fear of God a more motive principle of action with us than the love of the world? if not, then I am sure that whether we recline on the rich man's couch and eat of his dainties, or whether we lie at his gate full of sores and asking for

the crumbs of his table, it is all one so far as concerns our spiritual condition; we are yet of the earth earthly, we are yet carnal and sensual.

If then this be the kind of character which our Lord wished us to see in the picture of the rich man, what does Lazarus represent to us? he is described as a very poor man, a beggar, one in great need and bodily suffering; and I have no doubt that our Lord represented him thus, because there was a great tendency in His time to look down upon the poor; and it has been remarked, that whereas our Lord gives us no name for the rich man, He does give us the name of the beggar, as though to shew that in His kingdom worldly rules are reversed, that whereas we know the names of the great and powerful, and think comparatively little of the names of the poor, with Him it is the humble and the simple whose names appear specially worthy of record. Nevertheless, as it was not merely the rich man's wealth which our Lord wished to point out to us for our avoidance, but that worldly spirit of mind which his riches produced, so here in the case of Lazarus, it is not merely his poverty and his sufferings, which are to account for the difference between his destiny and that of the other, but rather the spirit which his sufferings wrought in him and the manner in which he

bore them. It is true that our Lord does not enter into any explanation on this head, but I think you will see at once that He intended to draw in Lazarus a picture of one, who was softened by suffering and made to see that this was not his rest, and who was able therefore to be cheerful under God's affliction and to believe that all things worked together for his good. And if this be so, then you will see that the character which Lazarus exhibited may be exhibited by each of us whether rich or poor; for he who uses this world as not abusing it, who feels that there is something more serious and solemn in this life than mere pleasure, who feels that the vanity of this life, of which Solomon complained, can only be neutralized by strong earnest hopes of an inheritance undefiled and that fadeth not away, reserved in the heavens,—that man, I say, whether rich or poor, has realized the state of mind which want and pain wrought in Lazarus. And as wealth rightly used does not hinder this state of mind, so poverty does not necessarily ensure it; nay, poverty does very often produce the directly opposite effect, making a man fix all his heart and his energies on his daily bread, and encouraging him to think that there is abundance of excuse for him if he neglect religion; and I have often grieved over the utterly carnal unspiritual mind, which has been engendered in a man, not because he has been tempted by luxury, but because he has had his heart set only on the daily bread which perishes, and not on that bread which cometh down from Heaven, which a man may eat and live for ever. In few words, the contrast in the parable is not between riches and poverty, so much as between irreligion and religion, between worldliness and spirituality, between the mind set upon things seen and temporal and the heart set upon things unseen and eternal.

Now, having endeavoured to draw as clearly as I can the real distinction between the two persons of whom the parable speaks, let us look to the contrast between their condition when this life had come to an end and the other life commenced. Lazarus we read died, and was carried by angels into Abraham's bosom; an expression by which (as I have before observed) our Lord does not appear to give us any particular insight into the condition of spirits departed, but only adopts a common phrase to express that Lazarus had gone to those painless regions, where the spirits of just men await the final doom of all things: whatever may be the immediate condition of departed souls the lesson of our Lord's parable is the same, and therefore I think it is not wise

to lay any particular stress upon the manner in which He has described this condition; the great point is, that Lazarus rested from his labours having died in the Lord, and that the rich man rested not. Of the rich man we read that he died and was buried; Lazarus' burial was not mentioned, he might have been utterly neglected and never buried at all, but the rich man died and was buried, -oh yes-there was a stately funeral, and weeping friends, and those five brethren who changed their purple and fine linen for the nonce into the dark robes of mourners, and there was all the solemnity which outward appliances can give to the burial of the dead; but there was not that which Lazarus had, and which was worth far more than all the pomp of the rich man's funeral, there were no angels to carry him to Abraham's bosom. Thus Lazarus died and was carried by angels to Abraham's bosom, and the rich man died and was buried; an awful contrast, and one which describes, with something like a solemn irony, the difference between the end of him who has his portion in this life and that of him who has his portion in the next: for the man who has lived for God, whose soul is united to Him the father of spirits, may be truly said to be carried away of angels; for though his body is buried, yet it was never his mere body that he accounted to be truly himself, and therefore when his body decays yet he himself liveth through the power of Christ for evermore; but he who lives for this world, whose spiritual life is extinguished (as it were) because the body and the body's wants have ever been his principal end, he dies at length and is buried; that body for which he cared so much, toiled so much, that body which he counted to be himself, forgetting that he was a spirit which should live for evermore, that body is buried, and with it all his hopes and cares go to the grave too.

This then is the contrast between the ends of these two men; and now I wish to call your attention to that lasting distinction between their conditions, which the text brings before us. Abraham says, that between the rich man and Lazarus a great gulph was fixed, so that none could pass from one side to the other; a great gulph fixed; observe, it is no slight interval, no trifling difference, but it is a chasm, a gulph, and a wide one; and moreover it is fixed, the word in the original Greek is quite as strong in its meaning as that which our English Version has given, perhaps stronger; it means that this gulph or chasm has been firmly and durably established, that it is no slight or accidental distinction which

it may be hoped that time will blot out, but that it is a deep wide gap, which no reasoning can hide and no time can ever heal. Now I think it most necessary, that as this is our Saviour's own description, we should take His words in all the fulness of their meaning, of course not straining them beyond their intention, but also not cutting off from them any of their strength: I admit that they are awful words, I admit that the very thought of the possibility of an impassable gulph being ever fixed between ourselves and God, is a thought full of the most frightful horror; nevertheless our Lord spake such words in love, and it is only wise and pious in us to receive our Lord's words thoughtfully and strive to turn them to good account.

What I conceive then that our Lord asserts in the text is this, that there is a great impassable gulph fixed between the spiritual condition of those whom He represents by the rich man, and those whom He represents by Lazarus: and I have endeavoured to make clear what was the difference between these two men in this life, in order that we might be able to account for the difference between them in the other; the great gulph is not between the rich and the poor, not between those who have been favoured by God in this life and those who have been chastened

by Him, but it is between those who have so used this world as to starve their spirits, those who have fixed their eyes so firmly on the things of time and sense that they could not see the realities of a future world, those who have become carnal and sensualized because they must needs give all their efforts to feed their bodies and have been content to leave their souls uncared for, those who have heard the sound of the Gospel and have been taught the condescension of God in Christ, and how He became poor that they might be rich, and how He denied Himself that they might lack nothing, and these things have been to them as idle tales, as music to the deaf adder that stoppeth her ears,—the great gulph is, I say, fixed between such as these, and those who have lived in this world as not abusing it, knowing that the fashion of it passeth away, those who have lived not by sight but by faith in the Lord Jesus Christ. But who fixed this gulph? surely not the Father who would not the death of a sinner, nor the Son who redeemed us from the curse, nor the Holy Spirit who sanctifies God's elect; no, it was the rich man himself who fixed it there! to what purpose was his life given him, but that he might make himself fit for Heaven? to what purpose had he Moses and the Prophets, but to warn him of the

duty of loving God and his neighbour, and ever living in the fear of God? and he had neglected all these things, year after year had passed away and found him still no better, still faring sumptuously, still dressed in purple, but his soul as starved and naked as ever, and every year had more and more widened the gulph and fixed it more firmly; and so when he woke up in another world, he only reaped the fruit of the things done in the body, and the gulph was fixed indeed, but fixed by his own labours before he died and was buried.

And without pretending to go into the deep mystery of the other world, yet this at least is enough to shew us the greatness of the gulph and why it is so firmly fixed: the joys of heaven are spiritual, there is no pleasure there for a man who has no fear of God, no pleasure in obeying Him; and therefore he, who by a long course of carelessness and self-indulgence and neglect of God and neglect of his duties, has hardened his soul and rendered himself incapable of any but the grossest pleasures of the body, has thereby himself put a gulph between Heaven and him; he has an opportunity of fitting himself for Heaven, and he has neglected it; he has acted as though he had no spirit, and so his body has become his god; therefore, if when the end comes he finds

that Heaven has no joys for him, who has fixed the gulph but himself? and who can remove it, when the time expressly given for preparation is gone, and the time of judgment is at hand? And oh, what a wide gulph must it be, when it is the result not of a single act, but of a whole life abused, a whole life spent in the service of the flesh instead of being consecrated to God!

Oh, Christian Brethren, it is a fearful thing to think upon that which the text brings before our mind! I am quite certain that men do not in general fully realize the awful breadth of the gulph, nor the firmness with which it is fixed; and they often try to persuade themselves, that God is so merciful that in some way that gulph will be bridged over: but what if the gulph be not of God's making but their own? what if the gulph be growing wider and wider, while they are wasting their time instead of working out their salvation? It is not for me, nor for any man, to judge of the breadth of the gulph which will lie between any one man and God; but it is for me to assert, that it is possible so to forget God in this life, so to smother the soul beneath worldliness and sensuality, as to fix an impassable gulph between the soul and God. And the mere possibility of this should make all of us ask ourselves earnestly and with trembling, how far we are improving our opportunities; this is the seed-time of a long existence, and he who does not sow good seed, or having sown it does not water it and weed it, may not complain if his crop fail in the end. And we, Brethren, have all our opportunities of serving God, and acting in His fear, and training our spirits in love to Him and love to our brethren; the rich man had but Moses and the Prophets, but we have the revelation of God in our Lord Jesus Christ, we have such knowledge of Him and of His ways, and such means of being strengthened by Him, as the men of old time never had nor could have; therefore let us thank God for our advantages and strive to improve them, ever remembering that of those to whom much is given much also will be required, and that if the gulph be not closed it will yawn all the wider, and be more firmly fixed, on account of privileges abused. And remember, Christian Brethren, that in all your actions you are working for eternity, that you are now forming a character which must last for evermore, and that if you live not for God in this life, you cannot live with Him in another; look well then to all you think, or do, or say; and pray God that His Spirit may so transform your hearts in this world, that your souls may be fitted for those spiritual joys which are at His right hand for evermore.

## SERMON XV.

#### THE TEN LEPERS.

# S. Luke xvii. 17, 18.

Jesus said, "Were there not ten cleansed? but where are the nine?

"There are not found that returned to give glory to God, save this stranger."

These are the words in which our blessed Lord expressed His astonishment, when He found that out of ten men whom He had cleansed from leprosy, one only, and he an almost heathen, returned to give thanks to God. We read, that as Jesus went up to Jerusalem through Galilee and Samaria, ten men met Him, and being afflicted with that dreadful disease called leprosy they stood afar off, for they were forbidden to come near those who were pure; but still they were able to make their case known to the Saviour though they might not come near Him, for they lifted up their voices, and said, "Jesus, Master,

have mercy upon us." They had heard of Christ's niracles, perhaps had seen some of them, and they had faith enough to pray to Him to assist them also in their deep distress. And our Lord at once heard their prayer, but He answered it in such a way as to give occasion for some further exercise of their faith; He did not heal them at once, but told them to go and shew themselves to the Priests: now this was a thing commanded in the law to be done by men who had been cleansed, and therefore these men, if they had not had confidence in our Lord's will and power to heal, might have said, "Nay! cleanse us first, and then we will go and shew ourselves." But they said not thus; they put faith in Christ and went at once as He had told them, and as they went they were cleansed; in the act of obedience to Him they received the reward of obedience, even the cure of their leprosy; in shewing out their faith by their works, their faith saved them.

So far the conduct of these lepers is all that we could desire; they were bold in their application for mercy, they were ready in their obedience, when they had been told the way of being healed. But here the scene changes; the ten part company; one of them, as soon as he saw that he was cleansed, at once returned thanks to God for what was done in him—but only one; nine

out of ten went on their way, and thought it not needful to return and glorify God. And that one, S. Luke tells us, was a Samaritan, one of that half-heathen people whom the Jews despised, and whom his nine companions would have scorned to consort with, had not their fearful sickness made them forget all points of difference and fixed their minds only on their common pollution. And this it was that made our Lord marvel; that ten men should have been cleansed from a disease, compared with which death would have been regarded as a small evil, a disease which in its worst form was foul and loathsome beyond words to describe, which made a man an outcast from society, a burden to himself, a recognized type of the spiritual pollution of sin,-that ten men should have been suddenly cured as they walked of such a disease as this, and that one only, and he the least instructed of the number, should have thought it worth while to offer thanks for his cure; this was the wonder, this it was which made our blessed Lord exclaim in the words of the text, "Were there not ten cleansed? but where are the nine? There are not found that returned to give glory to God save this stranger."

Now without going any deeper into the history, Christian Brethren, without inquiring particularly why these nine lepers would not return thanks,

and without discussing the blessing which they lost by their ingratitude, I would say that there is much in the ingratitude of the nine and the gratitude of the one to warn and teach us. For we, as baptized members of Christ's Church, are peculiarly in the position typified by the lepers who were cleansed; Christ said to them all, "Go shew yourselves to the Priests;" He made no difference between them; but seeing that they were all in one common disease, He put them all in one common road to health; they did not all reach the perfection of blessing, only one obtained the prize of those gracious words, "thy faith hath made thee whole;" but that was the fault of the lepers, not of their Saviour; He had put them in the way, He had granted to them all the germ, the seed, of life, and it was for them to water the precious seed and bring it up to perfection. And so these men are apt types of us who are all baptized into the Church of Christ, and who receive once for all the heavenly washing whereby the pollution of our leprosy is cleansed, and the seed of everlasting life sown. All of us have been cleansed, even as all those ten lepers who came to Christ were cleansed as they went to the Priests; and therefore, as we may see in these ten cleansed lepers a type of ourselves all once cleansed from sin, so it is worthy

of our deepest attention to examine, whether there be not a further analogy, whether the nine ungrateful ones, who did not return to give thanks to God, may not also among us find too clear and distinct a parallel.

And indeed, whatever be our practice, certainly the duty of returning thanks to God for benefits received is one of the first and clearest. Creatures as we are of His hand, sustained in being by the breath of His power, fed and clothed by His bounty, and beyond all this blessed with unmeasured spiritual blessings, we owe Him such a debt of gratitude as no efforts of ours can pay. Are we not bought with a price, Brethren, and that an unspeakable price? have we not been healed of the leprosy, which was upon us when our mothers bore us? have we not been taught the way of life, and earnestly exhorted to avoid the way of death? have we not communion with Heaven through the Holy Spirit of God, and the bread of God to feed our souls in the wilderness? These are themes of thankfulness; and if we thought as we should, we should meditate with full hearts on the blessings we have received, and begin to practise on earth those hymns of praise which we shall have to sing in Heaven. Surely if any voice in the creation should be loud and earnest in the praise of God, it should be that

of a sinner redeemed, a human soul saved from the power of Satan and new created for the dwellingplace of God, a creature of infinite capacity for suffering rescued from the unutterable darkness of the abyss and made a citizen of Heaven.

But so is it not in fact; strange though it may seem, we lepers who have been cleansed by Christ do not return and with one voice glorify God; for one who returns to give thanks, nine go on heedlessly and forget this great act of duty: and that I may impress this melancholy fact upon you and make you see its shamefulness, I shall point out to you several instances, in which men exemplify by their conduct the thankless spirit of the nine lepers; some of these instances, it may be, will find no one present who can say "that applies to me," but some I think will strike many as applicable to themselves: I would that my remarks might by God's blessing go to the heart of such, and stir them up to greater thankfulness to God for all the benefits He has shewed them.

And first, as a great broad fact, illustrative of the parallel which I wish to draw between the thankless lepers and the men of our time, let me call your attention to the small number of those who come to praise God in church. I

do not speak of this parish in particular, though certainly we also are liable to blame on the same score; but I speak of the state of things in general, as they exist in a country like this, where the worship of God is attended to perhaps as much as in any country. Consider then the number of those who are brought to be presented to God in baptism; many of them perhaps are afterwards little cared for, badly brought up, neglected, exposed to bad example, perhaps even led by their parents into wickedness and sin; and if such as these grow up to love the ways of unholiness rather than the ways of God, we cannot wonder much; God be merciful unto them! but there are very very many, who are brought up with the most solicitous care, who have good advice, good example, good schools provided for them, and every thing done, which can be done, to keep them in the right way; and so long as they are obliged to obey, or at all events so long as the influence of early habits lasts, such young persons frequent God's house: but they grow up, and what becomes of them? they do not come here to return thanks to God, they go for the most part about their own pleasure, or waste God's holy day; or whatever they do, the greater part do not come here. This is a sad fact, but it is a fact; those who come here to

give thanks are but as one, compared with the nine who go their ways. And one would imagine too, that all of us receive sufficient mercies during the six days of the week, to make it our pleasure as well as our duty to come and return thanks on the seventh; but somehow men do not argue thus, some make no pretence except their own stubborn wills, and others satisfy themselves with frivolous pretexts, and the result is that but one in ten comes to return thanks. It might perhaps give us satisfaction to see that so many of our churches are nearly filled, if the question did not come home to us at once, "but where are the nine?" It was a pleasant sight, doubtless, to see the poor Samaritan return and give thanks to God, yet the first thought was not concerning his gratitude, but concerning the fearful want of gratitude in the rest; "were there not ten cleansed?" and so, Brethren, it is a sickening thought, that out of all those who have been received into Christ's Church and instructed in the way of life, and moreover have received benefits innumerable from the hand of God, but one in ten returns to give thanks. "Where are the nine?" alas, alas! where are they?

Again, God frequently sends a warning voice by sickness to those who need such warning; and while the sickness is heavy and the grave in sight

and judgment expected, men cry out all with one voice, "Jesus, Master, have mercy upon us!" and you would think that if health were given but once more, the lives of those who had thus been redeemed from Hell would be one solemn hymn of praise to the Deliverer. But he who should expect thus would find himself mistaken; it is a mournful fact, that men who have thus been even at death's door, and have by God's mercy been spared, and allowed once more to rejoice in the light of the living, for the most part forget their vows and walk on still as before; here and there you may find one, whose heart is changed by what he has seen and felt, and who falls down on his face and gives thanks, and devotes the remainder of his days as a thank-offering to God; but "where are the nine?" where are all those who have cried out in their trouble, "Lord, help me!" every one is ready with this cry; let a man be never so abandoned and careless, when affliction is heavy upon him he will cry earnestly for mercy, and he who has never prayed before will generally pray in some sort then; but health returns, the man forgets the leprosy that was upon him, and consequently forgets to give thanks for the mercies vouchsafed and to shew forth his thankfulness to God; and so it comes to pass, that for

one who is permanently made better by affliction, nine go on as before.

Again, we find some who are ready to give their time, their substance, their labour, to the service of God and to active charity among their neighbours; we find some, who, conscious of the grace they have received through Christ and the miracle which has been wrought upon them in their conversion from Satan to God, are willing to do something in return, though it be but little, for Him who has done so much for them; and it is a cheering thought, that in this world of selfishness such persons are to be found: but then the thought strikes us, are these all that have been cleansed? these are contributing something to the honour of their Master, but where are those others so much more numerous than these, who were as leprous as they and who like them have been cleansed? Few have been found who have returned to give glory to God; but one in ten, here one and there one; the greater number of professing Christian men, men professing to have been healed of sin, are manifestly dedicating their time and their talents and their goods to themselves; and though they were once loathsome lepers and rejoice in having been healed, they do not with their lips and their lives return glory to God.

Or once more, of those who come to this holy house of prayer, and by their coming profess themselves earnest disciples of Christ, how few are there who come to the Holy Table! It is indeed a thing to cheer a minister's heart and make him trust that the Lord is in the place, to be permitted to join Sunday after Sunday with even a small number of those who are willing to obey their Lord, and God be thanked that there are as many as there are amongst ourselves who reckon it a privilege thus to join in holy communion; nevertheless when one compares the number of those who come with the number of those who stay away, the thought at once arises, "were there not ten cleansed? but where are the nine?" it is pleasant to see these who are here, but are these all the lepers who have been cleansed? what do men mean by coming to church and confessing their sins and asking for forgiveness, if they are to go on for ever in the old road of carelessness and indifference, and never intend to live any higher life? I verily believe that a man who has any sufficient sense of the leprosy which has been upon him, and of the mercy of God in Jesus Christ, who has provided a remedy for that leprosy and shewed him how he may be healed,-I believe that a man who at all enters into the spirit of those

words which he continually uses, when he says that there is no health in him, that is, that in himself he is sickly and leprous, and who at the same time realizes the truth that pardon and peace may be had through Christ, yea, that he himself of God's infinite mercy has once been washed from the pollution of his birth,—I believe that any man, who has realized all this, will be unable to refuse to join in the solemn offering of praise and thanksgiving, which is made in the celebration of Christ's death.

Alas! Brethren, whichever way we look at this subject the view is melancholy; ingratitude seems to be the rule of mankind, gratitude the exception; for one who glorifies God there are nine who forget Him; for one who comes to church there are nine who stay away; for one who is sanctified by sickness there are nine who are hardened by it; for one who gives himself to works of charity and who lives in some measure to the praise of God, there are nine who live to themselves; and for one who partakes devoutly of the Holy Supper, there are nine who follow their own way, and refuse to come. So that in these and many other instances, we find that the conduct of the lepers who were cleansed is but a type of sinners in general; there is one who falls down and gives thanks, and who receives

the gracious words, "Arise, go thy way: thy faith hath made thee whole!" and angels rejoice over this sinner saved; but "where are the nine?" there were others cleansed beside him, others who received the same first message of mercy as he, and where are they? gone perhaps one to his farm and another to his merchandize, and all determined to forget their leprosy and persuade themselves that they are healed and that all is well. But, Christian Brethren, all is not well; that leprosy will break out again; and he who does not return and give thanks to God and devote himself to God's service, will find, that the disease is still upon him, and that it will shew itself in a world where there is no Jesus to have mercy and no more offering for sin.

# SERMON XVI.

## S. PAUL'S VIEW OF LIFE.

### PHILIPPIANS i. 22, 23, 24, 25.

But if I live in the flesh, this is the fruit of my labour: yet what I shall choose I wot not.

For I am in a strait betwixt two, having a desire to depart, and to be with Christ; which is far better.

Nevertheless to abide in the flesh is more needful for you. And having this confidence, I know that I shall abide and continue with you all for your furtherance and joy of faith.

When S. Paul says "this is the fruit of my labour," he seems to refer to what he had said two verses before, namely, that it was his earnest expectation and hope, that he might never be ashamed of Christ, but that Christ might be magnified in his body, whether he lived to preach the Gospel, or died to prove his sincerity. This he represents as the one fruit of all his efforts, the end and aim of his life, to set forth the glory of Christ, to make men see that He really was what S. Paul believed Him to be, the one Mediator

between God and man, the Saviour, the Redeemer of mankind. And S. Paul could not be afraid of being accused of vainglory when he said this, partly because by doing so he was pledging himself to a life of endless toil and persecution, but chiefly because it was manifest that he said no more than the truth; right or wrong, it was clear that the name and honour of Jesus of Nazareth were the moving principles of the Apostle's whole life: people might think him mad, some did so, but as to his having any other end in life than this, namely, to make men love and honour Christ, it was folly to hint at such a charge. For what was the fact? a young Jew, of high talents, well brought up, with every personal advantage, with the dignity of a Roman citizen, backed by the power of the Jewish Church, sets himself to uproot the new religion of Jesus Christ; on a sudden he changes his life, he says that he has seen a light and heard a voice which tells him to change, but anyhow he does change and begins to build up the faith which he destroyed: and now when he has embraced this new faith and examined it, he finds that it meets all his wants; it leaves no gap in his heart unsupplied; he finds that it has at once that depth and simplicity which divine things have, it is so simple that it can be received by the ignorant, it is so deep that he

finds for his own powerful mind deeps which he cannot fathom; and he is not contented with merely making known his adhesion to the new faith, he feels that he has a mission to spread it, and to this work he devotes his life. And a wonderful devotion it was; we are so familiar with it, that it scarcely strikes us so vividly as it might; but indeed I think, that, apart from the debt of gratitude which we ourselves owe, no figure in history stands out more remarkably, as that of a man giving the whole energies of his mind to the assertion of a great truth, than does that of S. Paul. And I say that the end of S. Paul's life was so patent and palpable, that no one would accuse him of vanity or boasting, when he said that the fruit of his labour was the magnifying of the Lord Jesus Christ.

Now you will notice, that in the text S. Paul speaks as though he had a choice between continuing his life here and changing it for another and a better. He says, "what I shall choose I wot not: for I am in a strait betwixt two, having a desire to depart, and to be with Christ, which is far better: nevertheless to abide in the flesh is more needful for you." It would seem from this, that the choice between life and death had been given to S. Paul; and of course it is not right for us to limit by our own experience the

communion with the spiritual world which may have been granted to an Apostle: S. Paul speaks of being transported into heaven, and of abundance of revelations which were made to him, and this being so, I should shrink from interpreting according to our own contracted notions, words which he may have used in a more mysterious sense; nevertheless it may be, that S. Paul intended to express rather what was his own desire than what was in his own power, and even if this were all that he intended there would be quite enough for the purpose which I have now in hand: for what I wish to bring before you is S. Paul's estimate of life and death, and the reasons why he desired the one and the other. I wish to bring this before you, because I am sure that it is a subject of deep practical importance to us all. Here we are all now in life,-what are we living for? why do we desire to live? At the same time, we may all die this night,—why do we fear to die? or what reasons are there for even desiring death? To creatures like ourselves, who have the power of reflecting upon our actions, who feel that life must have been given to us for some other reason than that for which it has been given to the butterfly, and who feel that death must have for us a deeper and more awful meaning than for other creatures it can have, such

questions as these are the very most important questions that we can ask. Therefore I desire that we should avail ourselves of the experience of S. Paul as detailed in the text; he, on his own account, balanced the question between life and death, and it is the result of his examination which I desire to bring out before you, and offer for your own consideration and for the guidance of your own judgment.

In the text, then, S. Paul appears to weigh his life, being such as I have already described it, against departing and being with Christ. He says plainly, that he has "a desire to depart"; you might imagine that this life was intolerably burdensome, that he desired only rest and cessation from labour, but this would not be doing justice to the Apostle; the characteristic of his life was joy in the Lord, he ever inculcated the lesson of "rejoicing in the Lord always," he speaks of having "peace in believing"; it is impossible to read his writings without perceiving that whatever might be his external troubles, yet he had a secret spring of happiness which supported him and refreshed him. Therefore when he speaks of "departing and being with Christ, which is far better," I think we must not suppose him to be speaking of his own case only, as an exceptional case, one of those grievously afflicted

lives which make men desire death merely as a termination of their earthly sufferings; but we must rather understand him as declaring, that to depart and to be with Christ is absolutely far better than life here, better for all, a higher state of being, an existence of greater blessing. And it is evident upon what ground S. Paul declares this preference; the departing is not a mere departing, but it is a departing "to be with Christ": the magnification of Christ was, as I have already said, the one great end of the Apostle's life; to realize Christ's love, to conform himself to Christ's image, to exhibit to mankind, not by word only but by life and example, a picture of the life of Christ—this was the thing for which the Apostle strove; and undoubtedly the light which ever shone upon his path was this, the entire belief that one day he should be with Christ and see Him as He is. The Apostle contemplated the Lord, as having gone before His people to prepare a place for them, as separated from them only for a while, as waiting to receive into His presence each servant who should have been faithful and true; what wonder then if the Apostle had a desire to depart? if in this life he had only a dim faint view of Christ, and yet found even that unspeakably brighter and better than anything else which he could see in this world, what wonder if he desired that closer communion with his Lord, which he believed would be granted to him when he had put aside the burden of the flesh? I conceive therefore, that estimating good and evil as S. Paul would estimate them, to depart and be with Christ must be regarded as much better than remaining here: I do not say that we can all so regard it; but if we do not, it only shews that our spiritual vision is not so distinct as S. Paul's; and I do not wish to tempt you to fancy that you feel what you do not, I do not wish you to pretend to yourselves that you desire to depart, when you feel that your natural love of life gives the lie to such profession; I only wish you to see, that to a man standing at S. Paul's high spiritual point of view, the conclusion to which he came was sober and reasonable

I must here however remark, that when S. Paul speaks thus, you are not to imagine that he speaks of the souls of the faithful, when departing from this life, entering at once upon the full fruition of all that God has prepared for them. This would be contrary to what seems to be revealed, and certainly contrary to what the Church holds to be true; there is, as might be expected, a very dark cloud between us and the other world, and only sufficient would seem to be revealed to guide

us and encourage us; it would appear that although the condition of departed saints is spoken of as being one of joy, and necessarily so if it be that of life in the presence of Christ, yet the full consummation and perfection of joy is reserved. until the number of the elect is complete, and the kingdom of God wholly come. You will remember that it is this for which we pray in the Burial Service, whenever we commit a new body to the earth to wait there for the resurrection of the just; and such a doctrine as this would appear to flow directly from that of the unity of the Church as one body having Christ for its head; for a Christian cannot be properly contemplated by himself, he is but a limb of a body, a part of a great whole, and the fulness of his spiritual joy cannot be dependent upon his own condition only, but must depend upon that of the whole body. Therefore when each Christian brother has gone to his rest, we may believe, and ought to believe, that he is in peace, that in some sense he is with Christ, and that it is far better for him to be as he is than to be with us here; and therefore we may rightly thank God, as we do, for having delivered our brother out of this world and taken him to Himself; in Scripture phrase we may say, that such are gone to be with Christ in Paradise; for this was, as you will remember,

the promise made to him whom Christ assured, while He hung upon the cross, of a happy issue to his troubles, "this day," said He, "thou shalt be with Me in Paradise": observe especially that Christ promises, that the change shall take place without delay, not after a long sleep, but "this day"; and again, that wherever His disciples should be it should be with Him, for He says "thou shalt be with Me"; and these two points being clear, we may be very well content to leave the rest in that obscurity which God has covered it withal. Only this is to be remembered, which I have observed before, namely, that the blissful change, which takes place when a saint of God is delivered from this world, is not to be so understood, as to be confounded with the perfect consummation of the glory of the Church triumphant in heaven, when the number of the elect is complete, and the kingdom of Christ established for ever and ever.

This is somewhat of a digression from the subject which I have immediately in hand, though a very natural one, and I think not useless; all that it is necessary for you to remark, so far as regards our present subject, is, that S. Paul had an intense perception of the blessing of going to be with Christ. The Lord Jesus being to him, without any affectation, the great and principal

object of personal love and reverence and fealty, he could imagine for himself nothing better than to leave this world, where he saw so much of the devil's work, and be in the presence of Him whom here he had only darkly seen. So that, as far as he was personally concerned, death seemed to him far better than life: but you will observe, that nevertheless he weighed the prospect of death very soberly against the prospect of life, and the manner of his doing this I wish particularly to bring before you. S. Paul appears as one, who, if he had his choice, would esteem death better than life, and yet preferred to live; and why? because he believed that to remain in the flesh was necessary for the good of the Church: now what I would have you to do is, to compare this reason for desiring life with the reasons which most of us have: many men have very gross reasons for desiring life, they look upon their lives as so much time given them for the gratification of their appetites, they look upon youth as the best part of it, because youth has the greatest capacity of enjoyment, and when they come to old age they wish their youth could come over again: others pass through life with no very positive end or aim, they are not much given to any one pursuit or pleasure, and their desire of life is a kind of natural instinct, such as we all have more or less: then others desire life chiefly because they are afraid to die, the gnawings of a restless conscience within them makes them look upon death uneasily, and they desire to live because they dare not be judged: and so in other cases; there are abundance of reasons for desiring life, some are very bad reasons, some are good ones: but certainly, far the highest is that which is suggested by S. Paul; he looked upon life as a time given him, wherein to do certain work for the benefit of the Church, and the simple question with him was, whether his life or his death would prove most serviceable to the Church: if he imagined that his death was necessary as a testimony to the truth of the Gospel, then he would say, let me die; and if he thought that by living he could carry on an important work, which few were equal to carrying on, in building up the infant Church, then he would say, let me live; and in the text he tells us, that he has no doubt that his life will be spared, not because it would be better for him that it should be so, but because it would be more profitable for the Church.

Now when we read such a passage as the text, we are apt to pass over it as having very little personal importance to us; but there is no passage in the history of the mind and life of any great and good man, which can be unimportant to the rest of his race; we are so bound up together and are so influenced one by another, that whenever any man thinks a great thought or does a great deed, he has not merely benefited himself, but he has benefited all mankind. This is why we publish the lives and thoughts of good men, not that people may read them and wonder, but that they may improve their own moral condition by contact with what is good and holy and true. Therefore, if S. Paul did actually arrive at such a state of mind, that he was able to balance life against death in the cool unselfish manner which I have described, it is a great fact for us all to think upon; if he was merely writing what he did not feel, then of course there is no value to be attached to it; but even if we did not reverence the text as part of the word of God, I think that I have said enough to shew that the language was probably the true utterance of S. Paul's heart, or rather I will omit S. Paul's name, and say that it was the true utterance of a human heart; it matters not who it was, the fact of importance is, that there once was a man who was able to estimate things according to quite other than the common rule, a man who did not care to live for living's sake, a man who came to the conclusion that death was better than life, and yet

preferred life for the sake of his brethren. You will easily understand me when I say, that a man, who has arrived at this state of mind, and has recorded the convictions of his soul, has put that in evidence which no one may ever after venture to neglect in making an estimate of man's condition in this world; persons may argue that it is impossible for any one to have any other end in living but his own enjoyment, and this is the way in which practically people do argue; but the evidence of S. Paul knocks down such an argument, because here we have an example of a man who actually had a very different end; or persons may say, that no one can possibly account death better than life, but here we have an instance of a man in sound mind who yet did so; it seems, therefore, that it is possible for a man to take higher views of life and death than men in general do take; it is possible, for S. Paul did so, and S. Paul was but a man, and what he did others may do too.

Now then, Christian Brethren, let us bring the subject to bear upon our own experience: here we are all placed in God's world, endowed with various powers and different talents, here we are to remain for some few years and then all to pass away; fifty years,—what is it in the history of the world? and yet in even fifty years how

many of us will still remain in this life? the question then forces itself upon us as reasonable creatures, what are we put here for? and why should we desire to remain? The answer is simple; we are placed here to work out our own salvation, and for the benefit each of the other; it is a high state of Christian life to be able to say with the Apostle, "I have a desire to depart and to be with Christ, which is far better;" we may reason that it is better, but we may still feel the influence of the ties and affections, the hopes and excitements, of this life, so strong, that we should feel that we were guilty of hypocrisy if we said that we desired to depart; well, be it so-nothing can be further from the scope of true religion than to throw the mind into forced unnatural attitudes, and to tempt the lips to say that which finds no echo in the heart; and it need not distress any one to find that S. Paul's language is out of his reach, he had much better honestly confess that it is so than pretend that it is not; but if a man desire this life, at least let him desire it for some good end; let him take a deep sober view of his mission in the world,—aye, his mission—it is not too strong a word, for every one of us is sent for an important end, every one of us has his work, and his master who will demand an account

of it. And my subject leads me especially to speak of that mission which we have for the benefit of the Church and our fellows: I have already spoken of our prime work as that of working out our own salvation, but that is not all, we are all sent into this world to minister to our fellows, and so long as we are doing this we are doing God's work. This is the part of our mission which the text chiefly brings before us, because it is that which S. Paul alleges as his reason for desiring a prolonged life; but you will say, he was an Apostle-truly so he was, and this alters the degree of the work he had to do, but not the nature of it: then you may still say, it is a very good example for the clergy, they are S. Paul's successors in the ministry, they may well follow his example; truly so they may-God forgive us that we follow it so imperfectly,—but even with this interpretation, the meaning of the text is narrowed much beyond what is right: the thing which I wish to impress upon you all, Christian Brethren, is, that you are all successors of S. Paul in this respect, and that that which formed to him the principal charm of life ought to occupy a similar position in your minds to that which it did in his. Indeed, Brethren, we are all bound up together by ties infinite in number and incalculable in strength;

besides the ties of family and society, and the influence which is given to one over another by the unequal distribution of wealth, there are moral spiritual bands which bind us together, and make it possible for one man to produce upon his fellows an immeasurable influence for evil or for good; however young a person may be, or however old he may be, he has a large sphere of influence; the young man, who cleanses his way by taking heed thereto according to God's word, is preaching the fear of God, and therefore preaching true wisdom, in such a manner as cannot fail to tell; and the old man, who is old in holiness as well as in years, has numberless opportunities of doing good which are peculiar to him. So it is of all classes and conditions of men; "no man lives for himself, and no man dies for himself;" and if a man really looks upon his position in the world thus, if he looks upon his life not as a selfish possession of his own, but as a gift in which all his fellows have an interest and a share, and if he conducts his life under the sense of the responsibility which is thrown upon him, then he is taking a worthy view of his life, a view of which he need not be ashamed when the summons is sent, "Give an account of thy stewardship, for thou mayest be no longer steward." And I am sure that no other view of life can be at all put

into competition with this, as giving us a high view of our mission, and a source of hope and consolation when we come to die; and what other view do you think that you will wish to have had, when the throne is set and the books opened, and every man receives as he has done in the body whether it be good or bad?

# SERMON XVII.

#### DUTY TO PARENTS.

## PROVERBS i. 7, 8, 9.

The fear of the Lord is the beginning of knowledge: but fools despise wisdom and instruction.

My son, hear the instruction of thy father, and forsake not the law of thy mother:

For they shall be an ornament of grace unto thy head, and chains about thy neck.

My discourse to you, Christian Brethren, will chiefly refer to the latter two of these verses, in which Solomon speaks of the duty and excellence of honouring father and mother: but I have taken the three verses for a text, because I wish you to see how that Solomon grounds the fear of God, the basis of the whole religious life, upon the duty of obedience to parents. He says, "the fear of the Lord is the beginning of wisdom, but fools despise wisdom and instruction;" and it is to be expected from this opening, that he is about to describe the manner in which the wisdom of which

he speaks may be obtained, that he is about to give directions for leading a holy life; and indeed, in the verses following the text, he does give some very valuable advice and very fearful warning concerning the danger of being led away into sin; but before this come the latter two verses of the text, and in them he passes immediately from the fear of the Lord to the duty of honouring our parents. Do you not see something very striking in this? "the fear of the Lord is the beginning of wisdom; but fools despise wisdom and instruction: My son, hear the instruction of thy father, and forsake not the law of thy mother," as though the only way to attain to the fear of our Father in heaven were to commence by the fear of our father on earth, as though the fools who despised wisdom and instruction were generally identical with those, who would not listen to their fathers or who forsook the law of their mothers.

Now this view, which makes obedience to parents the basis of obedience to God, if a true view, is a very important one; and that Solomon intended to put the subject in the light I have represented, is I think clear from the whole book of Proverbs: that book is, as you know, very much taken up with advice to young persons; one great burden of it is the danger of young persons being led away by bad companions and

by youthful lusts, and the absolute need that exists for them, that they should base their whole lives upon the great principle of fearing God and keeping His commandments: but see how often throughout the book Solomon introduces the honour of father and mother, and especially note that the whole book is written as from a father to a son, and attention is claimed to its advice on the ground of the duty which the son owes to a father. Solomon evidently considered, that the duty which the conscience teaches all hearts, which have not been tampered with, to be due to earthly parents, was the best ground upon which to build the duty to God and the whole superstructure of a holy life: and in so considering he seems to me to have brought his teaching into accordance with that of the Ten Commandments; for though the commandments which contain our duty to God are placed first, as indeed they ought to be, and even as Solomon makes the "fear of the Lord" to be "the beginning of wisdom," still when those commandments have been recited we come immediately (just as we do in the text) upon the command to honour father and mother, and we find that command distinguished from all the rest by a special sanction, a special blessing attached to the keeping of it; S. Paul calls it (you will remember) "the commandment with promise": the

other commandments may be supposed to be kept in order to avoid punishment; do not kill, lest thy blood be shed in its turn; do not steal, lest thou be punished; do not commit adultery, lest thou be stoned; do not bear false witness, lest thou be brought before the judge: but to honour father and mother is a command, which no human laws can support; if a man will dishonour his father and will break his mother's heart by neglect, there is no human help for it; and yet it may be as vile a sin as theft or murder, and therefore God gives to this command a peculiar sanction of His own, and attaches a special blessing to those who keep it well; do this commandment, not from fear of human law, but that it may be well with thee, that thou mayest be blessed in thy obedience, and that God may love thee. And I may remark. that as the Lord Jesus Christ set an example of obedience to this command by being subject to His human parents, so it was one great sign of the rottenness of the religious heart of the people of His time that the fifth commandment was much dishonoured: no one can doubt that the state of religion amongst the Jews of our Lord's time was very bad, hollow, empty, canting, hypocritical; and you will remember that one of the sins which the Lord charged upon them was this, that through their human traditions they had made void the

law of giving honour to parents; they set themselves free from the command of supporting their parents in age and weakness, by pretending to consecrate to God whatever should have been set apart for their parents' use; and this was so common a piece of hypocrisy, that our Lord names it and condemns it publicly as one of the sins of the times; and it is a circumstance not to be passed over in connexion with our present subject, that as a matter of fact this neglect of the duties of the fifth commandment was found in connexion with a condition of spiritual torpor, a condition of religious hypocrisy as gross as the world ever saw. Can we wonder, that those, who in so vile a manner broke the great law of duty to parents, were deaf to the preaching of Christ?

But now let me come more particularly to the subject of the text: and in doing so, let me make this remark which I consider important: when Solomon speaks of attending to the instruction of a father and not forsaking the law of a mother, you must remember that it is not mere children to whom he is speaking: it is clear from the whole spirit of the Book of Proverbs, from the kind of sins against which he gives warning, that he is addressing young persons who have come to that period of life at which they can go wrong if they will, when the actual restraint of parents

is past, when the choice between good and evil, between the fear of the Lord and the pleasures of sin, has to be made by themselves, when the temptations of the world, the flesh, and the devil come to try what kind of principles have been instilled into them during the days of childhood; it is the young man and the young woman, rather than the child, to whom the Book of Proverbs speaks, and if therefore young persons in reading that book regard all the words about duty to father and mother as mere nursery lessons, with which they at their time of life have nothing to do, they grievously miss the scope of many valuable passages. The words of the text, for instance, are not words addressed to children in a nursery, but to young men and young women, who have their companions to choose, and their Christian profession to maintain amongst those who would tempt them to evil, and amongst the fools who make a mock at sin. Look at the passage following the text, in which the young man is warned against the flattering seducing speeches of those who lie in wait for theft and to shed blood; or remember that passage in which the young man is warned, with a plainness and faithfulness which he will find nowhere except in Scripture, against the fair speech of her whose "house is the way to hell, going down to the chambers of death":

now such warnings as these are no warnings for children, but for those who have become more or less their own masters, and who are beginning life for themselves. What I wish you to note then is, that it is to young persons of this kind to whom are addressed the admonitions concerning the instruction of the father and the law of the mother; these too are no lessons for mere children, they are lessons for those who can disobey if they will, for those who will find that it will be accounted amongst many far from being noble and manly to think much of the instruction of a father, and quite childish and absurd to teaze oneself with submission to the law of a mother; that is the Devil's version of the commandment with promise; and what we have to do is to contrast Solomon's view of the commandment with this devilish one, and see which of the two commends itself to our hearts, our judgments, as the truest and best.

And I will call your attention to the figure, by which Solomon in the text illustrates the manner in which a young person should regard his duty to his parents. He says, "they," that is, the instruction of the father and the law of the mother, "shall be an ornament of grace unto thy head, and chains about thy neck;" not a burden you will observe, but something to be worn for its

own beauty, and because it ornaments the person of the wearer; just as a person, who has been decorated for some gallant action in war, delights to wear the symbol of the approbation of his country. And the figure of the chain about the neck, if it intimates that obedience to parents is something to be gloried in, of course still more forcibly shews that it is nothing of which a young person need be ashamed; these ornaments of grace, of which Solomon speaks, would be certainly ornaments to be worn (as most ornaments are) in company, not such as a young person would wear in his own chamber, and then carefully conceal whenever he mixed with his companions. This is, I fear, the manner in which such ornaments (if ornaments they are considered) are too often worn, but this is not what was intended by Solomon; no, he intended to assert, that remembrance of the instruction of a father, and religious loving obedience to the law of a mother, were always the best ornaments a young man or young woman could wear, ornaments of which they need never be ashamed, chains better than gold or silver, which no fashion of the day should ever tempt them to lay aside.

Indeed it is a mark of a young person being very much fallen from the safe narrow path, when he allows himself to be tempted, whether in company or in his own heart, to be ashamed or think lightly of the law of his father and his mother; it is not the ingratitude of the thing which presents itself so strongly to my mind (though that is bad enough) as the folly of it, the demonstration which it gives of the absence of that strength of character, that true wisdom, which I desire in all Christian persons to find. I have no deeper conviction than this, that supposing a mother to be imbued with the fear of God, and anxious to bring up her child in that fear, then the lessons which a young person receives in childhood from his mother are by far the most valuable which he ever does receive: you think that I mean the most valuable amongst his childish lessons-not at all-I mean of all the lessons which he receives from his gradle to his grave, and I believe that in so saying I am guilty of no exaggeration whatever. Let us consider the kind of lessons that a child receives from its mother, and then see whether this view of our obligation is not reasonable. For instance; one of the most important habits that a person can form for his whole life is that of being scrupulously regular in his private prayers, morning and evening: you will all feel the infinite importance of the habit of which I speak, and I need not enlarge upon it, because my only object

is to remark upon the manner in which the habit was formed: who taught us to pray, and furnished us with words suitable to our childish utterance, and made us kneel reverently on our knees, and taught us the solemnity of prayer, and so by God's grace laid the foundation of a habit, which all the temptations of youth, and (it may be) the occasional wanderings from the narrow way, were never able entirely to break and destroy? it was our mother who did this for us.

Or again: if we have in our hearts a love of truth and honesty, if we abhor a lie, and would rather be truthful than anything which this world could make us, where did we first learn this valuable lesson? I believe that there will be few of us, who cannot trace the formation of our minds in this respect back to our most childish days, and who will not affirm that books and sermons and masters never inspired us with a horror of a lie nearly so intense as that which we imbibed from our mother's lips; that the remembrance of her advice, and her horror of falsehood, and her manifest grief if she thought her child capable of deceit, has been amongst the principal safeguards of our own truthfulness and honesty; that the law of our mother, though it may be of a mother long since gone to her rest,

has been in this sense too a chain about our neck.

Or once more: with regard to all our religious impressions, our feelings of reverence for the Scriptures, our sense of the solemnity of public worship and the behaviour which is required in God's house, our sense of the duty of charity and brotherly love, our first thoughts of the greatness and majesty of God,-where did we get these? surely in most cases it was our mother who taught us, with such loving pains and adaptation to our infant weakness as few but mothers can. And not only do I ask, where did we get them, but I ask further, where did we ever afterwards get anything like them, anything half so sterling, anything that went so deep into our being and became so thoroughly a part of ourselves? I am persuaded, that although we may have put away childish things when we became men, though we may have had our views enlarged and may have found that there was much error mixed up with our childish thoughts, still those infant buds of religious impression and belief belong to the most valuable part of our whole religious history; and as, with regard to the body, no subsequent care can compensate for the neglect of a child in infancy, so I believe that, in general, unspeakable spiritual loss is sustained by a child, who has not had in early days such mother's teaching as that which I have described.

And if this be so, that is, if the lessons of childhood which we learn from our mothers be really and truly the most valuable that we ever do learn, is not Solomon right in speaking of him as in the true road to wisdom, who reverences the law of his mother and wears it with pride as a precious chain about his neck, and in declaring on the other hand the folly and wickedness of him who despises his mother's lessons? Observe the point: it is not merely that gratitude to a mother for all her unspeakable love and forbearance and self-denial renders disobedience to her disgusting on the score of ingratitude, but it is that to think lightly of a mother's teaching is to think lightly of precisely that teaching which of all others from the cradle to the grave is the most valuable, the most entirely beyond price, the most influential upon the character of the man: and therefore I am prepared to take high ground upon the question, and I base the reverence due to the memory of a mother's lessons, not upon gratitude due for them though weak, as for toys which we broke and threw away, but upon the sound judgment of a manly intellect, which estimates that spiritual milk wherewith his childhood was nourished, as the most valuable food his soul ever received.

I have laid, as you will observe, chief stress upon the reverence due to the law of our mothers, because that seemed the weaker point; and if a man reverences his mother's teaching, he will not be likely to disregard his father. And I think it cannot be in vain that I call your attention to this subject: apart from all experience one would have said, that to honour parents would have been the instinctive conduct of mankind, that the connexion between parents and children was such, the entire dependence of one upon the other during the years of helpless infancy so strong a tie, that reverence to the laws of father and mother would be the almost universal rule of life: yet the existence of the fifth commandment suggests, that there must be a tendency to dishonour parents, otherwise we should not have needed the command, and Solomon's forcible language proves the same thing, and our own experience confirms both. Beyond all doubt there is a tendency to shake off the law of father and mother, there is a tendency (which Satan will ever be ready to make the most of) to laugh at a father's commands, and to disregard a mother's wishes, and to be ashamed of wearing them as a chain about the neck conspicuous to all as the rule whereby

we govern our conduct. And beyond all doubt, this tendency is not a manly one, as many young people fancy, but a most childish and weak tendency; it indicates that a man has not the mind to discern what is really valuable and sterling, or that he has not the courage to take his stand upon the command of God and the dictates of his own conscience, and set the opinion of men at defiance. And therefore it is, that I would pray you all, my young friends, to lay Solomon's words to heart, and believe that there is that near relation between the fear of God and the reverence of father and mother which is intimated to us in the text. And I would have you to observe, how that the habit of mind which is indicated by the figure of the text, namely, "wearing the law of father and mother as a chain about our neck," is the habit of mind which leads to all high and noble feelings: give me a man who has shewn himself in all respects a good and dutiful son, and I have very little fear that he will be a good member of society, a loyal subject of the queen, a man of open and honourable heart, a good husband, and a good father; this will be the case, because excellence in all these conditions of life requires the same simplicity of heart, the same unselfishness, the same practical wisdom, and the same obedience to the behests of gratitude and of conscience, which the keeping of the fifth commandment requires.

Therefore I feel, my young Christian friends, that I cannot be too urgent in pressing upon you such words as those of the text. As often as in the course of our Sunday Lessons the Book of Proverbs comes to be read in its turn, I feel as though it were the Church's call to her ministers to address themselves to the peculiar wants of the young; and therefore I have in this sermon addressed myself to a subject, which is at the root of the whole Book of Proverbs, and which also lies at the root of your Christian life: and I pray you to think upon the subject carefully, and see how deeply it concerns you. I have not attempted, nor do I think it necessary, to enter into particulars concerning the manner in which each of you may obey the advice of the text; each one has his own peculiar circumstances, his own peculiar trials, his own peculiar temptations: what I wish to impress upon you is the spirit of the text, and if only you lay that well to heart, it will take root and bear fruit in your lives.

And let me say in conclusion, that unless a young person does keep the fifth commandment, I cannot think that any profession of religion which he may make can be worth much; if he

does not honour his father on earth, he cannot (I fear) honour his Father who is in heaven: you will remember the argument which S. John uses respecting brotherly love; he says, that he who does not love his brother whom he has seen cannot love God whom he has not seen; and the argument which I have used is of the same kind, but still stronger; for the relationship of a child to his father is but the faint shadow of the relationship of a man to his Father in heaven; and the honour of one leads to the honour of the other; and if a young person profess to honour God his Father in heaven, and manifestly does not honour his father upon earth, then he had better look to it whether his life be not an empty show and his religion a lie.

## SERMON XVIII.

## THE LOSS OF THE SOUL.

## S. MARK viii. 35, 36, 37.

For whosoever will save his life shall lose it; but whosoever shall lose his life for my sake and the Gospel's, the same shall save it.

For what shall it profit a man, if he shall gain the whole world, and lose his own soul?

Or what shall a man give in exchange for his soul?

These very solemn words of our Lord are recorded by the three Evangelists S. Matthew, S. Mark, and S. Luke; and they are recorded by them all three as spoken in connexion with that remarkable confession of S. Peter concerning Christ, and the no less remarkable rebuke which immediately afterwards was administered to the same Apostle by his Lord. We cannot always feel certain that the various parts of the histories of the Evangelists are arranged in the exact order in which the events happened, indeed it is quite certain that this order is not strictly attended

to; but in the present instance, I think that the same arrangement being followed by the three Evangelists may be taken as sufficient evidence, that the words of the text were actually uttered by the Lord in that same connexion with S. Peter's confession and rebuke, which in the Gospels is assigned to them; and taking this to be the case, I think that we should look at the words of the text in this their real connexion, and see whether an additional force is not given to them by observing under what circumstances they were spoken.

Let us then look for a moment to the confession of S. Peter and the circumstances connected with it. There had been, as you must all have observed, a very remarkable reserve in the early ministry of the Lord; it is not to my purpose to discuss the reasons why our Lord adopted the course which He did, though it would be easy for me to say several things which might help to explain it; but it is sufficient to observe, that our Lord though preaching from the first the coming of the kingdom of God, yet did not assert the position which He Himself was to hold in that kingdom; He said "the kingdom of God is at hand," but He did not say, I am anointed of God to be a Prince and a Saviour, the true king of men, the promised seed of the woman,

the desire of all nations, the Immanuel of whom the prophets spoke: this He rather left His hearers to infer for themselves; He went about doing good, healing those oppressed with the Devil, curing diseases, and shewing forth by many mighty works that He was not a mere prophet of good things to come; and it was for those who watched the signs of the times, and were expecting (as many were in those days) the consolation of Israel, to draw the conclusion, "this is indeed the Christ." Now it was at such a time that the Lord asked the disciples, "Whom do men say that I am?" and when they told Him that there were various opinions concerning Him, He put the question to themselves, "Whom say ve that I am?" and then it was that S. Peter shewed how much more deeply than others he had penetrated into his Master's character by replying, "Thou art the Christ." Now the chief point which I wish you to notice with respect to this confession, so far as regards my present subject, is this, the different trains of thought to which this confession gave rise in the mind of the Lord and the mind of S. Peter. You will perceive by looking at the history, that it was immediately upon this confession that the Lord began to prepare the minds of His disciples for His approaching sufferings and death; that

is to say, the fact of His being the great one that S. Peter asserted Him to be, the fact of His having so divine and superhuman a character, that (as Christ declared) S. Peter could only have known and believed it through the revelation of God, this fact at once led the Lord to speak of His humiliation and sufferings: as long as they knew Him only as a teacher, a prophet, so long they were permitted to indulge their fancy in the greatness which would be His and theirs in the coming kingdom of Heaven; but as soon as they knew Him to be Christ the Son of God, "then," or, as S. Matthew has it, "from that time forth," as though it afterwards became an integral part of His private instruction to them, "He began to teach them that the Son of Man must suffer many things." Thus you will observe, that the greatness of His own being was by the Lord Himself immediately associated with His sufferings: He was Christ, that is the Anointed, but anointed to what? anointed to suffer; He was a Prince indeed, but the Prince of sufferers; He was to conquer His enemies and carry them captive at His chariot-wheels, but it was by suffering: it was no accident therefore (if we may so speak) that Christ commenced teaching, that He was about to suffer many things, at this particular time; if the disciples had now learned that

He was Christ, it was necessary that they should learn still more; if not, their knowledge would turn to poison, and their belief in the greatness of their Master would only puff up their minds with dangerous pride. And this necessity is evident from the manner, in which S. Peter received the Lord's announcement: elated apparently with the commendation which he had received, he took upon himself to rebuke his Master when He spoke of His sufferings and death: though he had been able to see so much of the Lord's character, yet his was but a worldly view after all; to his mind the sufferings of which the Lord spoke were signs of weakness, and if Christ were as great as he thought Him to be he could not believe that any such weakness could belong to Him; and the prospect of His future life, which the Lord sketched out for Himself, was altogether opposed to that which S. Peter had himself conceived. Thus you will observe that the same truth, namely, that Jesus of Nazareth was the Christ of God, led the minds of the Lord and of Peter two very different ways; it led the Lord to declare His sufferings and humiliation; it led Peter to think such sufferings and humiliation impossible; the teaching of the Lord was, I am (as you confess) the Christ, and therefore I must suffer many things; the thought of Peter's mind was, our Master is indeed the Christ, and therefore He will subdue His enemies, and found an everlasting kingdom, and no harm can happen unto Him. And the Lord characterized Peter's view as a low earthly view, not a divine one; He said, "thou savourest not the things that be of God, but the things that be of men;" it was indeed exactly the view, which men unenlightened by the Spirit of God, men in their mere natural unrenewed state, would take of the Lord's greatness: what is it that gives to vulgar minds a charm in the notion of being a prince or a king? it is the notion of luxury and ease, unattended with care and labour and suffering: I do not say that such notions are not infinitely absurd, but unquestionably a king, if envied at all, is envied by thoughtless people because his condition is imagined as one too high, and too much separated from the rough workingday world, to be embittered by cares and sufferings and labours; "be it far from thee, such things cannot happen unto thee." And this was just the poor grovelling view, which Peter took of his Master's condition; a poor man standing to be spit upon and buffeted by rude hands, hooted by a mob, crucified like a thief, this was as far as anything possibly could be from the vision of greatness and majesty, which flashed upon S. Peter's mind when he confessed Jesus

to be Christ. And this view was that which savoured of the things that be of men; and that view which the Lord Himself took, and which so scandalized Peter's unenlightened mind, was that which savoured of the things that be of God.

Now I have thus at some length discussed the confession and rebuke of S. Peter, because (as I have already said) they seem to be closely connected with the solemn teaching of the text. The fearfully wrong view which S. Peter had taken of what was consistent with the character and office of the Lord, notwithstanding the wonderful revelation he had received concerning His true being, seems to have suggested (as it were) to our blessed Lord the necessity of publishing clearly and broadly certain essential laws of His kingdom. So He called to Him the people with His disciples also; for the lesson which He was about to teach was one for all ears, it could not be too extensively known nor too carefully pondered; and when He had called them He said, "Whosoever will come after Me, let him deny himself, and take up his cross and follow Me;" thus He laid down selfdenial as the basis of His service, He did not wish any one to follow Him under false notions, He would not have them think that he would soon burst out from

His obscurity and divide wealth and honours amongst His followers; no, He would have them count the cost, and take this as the basis of all their reckoning, that to follow Him they must deny themselves; for His kingdom was in fact founded upon that principle, which S. Peter had not yet received; and as it followed, that because He was Christ, therefore He must suffer, so it also followed, that those who would be great in His kingdom must obtain their position, not according to the fashion of this world, but by denying themselves and taking up the cross.

Thus was the Lord led to speak the solemn words of the text: He has told the people that they must count the cost before they follow Him, and in order to help them to come to a wise and sound conclusion, He speaks to them, in that simple solemn manner in which no other man ever spoke, concerning the value of their souls. Let us consider for a moment the first verse of the text by itself: Jesus says, "For whosoever will save his life shall lose it; but whosoever shall lose his life for My sake and the Gospel's, the same shall save it." Now a part of the meaning of this verse is manifest: it may be considered to teach, that any one, who, fearing the severe terms which Christ laid down for those who followed Him, should determine to avoid the troubles of the Christian life, would not be any gainer thereby; whoever in this way tried to save his life would certainly lose it: Christ had blessings to bestow, which these poor cowardly creatures could never obtain; and contrariwise, any one, who, seeing the entire surrender of self which the Gospel required, should say, I am content, I will give up all, I will follow Christ,—any one, who should thus lose all earthly things, yea his very life, as a martyr for Christ's sake, would find a new life for that which he sacrificed, and an abundant return for all things which he gave up. In fact, the words which I am now considering would be as it were the breastplate of the early Christian martyrs; as they walked to death, as they thought upon the fiery trials which awaited them, they would need no other support than such words as these, "whosoever will save his life shall lose it; but whosoever shall lose his life for the sake of Christ and the Gospel, the same shall save it."

Thus to those whom Christ immediately addressed, and those of the times immediately following, these words would be a tower of strength; and even to ourselves they are very far from useless, if they teach us that no real happiness can be gained by shrinking from Christ's yoke, and that all that we do for Christ and all that

we give up for Him, and if need be all that we suffer for Him, will be richly rewarded by Him whom we serve. But in taking the whole text together a very important remark arises, which would not arise from the first verse taken by itself: in the first verse we find our Lord speaking of a man saving his life and losing his life, in the second and third we find Him speaking of a man losing his soul and making exchange for his soul: now any person acquainted with the original language of the New Testament will be aware, that the word translated in one place life and in the other place soul is one and the same word: I do not blame the translators for using two different words where the original uses only one, because there was obviously a difficulty in using only one. whichever they took: if throughout they had used the word life, then it would have seemed in the last two verses of the text as though the word applied only to our natural life in the body, "what shall a man give in exchange for his life?" the passage would not have had that awful force to our ears which it has now, "what shall a man give in exchange for his soul?" But on the other hand, if they had used the word soul throughout, then the first verse would hardly have been intelligible, speaking as it would of a man losing his soul for the sake of Christ and the Gospel.

So that one hardly sees what course remained, except that which the translators actually have taken, namely, to use the word life in one place and soul in the other. Yet I think it cannot be without meaning, that the same word is used in the three verses of the text; or to put the same thing in a broader light, it cannot be otherwise than an important fact for us to think upon, that the distinction between the life and the soul, which seems recognized in the English version of the text, has (so far as I am aware) no existence in the New Testament. I lay stress upon this, because I think that we are apt to fall into an erroneous way of speaking and thinking upon the subject; we speak of a man having a soul, as we might speak of his having a heart or a head, as though his soul were a part of him and not the man himself, as though a man without a soul were not a man without life, in fact no man at all, a man without that very principle of being which makes him a man. Now I think it far from unworthy of notice, that this way of speaking of men's souls is not in harmony with the New Testament; thus when Lazarus died we read that he, not his soul, was carried away by angels; and when the rich man lifted up his eyes in torments it was he himself, even he who was buried. So the Apostle says, "we shall all stand

before the judgment-seat of Christ;" and when he speaks more at length of the resurrection, it is we ourselves, our very selves, who are to be raised again in bodies glorified. And Christ did not say to the thief, Your soul shall be with mine, but, "This day thou shalt be with Me." If you look upon the New Testament with this point in view, you will I think see that the tone of its language is different from that used by many religious writers in these days: but you will say it is only a question of words, they mean the same thing; perhaps they may-but depend upon it, no incorrectness of words will very long be unaccompanied by an error of thought; thoughts are but invisible words, and words are embodied thoughts; and indeed in this case it is not difficult to point out the nature of the error to which this mode of speech leads; it leads directly to the notion that there is a distinction between the good of a man's soul and his own good; as though it were only upon the supposition of the man having this thing which we call a soul, that the ministers of the Gospel have a message which it is worth while for a man to hear: the Gospel, as I apprehend, is sent to men because they know what is right and what is wrong, and because their life is not bodily pleasure, but is union with God: suppose for an instant that there be no life after the

grave, or that, according to modern phrase, a man has no soul; still religion does not become a delusion, still man's happiness must exist where it exists now, even in the knowledge of God and in obedience to Him; a man need not wait until philosophers have settled the question of the immortality of the soul, before he makes up his mind to follow Christ; as long as he is a man and not a beast, so long is his life in God, and it will profit him nothing to gain the whole world and to lose that divine life. Observe, that I do not deny that our blessed Lord's words gain infinitely in awfulness of meaning, when we look upon that life of which He speaks as stretching out into eternity; I do not deny that the life which is saved is infinitely more worthy of being saved when it is commensurate with the life of Christ Himself, nor that the loss is less than infinitely unspeakable when it is a loss of life everlasting; but I do wish to express, that Christ came not to seek and to save anything short of our whole selves, and that in like manner the ministers of Christ (if I may so speak) desire the salvation not of souls but of men. I lay stress upon this point, because there is a kind of feeling in men's minds, that we the ministers of Christ's Church have a different end in view from other men who may desire the moral and social improvement of mankind; that we have only to preach about men's souls, and about certain rewards and punishments which await those souls in another world, concerning which world it is obvious that a vast number of men think and care very little, if indeed they believe in it at all: now I on the other hand would maintain, that we have to speak of that which has the promise of this world and of that which is to come as well, that the godliness which we preach is profitable unto all things, profitable whether a man live thirty years or whether he live until the sun has burnt itself out, profitable because man is man, and not brute, profitable because a man's life is the breath of God, and if he lose that he loses himself. And I cannot help thinking that the appeal of a minister to his flock, especially if that flock be, as too many now-a-days are, overrun with ignorance and vice and infidelity, will be more convincing in proportion as they to whom he speaks are persuaded that the feeling of his heart is this? "I seek not something which belongs to you, but I seek you, your very selves."

And now what do we learn from the whole text? We learn that an earnest Christian life requires the sacrifice of everything which may be a hindrance to its growth; even a man's life must be jeopardized for that which is his true

life; and the gain of all things will be an infinite loss, if it entail the sacrifice of our spiritual life. I would only say concerning these most solemn warnings of the Lord Jesus Christ, Do we really believe them? there is nothing in them that we can very well disbelieve, their simplicity is so great, they appeal so immediately to our consciences, that we can scarcely help at once recognizing in them the solemnity of the words of God. What a simple question it is, "What shall it profit a man if he gain the whole world, and lose his soul, his life, himself?" The world is a great prize, judging according to human estimates; it includes all the wealth, the power, the pleasures, that human nature is capable of possessing and enjoying; yet what is it, if the man who has gained it has lost himself? you may say-truly-the enjoyment can last only for a time, and the joys of Heaven last for evermore; there is reason in that, Brethren, and yet I will give you what seems to me to be a higher reason still: do you remember that the offer of the whole world was once made to Christ Himself? do you remember how that once, in His mysterious temptation, He saw from an exceeding high mountain all the kingdoms of the world and the glory of them? and they were all offered to Christ: by whom? by the devil: and on what

condition? that Christ would do homage to the devil for them: there I think you see, why a man who gains the whole world is an infinite loser; a man who gains the whole world must have the devil for his patron, and the devil for his liege lord; and he who has the temptation to possess it should use the answer which the Lord Himself used, "Get thee hence, Satan; for it is written, Thou shalt worship the Lord thy God, and Him only shalt thou serve." Yea, Brethren, to serve God and worship Him, especially as He has revealed Himself to us in Jesus Christ, this is the true life of mankind; to renounce the whole world, the flesh, and the devil, and instead of them to follow Christ in all gentleness and purity and lovingkindness, this is what we were devoted to in Baptism, and what our lives depend upon now. I know you believe this: God give us all grace to shew by our practice that it is no barren belief, but one which, as it will have everlasting life (we trust) for its end, so will have holiness here for its fruit.

## SERMON XIX.

(Preached on the Sunday after Christmas Day.)

THE REVERENCE DUE TO THE BLESSED VIRGIN.

S. LUKE i. 46, 47, 48.

And Mary said, My soul doth magnify the Lord,
And my spirit hath rejoiced in God my Saviour.

For He hath regarded the low estate of His handmaiden:
for, behold, from henceforth all generations shall call
me blessed.

I THINK it will not be out of place, but on the other hand will be very fitting and convenient, that I should say something at the present season concerning the character of the Blessed Virgin Mary, and the respect due to her. We have lately been occupied, indeed I may say that we are still occupied, with the thoughts of our blessed Lord's birth into the world; and though in the picture of the Nativity the divine Babe Himself should be the central figure, and the light which shines from Him should be that which illuminates

all the rest, still when we have reverently adored the infant Jesus, we may without forgetting Him turn our eyes upon some of the inferior actors in the mysterious scene. And certainly amongst these first and foremost stands the Virgin Mother: if we had any right to speak of one of the human race as more highly favoured than all the rest, I think we might be inclined to assign that first place to Her; for if we consider the divine nature of Jesus Christ, we shall conclude that the title of Mother of Jesus, involving as it does a nearer connexion with the incarnate Son of God than could be vouchsafed to any other, implying also a miraculous conception, and a greater amount of agency in bringing about the work of human redemption than belonged to any other of the human race, we shall conclude, I say, that the title of Mother of Jesus is the highest title which this world has known. And I think we cannot wonder, if under certain circumstances the reverence which our hearts so naturally and willingly and justly accord to the Blessed Virgin, should have gone beyond due bounds, and have degenerated into something very like that worship which is due only to God; and we cannot wonder, on the other hand, if at certain times a reaction should take place, and the perception of the wrong done to the Saviour of mankind by the excessive devotion to her who required a Saviour herself, should lead to the other extreme, and tempt men to deny to S. Mary that honour which sober religion would accord to her.

Now as soundminded sons of the Church of England it becomes us to avoid all extremes, and while we eschew all idolatry, and all doctrine which has its foundation in a warm imagination rather than in Scripture and primitive tradition and reason, to assign to the Blessed Virgin that tribute of reverence and affectionate regard which her distinguished position demands. In these day's especially I think that we ought to have our minds settled upon this subject, because there seems to be a tendency in some portions of the Roman Catholic Church to press even beyond all former precedent the cultus (as it is called) of the Blessed Virgin: I allude especially to the fact of a new doctrine respecting S. Mary having received the full sanction of that Church; and the doctrine is this, that as we believe the Lord Jesus to have been conceived without that original or birth sin, as it is called, which belongs to the whole human race, and as we accordingly speak of the conception of the Lord as an immaculate, or spotless, that is, a perfectly pure conception, so we are to believe that the conception of the Virgin Mother herself was of the

same kind, that she too was by birth pure, and had no inherited stain from Adam such as that which we call original or birth sin. Now this doctrine we may safely say is not in Scripture; and that it is not in accordance with reason would appear from this, that any argument which would prove the Blessed Virgin to have been different from the rest of mankind in her original spiritual condition, would prove the same of her parents, and so on in an endless line. And what is the effect of this doctrine? undoubtedly thisthat it virtually lifts the Blessed Virgin out of the list of the human race, makes her something more than human, and may possibly be a step towards a still more fearful doctrine, I mean the doctrine of her divine nature. Whatever may be the result of this bold tampering with Scripture truth, I am quite sure that the effect must be mischievous, and that whatever apologies may be made, the false honour attributed to the holy Mother must have the effect of darkening, or at all events of confusing, the view of the greater Son.

Now then, Christian Brethren, turning away from this perversion of doctrine respecting the Blessed Virgin, let us endeavour to take a right and sober view concerning her true position and the honour due to her. And in the first place,

I would call your attention to the singular beauty and purity and steadiness of character, which are manifested in those passages of S. Mary's life which come before us in the Gospels: let me bring forward a few as illustrations. The first point that I will mention is the remarkable faith, with which she received the annunciation from the angel of the wonderful event which was to take place: her words are very simple and very full of faith, "Behold the handmaid of the Lord; be it unto me according to Thy word." And in accordance with this first expression of faith are the words of that beautiful hymn, part of which I have quoted for a text; in it she fully recognizes the greatness of the honour which is to be put upon her, and yet she does not impute it to her own merit, but to the will of God alone, that she is so raised above her fellows: if you examine that hymn you will perceive that its most marked feature is this, that it celebrates throughout the greatness and mercy of God, while it dwells upon her own lowliness; she is but the handmaiden of low estate whom God hath regarded, and whom all generations will call blessed on account of the honour bestowed by God upon her; it is He who being mighty has done great things and whose name is holy, He whose mercy is on them that fear Him, He who

shews strength with His arm, He who puts down the mighty from their seat, He who fills the hungry with good things, He who remembers His mercy and helps His servant Israel. If the Blessed Virgin has been exalted into an undue position among the Saints, we may safely say, that no protest against the false doctrine can possibly be stronger than that which we find in her own words.

Again, the manner in which, as we read, Mary pondered in her heart the various events of the Lord's childhood, which seemed to point out her Son as being greater than even she herself had suspected, is worthy of notice as being precisely that which befits a religious character of the highest order. When the shepherds came to Bethlehem and did homage to the infant Saviour, and told of the angels' hymn which they had heard as they watched their flocks, we read that they who heard wondered at the things which were told them by the shepherds, but Mary kept all these things and pondered them in her heart: she knew more than those who were standing round concerning the child, and yet she seems to have suspected that even she did not know all that one day would be revealed; and therefore she was still, and waited until God's good time should reveal the whole truth.

The same religious discretion marked her conduct on the occasion of her losing sight of Jesus on their return from Jerusalem, when He was twelve years old: you will remember His words to His parents, when they found Him in the Temple, "How is it that ye sought Me? wist ye not that I must be about My Father's business?" an answer which might well add to their perplexity, and which His Mother does not seem to have understood; but she did not forget the saying because she could not understand it, on the other hand she kept it in her heart.

Quite in accordance with this temper and conduct is the incident, which S. John relates concerning the marriage in Cana of Galilee: you will remember how that when the Blessed Virgin appealed to her Son because there was no wine, He rebuked her, "Woman, what have I to do with thee? Mine hour is not yet come:" she does not resent the rebuke, but says to the servants, "Whatsoever He saith unto you, do it."

Now such notices as these all point to a certain high religious character, which indeed we might expect to find in her who was chosen for so great an honour, as that of being the human Mother of the Lord. They are characteristic of a person, who being placed in very difficult circumstances, where great faith and discretion and fortitude were

required, acted in a manner worthy of her position; and the little notices we have of her life prepare us for finding her nearest to the cross, when the last awful scene took place which was to pierce her own soul as with a sword, and for finding her name amongst those who were assembled together in Jerusalem after the resurrection to await the coming of the Holy Ghost. "Quietness and confidence," those chief marks of mature \*Christian character, seem to be precisely the marks of the character of the Blessed Virgin; one who could wait God's time, and be neither puffed up with honour nor depressed by affliction, but in the most difficult and most painful, and yet the most honourable position ever assigned to one of our race, could abstain from all that was unworthy of a saint and walk humbly with God.

Thus I think that the study of the life of S. Mary, as we are able to make it out from the fragments which the Gospels contain, leads us to think highly of her saintly character. We are not bound to compare too curiously those, who, whatever may be their excellences, require to be washed in the same blood, and are inspired by the same Holy Spirit; and therefore we are not bound to set S. Mary beyond all other saints as to goodness and holiness, but we are bound to recognize the extreme beauty and purity of

her character, and to acknowledge that we can find none, who would seem, even to our imperfect judgment, to be worthier of the honour which was assigned to her.

But it is not her own excellence, which specially exalts the Blessed Virgin; it is the honour which was put upon her, independently of all merit of her own. I have already called your attention to the manner in which, when speaking her own thoughts concerning the honour put upon her, she says, My soul doth magnify the Lord; and truly this is the right view to take of the matter; no one could deserve the honour of being the mother of Christ, and she who was selected for that honour was chosen because it was God's good will to give it to her. And when we think upon all that is implied in the saying, "she brought forth her firstborn Son, and called His name Jesus," when we consider what manner of child it was that she brought forth, we may feel inclined to wonder at her lot, and exaggerate the glory of her condition; and this is what has been done, and Christ our Lord seems to have anticipated that it was likely so to be, and more than once He rebuked the feeling which in later times has led to such unhappy results: you will remember how that upon one occasion, when a woman in the crowd cried out, "Blessed is the

womb that bare Thee and the paps which Thou hast sucked," the Lord replied, "Yea, rather blessed are they that hear the word of God and keep it;" and again when He was told that His mother and His brethren desired to speak with Him, He said, "Who is My mother, and who are My brethren?" and then stretching out His hands towards His disciples He said, "Behold My mother and My brethren! for whosoever shall do the will of My Father which is in heaven, the same is My brother and sister and mother." The spirit of these sayings of our Lord is not to be mistaken; He would have us see that there is a spiritual union with Himself, which every humblest Christian may have by faith and holiness, which infinitely transcends in closeness and in vitality even that union which bound Him to His human Mother: He would have us not regard any human relationship to Himself according to the flesh, as comparable with that relationship which members of His Church have with Him as their spiritual and lifegiving head: and I can hardly account for the very pointed manner in which the Lord protested against the magnification of human relationships to Himself, except by supposing, that the words were spoken with reference to the errors which He foresaw would creep into His Church from this very source in after days.

Nevertheless we need not flinch from according to S. Mary the honours which belong to her: "All generations shall call me blessed," says the text; and we must have dull hearts if we do not so account her: and there is one effect which the honour put upon her has had upon the human race, which may be mentioned by the way, and which I the rather notice because I do not remember to have seen the point touched upon; and it is this, the manner in which the weaker sex is regarded by the stronger among Christian nations: I think, without entering deeply into the question, which time will not allow, it may be asserted, that before the religion of Christ governed the manners of mankind, that honour and equality was not accorded to women which by divine right belongs to them; nor is it now accorded in any nation but those which are Christians, not among Jews, nor Mahometans, nor Hindoos, nor among any savage nations: I cannot but trace the difference in this respect amongst Christian people to the honour put upon women in the person of the Blessed Virgin: if in the generally depressed condition of the weaker sex, we see the accomplishment of the special curse put upon woman's sin in Paradise, may we not also see the removal of the curse, when the fulness of time was come, and woman who

brought sin into the world was also through God the means of bringing into the world the Redeemer and Destroyer of sin?

But this by the way: I was remarking that we ought not to flinch from according to the Blessed Virgin the honour due to her; and as we honour the Apostles because they were very near to and much honoured by the Lord, without asserting that they have any actual relation to God which we may not have, so may we rightly honour the Virgin Mother of Christ, without any extravagant views of her nature as being different from or higher than our own. But men have gone further; they have raised the Blessed Virgin out of the ordinary class of Saints, and have assigned her a position of her own, and a position fearfully like that which ought to be occupied only by her divine Son: and how has this come about? I think it has arisen in this way: in adoring the divine nature of Christ, I think that men rather lost sight of His manhood; I do not mean that they would deny His manhood, but that the manhood did not present itself to them sufficiently clearly and constantly: persons sometimes find fault with the Roman Catholics, because they dishonour the Son by putting the Blessed Virgin in His place, and this may to a certain extent be true; but it is true, not because they

have forgotten the Divinity of Christ and made His Mother divine instead, but because they have forgotten His manhood, and have been led to make the Blessed Virgin the mediator, instead of the Man Christ Jesus. This has been admitted by one of the most subtle of the recent converts to Romanism; he speaks of a chair being left vacant in Heaven by the declaration of the essential Deity of Christ, and of the Blessed Virgin occupying that chair. This may be a very shocking mode of speaking of what is in fact the bringing in of a new Gospel, but I believe that it expresses to a certain extent the truth: God became man in the person of Jesus Christ, in order to redeem mankind and make them one with God: the doctrine of Scripture is uniformly this, that because Christ is man, therefore He is "the way, the truth, and the life," that through Him we have access to the Father, that the "Word became flesh," and so men received "power to become the sons of God:" thus the human nature of Christ becomes a main doctrine of the Gospel, no less than the divine; they are, so to speak, the two ends of Jacob's ladder, that ladder which joins Heaven and Earth; if the divine nature of the Lord enable that ladder to rest in Heaven, the human is no less necessary to enable it to rest upon

Earth; and if by a forgetfulness of the human nature of Christ, as compared with the divine, men deprive themselves of the mediator between God and man which their hearts tell them they require, what remains but that they should set up a new mediator? and who so likely to be chosen for the usurped seat as the Mother of the Lord?

But however this may be, I am quite of opinion that the true antidote to all improper views of the condition of the Blessed Virgin is a proper and complete view of the union of the divine and human natures in the person of Jesus Christ. While we reverence S. Mary as one of the first of Saints, while we call her blessed, and think her the most highly honoured of the human race, we shall still feel no temptation in our hearts to worship her, (even in that modified way which the Roman Church distinguishes from the worship due to God,) provided we have our whole souls filled with the contemplation of the Saviour Jesus Christ. And to contemplate Him fully as our Saviour and Mediator, we must regard Him as we do at this season in His humanity: if we estimate aright the divine condescension implied in His birth into the world, if we understand those words of the Apostle, "though rich for our sakes He became poor,"

if we regard His humiliation as an actual and infinite self-sacrifice, we shall feel that there is no need for, and no room for, any other mediator between God and ourselves besides Him may think that they honour Him by regarding Him as exalted so high, that their prayers cannot reach Him unless conveyed by some lower mediator; but I think that to a really reflecting mind men do thus unspeakably dishonour Christ, and rob Him of the chief jewel of His crown as the Lord and Saviour of mankind: it cannot be to honour Him, to set up under any pretence whatever other mediators between God and man beside Himself: it cannot be really pleasing to the blessed woman who was privileged to be His human mother, if indeed she be able to know what men do upon this earth, it cannot be pleasing to her, I say, to be placed in a position which she more than any other knew to belong only to Him, whom though coming after her she recognized as her Lord as well as her Son. God forgive those who thus mistake His Gospel, and give the enemies of religion occasion to blaspheme: for ourselves, Christian Brethren, I believe that we have no particular cause to fear any such tendencies to false worship, but I think that we shall do well to take this warning, that we bear constantly in mind the doctrine of our Blessed

Lord's humanity. What we believe is, that Jesus Christ, by assuming human flesh, joined together two natures the human and the divine never to be divided; we believe that by this union He became not only our Redeemer but our Mediator, that He stands now at the right hand of God making intercession for us, that we need no other mediator, no other intercessor. This will be His office until the number of the elect is accomplished and His kingdom comes: and none can be a more willing mediator between God and man, than Him who humbled himself unspeakably that He might be able to do this very thing. God grant then, Christian Brethren, that we may live continually and practically in this faith, ever looking to Jesus the author and finisher of our faith, and hoping, with the Blessed Virgin and all other Saints, to meet one day in His kingdom to praise the condescension and love of Him who is the common Saviour and Lord of both us and them.

### SERMON XX.

#### BECOMING LIKE LITTLE CHILDREN.

### S. MATTHEW xviii. 1, 2, 3, 4.

At the same time came the disciples unto Jesus, saying, Who is the greatest in the kingdom of heaven?

And Jesus called a little child unto Him, and set him in the midst of them:

And said, Verily I say unto you, Except ye be converted and become as little children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of heaven.

Whosoever therefore shall humble himself as this little child, the same is greatest in the kingdom of heaven.

THE account of this transaction is found, with some slight variations, recorded by three out of the four Evangelists. If it were to my purpose I might notice this as a very striking mark of the candour and honesty of the Evangelists, that they should thus have been careful in recording a story which manifestly does not tend much to the honour of the first Apostles of Christ; at the same time, the very emphatic manner in which

our Blessed Lord taught His lesson prevents us from wondering that His lesson was remembered; so that viewing it in this way, we are not surprised that the story should have been generally diffused throughout the Church and known to all the Evangelists; for often, one may fancy, if any of the early disciples felt within the motions of ambition or jealousy or pride, that scene would come to his mind, in which the Lord, wishing to shew who should be greatest in His kingdom, had set a little child in the midst of them. Now I propose to consider this very important teaching of our Blessed Lord in two ways, which will probably give greater distinctness to the remarks which I may have to make: in the first place, I shall consider the story related in the text more especially with reference to the disciples to whom it was addressed; and this I shall do principally with a view to introduce the second part of the subject, which will be the more general consideration of the text as applying to ourselves, or to the whole Christian Church.

S. Matthew represents the disciples as coming to their Master with the question, "Who is the greatest in the kingdom of heaven?" S. Mark and S. Luke both speak of our Lord Himself being the first to mention the subject; they also mention that there had been a private dispute

amongst the disciples upon this question, which of them should be the greatest: perhaps the complete account would be that the disciples disputed on the way to Capernaum, as both S. Mark and S. Luke assert; that our Lord had perceived that such a dispute had been going on, and therefore Himself exposed the disease in order that He might heal it; that the disciples first held their peace, being ashamed as S. Mark speaks; and that lastly, when pressed and reassured by their Master, they propounded their question to Him in some such form as that recorded by S. Matthew. But however this may be, it is quite necessary to bear in mind the dispute by the way, of which S. Mark and S. Luke inform us, in order to understand the ground of the question proposed by the disciples in the first verse of the text; it was no mere idle speculation, it was a question in the answer to which unfortunately they felt themselves personally interested: and if we inquire what was the cause of such a question arising in their minds, or (which is the same thing) what was the occasion of that dispute for precedency which had taken place, it is not hard to conjecture; for you will see by reference to your bibles, that the event of the text followed upon two or three others, in which honour had been given to certain of the disciples before the rest;

especially I may refer to the transfiguration on the Mount, which had been witnessed by Peter and James and John: it is true that the rest did not know how great a vision had been granted to these three, forasmuch as the favoured disciples were especially commanded to keep secret what they had seen until after the Lord's resurrection: but perhaps this secresy may even have added to the jealousy which the rest of the disciples felt, and perhaps the three might even have been exalted above measure by the honour put upon them, and might have looked down upon their fellows: anyhow we can see in the history of the transfiguration abundance of cause for a dispute amongst the disciples, in the state of mind in which they then were, as to who should be chief amongst them. Moreover our Lord had some time before spoken to S. Peter in such a manner as might have roused the jealousy of the rest; it was not long since Peter had made that remarkable confession, concerning the Saviour's godhead,\* which had drawn from our Lord those strong expressions of approbation, which concluded with the words, "I will give unto thee the keys of the kingdom of heaven: and whatsoever thou shalt bind on earth shall be bound in heaven, and whatsoever thou shalt loose on

earth shall be loosed in heaven;" there was much in expressions like these to give S. Peter a precedence, both in his own eyes and in the eyes of others; and we have perhaps an example of each of these results; for in the first place, we find him immediately after taking upon himself to rebuke the Lord, when He spoke of His approaching sufferings and death, a rebuke which brought upon him those sharp chiding words, "Get thee behind Me, Satan; thou art an offense unto Me; for thou savourest not the things that be of God, but those that be of men;" and in the second place, we find that when Jesus and His disciples were come to Capernaum,\* the receivers of the tribute-money came to Peter, saying, "Doth not your Master pay tribute?" as though either Peter put himself before the rest, or they appeared to acknowledge him as the first. And indeed some have thought, that it was our Lord's conduct in this latter transaction, which gave rise to the jealousy amongst the disciples; for our Lord having directed Peter how he was to find a piece of money, says to him, "that take and give unto them for Me and thee;" thus, as the others might perhaps imagine, taking Peter away from the rest into a special kind of partnership with himself. It is not, however,

<sup>\*</sup> Matt. xviii.

necessary to sift all these conjectures; it is quite sufficient for me to have shewn, that there had of late been circumstances in the history of the disciples calculated to stir up feelings of jealousy and envy, in order that you may be able to enter somewhat into their feelings when they inquired of their Master, "Who is the greatest in the kingdom of heaven?" The fact is that the Lord had recently spoken to them of the coming of His kingdom as of a thing near at hand; He had said, "Verily I say unto you, there be some standing here, which shall not taste of death, till they see the Son of Man coming in His kingdom;"\* and they, probably mistaking these words, and imagining that the kingdom of David was again about to be established in Jerusalem in tenfold majesty, were jealous of any mark of favour given to one above another, as indicating that such an one would be preferred before the rest in this kingdom; their eyes as yet required purging, their hearts to be enlightened; they knew not what this kingdom was, of which they spoke so freely; they prayed daily in the words which Christ taught them, "Thy kingdom come," and doubtless they were earnest in the prayer; they thought that in praying for that, they were praying for their own \* Matt. xvi. 28.

advancement and glory, and they did not realize the truth that in so praying they were asking for that, which would be realized in their own sufferings and persecutions and cruel deaths. To us it may appear strange, that the various hints of our Lord respecting the real meaning of His kingdom had not as yet enlightened the disciples' eyes; and doubtless they too, after the illumination which came upon them on the day of Pentecost, looked back with wonder upon their blindness during their Lord's lifetime to that which afterwards appeared so plain; but such is the gradual development of the knowledge of the kingdom of God, and we may see it illustrated in that miracle of restoring the blind man to sight: first he saw men as trees walking, not totally blind but with only indistinct glimmerings of the truth,-such was the condition of the disciples during their Lord's lifetime; afterwards he saw all things plainly,-a full and distinct vision, such as the disciples had when the Comforter had come to bring all things to their remembrance, and lead them into all truth.

Having then these partial half-worldly notions of what was meant by the kingdom of Heaven, the disciples referred their dispute to Christ, saying, "who is the greatest in that kingdom?" And the answer which our Lord made, though

it did not give them any particular light as to the manner in which the coming of His kingdom should be realized, did yet give them a view of one leading feature of that kingdom, and impressed it upon them in such a manner that they could never forget it. Our Lord does not say, "the man who is holiest is the greatest in My kingdom," for then there might have been a strife as to who was holiest, and nothing could possibly be more alien to the spirit of His kingdom than for one to say to another, "Stand apart, I am holier than thou;" neither does He say, he is greatest who has the strongest faith in Me, or who is the most charitable, or who is the most forgiving, although any one of these answers might have been true; because to have given any one of these would have involved exactly the same difficulty, as that which I have just now criticised; they would all have shifted the difficulty, and not have got rid of it; for it is just as easy, and just as odious, for men to dispute amongst themselves which is the strongest in faith, which is the most charitable, or which is the most forgiving, as to dispute which shall be greatest in the kingdom of Heaven. And were it necessary, it would be very easy to shew, that Christendom has smarted from this very thing; that is, from men striving to make themselves appear

to others as more saintly than their brethren, and that not by doing their duty in the state of life to which it has pleased God to call them, but by doing actions and acquiring habits the very end of which is to lift them out of the common herd, and mark them out above all others as emphatically Saints. I am of course alluding to the continual addition of the names of saints to the Calendar which was once almost universal in Christendom, and which had the effect not only of injuring the character of the saints themselves, but also of grievously darkening the view, which the Church was able to obtain, of Him who alone is greatest in the kingdom of Heaven, even Jesus Christ Himself.

Now how did our Lord meet the difficulty, which lay in the way of giving a true answer to His disciples, and yet one which could not be abused? in a manner which speaks His wisdom in a wonderful way. He takes a little child, and sets it in the midst of them as a pattern and example; and He says, "Except ye be converted," that is, except ye be altogether turned from your present jealous, ambitious, rivalrous state of mind, "and become as little children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of Heaven;" not only ye shall not enter it at all; "whosoever therefore

shall humble himself as this little child, the same is greatest in the kingdom of Heaven." Now it is obvious, that there is much in the character of a little child, from which the disciples of our Lord, as ourselves, might learn lessons of great value to their souls; childlike gentleness, teachableness, obedience, truthfulness, purity, in fact the apparent absence of all the evil qualities and passions, which though existing in the child's heart in the seed have not yet become visible, all these characteristics of a child may be held up to men by way of a parable to teach them what they ought to be: but I apprehend there is one special quality of the mind of a little child which our Saviour intended principally to hold forth in the text, and this is its unconsciousness of any dignity belonging to it or to its actions; "whosoever shall humble himself," says our Lord, "as this little child;" the little child performs its actions from an impelling instinct, without considering whether they will tend to raise it or to depress it above its fellows; it is perfectly simple and unaffected in all its aims; it does not compare itself with others or feel envy of them: I am not praising the little child for these things, they merely arise from the fact of the child's mind and feelings being at present merely in the seed; I think it is a very sickly kind of

religion, which leads us to speak of the deeds of little children as really more pleasing to God than our own; I have heard it said that their worst actions have perhaps less of sin mixed with them than the best of ours, and I think such an opinion monstrous and absurd; still the character of mind belonging to little children may very well be made to yield a lesson by Him, who sends us for wisdom even to the lilies of the field. And the mighty destiny, and mysterious greatness, of a little child, taken in connexion with the simple manner in which it performs all its actions with no thought of its own dignity, and no jealous wish to raise itself beyond others, give us an admirable picture of the state of mind which Christ would implant in His disciples. They had asked, Who was the greatest in His kingdom? in reply He held up for their imitation one whose characteristic was this, that he never asked such questions at all; it was not a Christian question, so to speak, which they had asked, and therefore the Lord pointed out for the type of the great ones in His kingdom a little child, which from the very condition of its childhood was incapable of comparing itself and saying, Am I greater than my brethren? And the character of the Apostles in after times is a very good commentary upon our Lord's lesson; for we see

them all working together with one end, namely that of founding the Church, not desiring each to record His own name, but simply to make men reverence the name of Christ: and if on one occasion S. Paul seems to deviate from the general tone of conduct belonging to the Apostles, if he exalts himself above others and boasts of what he has done, it is with the protest that he is speaking foolishly because others have compelled him; and when speaking the genuine feelings of his own heart, he gives them utterance in such words as these, "God forbid that I should glory, save in the cross of the Lord Jesus Christ."

But I must now pass on to say something of the lesson of the text, as it applies to ourselves or to the Church generally; and it is obvious that the lesson which the disciples were chiefly intended to learn is not without its value for ourselves; for it points out to us the manner in which we are to walk along the narrow way which leads to life, ever pressing towards the mark, looking unto Jesus the author and finisher of our faith, without looking upon other things, and without comparing ourselves with others who are striving for the same crown. For in this the heavenly race in which we are engaged differs from those earthly races with which it is so often compared,

namely, that in them there are but a few prizes, and the very question which forms their life and soul is this, Who is greatest? who is the first? and consequently their spirit is essentially one of rivalry, and jealous pressing one before another; but in the heavenly race there is no limit to the number of incorruptible crowns to be bestowed, "in My Father's house," saith Christ, "there are many mansions;" and moreover, it is God alone who can tell which is foremost in the race; man's judgment on that matter is worth very little; "many," saith Christ, "who are first shall be last and the last first;" and thus that jealous rivalry, which forms the very life of a race for an earthly crown, has no place in the race for a heavenly; the principle of the two is not the same, and he is probably first in the Christian race who most shrinks from the question "Am I first?" or (speaking of the kingdom) he is probably greatest in the kingdom of Heaven, who having striven to the utmost to glorify God has least troubled himself with the question "Who is greatest in the kingdom of Heaven?" Thus the lesson, which our blessed Lord specially designed to teach His disciples in His own day, may be a lesson for us in these days; for although we know more than they did of the nature of His kingdom, and are not likely to be deceived

by any temptation to rivalry exactly similar to that which came upon them, yet still we may learn that true healthy Christian life consists in a continual looking off from ourselves and also from our neighbours, in a continual looking to Christ, in a simple, earnest, hearty endeavour to do God's will while life and strength last, leaving all questions as to who shall be first, or who last, to the decision of Him who will one day call all to a reckoning and give to each man according as his work shall be.

But in applying to ourselves the lessons which may be learnt from the example of a little child, we may with advantage give to our thoughts a somewhat wider scope; for it is unquestionably true, as I have already remarked, that many of the qualities, which belong to a little child, are forcibly typical of the qualities of mind, which ought to belong to a Christian. This is a subject very easy to follow out, but one which I do not desire to enter into just now except in one particular point; our Lord speaks of our humbling ourselves as little children, in order that we may be great in the kingdom of Heaven, and it will at once occur to you that this includes intellectual humility, that is, that we are to humble our minds, our intellects, before the mysteries of God's revelation, if we would enter into, much more if we

would be great in, His kingdom. Now I think it well to say a few words upon the manner, in which a little child is to be our example of humility, with regard to the exercise of our reasoning powers in matters concerning religion. It is sometimes said, and said truly, that faith and not reason is the basis of religion, and it is rightly asserted, that by reason alone a man cannot find out God; men have tried to do so and failed; but is it true that reason has no place in religion, and is obliged to give way when its conclusions are contrary to the truths revealed? this cannot be a just view of the case; God gave man his reason to be his light and his guide, and under no circumstances to be hid under a bushel; faith and reason are not enemies, but the joint supports of the religious life. This we shall see better by comparing religion with any human science; we know for instance much concerning the heavenly bodies, their motions, their distances, and the like; how did we acquire this knowledge? reason alone could not help us; men tried for ages to deduce a true theory of God's universe from their own minds; they failed, as well they might; at last they found it necessary to examine patiently and humbly what God had actually revealed to them in the heavens; by this patient examination they found a sure foundation,

on which their reason could take its stand: here then in a matter of mere human science was a case, in which men found it necessary to humble themselves as little children; and the result justified the sacrifice; the method was far less showy and pretentious than that which put the human reason alone to devise a universe for itself, but at the same time it was far more fruitful, and those who humbled themselves were soon exalted before those who humbled themselves not. And be it observed, that in this case the reason was not deposed from its lawful position, and from its proper rights, but from a position which it never ought to have occupied, which it was destruction to itself that it should occupy; and also that the result of tying down the reason to its proper province, was to give it such victories in natural science as it had never achieved before. Now let us see what light this will throw on the relation, which reason ought to bear to faith in the case of religion: reason left to itself ends in idolatry, or in something akin to it; it would end in mere cold empty general conclusions respecting the Creator, but the heart of man will not rest in such cold conclusions, it finds no comfort in them, it says, "give me something nearer to me than the unseen power which created all things," and so it forces the reason into some

system of idolatry to satisfy its own restless cravings. Now here it is that faith steps in, and holds forth for the belief of mankind the mystery of godliness, God manifest in the flesh, not as in any way opposed to reason, but as supplying a foundation for the reason to work upon which, it never could have found for itself; and the thing in which we are to imitate little children is this, that we are to believe simply and gratefully that truth which God has revealed to us, namely, that His Son has visited us in great humility, that God is not far from us, but has once become man and so for ever taken up our manhood into God; and having once accepted this truth in all its marvellous depth and yet marvellous simplicity, then we may seek in it the highest subject for the exercise of our intellectual powers. And as we found that in human science the humbling of the mind led to abundant fruits, so here we may truly say, that the receiving in faith the message of the Gospel, so far from prostrating the reason, will tend more than any other thing to expand the human mind and enlarge its discoveries. Need I point in proof of this to the fact, that learning and science and civilization have made their most rapid and permanent advances in Christian countries? or need I tell you, that whatever scoffers may say,

yet there have been men of the very highest order of mind, who have professed to find in the religion of Christ not only a solace in weary hours, not only a comfort to their hearts, and an appeal to their feelings, but "the perfection of human intelligence," that in which when once revealed their highest reason found its widest field, its deepest satisfaction? Thus then I would say, Brethren, imitate little children in the matter of the relation in which your reason stands to your faith: God reveals to you that which you could never have found out for yourselves, and which therefore it becomes you to receive at His hands humbly and thankfully; God reveals to you that He has come amongst you, has taken your nature, your troubles, your pains, your fears, and He wishes you to receive this as a little child receives its first instruction, undoubtingly, and yet as that, which, the more you examine it and weigh it, will the more approve itself to you as the very highest wisdom. Doubtless, while we are here we must always to some extent be children; the mysteries of God are too deep to be measured by any plumbline which our intellect can supply; but of this we may rest assured, that if we first receive God's revelation with a little child's humility, and when we have received it walk with a little child's purity and

simplicity, then we shall be able to grow in the knowledge of God and of the Lord Jesus Christ, until we come to that blessed state in which we shall know even as we are known,

THE END.

CAMBRIDGE:
PRINTED BY METCALFE AND PALMER.

## LIST OF BOOKS

PUBLISHED BY

# DEIGHTON, BELL, AND CO.

(AGENTS TO THE UNIVERSITY)

# Cambridge.

Alford.—The Greek Testament: with a Critically Revised Text; a Digest of various Readings; Marginal References to Verbal and Idiomatic Usage; Prolegomena; and a Critical and Exegetical Commentary. For the use of Theological Students and Ministers. By H. ALFORD, B.D., late Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge.

Vol. I., 3rd Edition, containing the Four Gospels, £1. 8s.
Vol. II., 2nd Edition, containing the Acts of the Apostles, the Epistles to the Romans and Corinthians, £1. 4s.

Vol. III. In the Press.

Alford.—Passages in Prose and Verse from English Authors for Translation into Greek and Latin; together with selected Passages from Greek and Latin Authors for Translation into English: forming a regular course of Exercises in Classical Composition. By H. ALFORD, B.D. 8vo. 6s.

Amos.—Ruins of Time Exemplified in Sir Matthew Hale's History of the Pleas of the Crown. By ANDREW AMOS, Esq., Downing Professor of the Laws of England in the University of Cambridge, and late Member of the Supreme Council of India.

Amos.—Gems of Latin Poetry. With Translations, selected and illustrated by ANDREW AMOS, Esq. 8vo. 12s.

Ashley.—The Relations of Science.

By JOHN M. ASHLEY, Gonville and Caius College, Cambridge; late Lecturer on Chemistry at the Hunterian School of Medicine, and at the Royal Polytechnic Institution, London. 12mo. 6s.

- Babington.—The Benefit of Christ's Death: probably written by Aonio Paleario: reprinted in Facsimile from the Italian Edition of 1543; together with a French Translation printed in 1551; from Copies in the Library of St. John's College, Cambridge. To which is added, an English Version made in 1548, by Edward Courtenay, Earl of Devonshire, now first edited from a MS. preserved in the Library of the University of Cambridge. With an Introduction, by CHURCHILL BABINGTON, B.D., F.L.S., Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge, and Member of the Royal Society of Literature. Square crown 8vo. 7s. 6d.
- Babington.—Mr. Macaulay's Character of the Clergy in the latter part of the Seventeenth Century Considered; with an Appendix on his Character of the Gentry, as given in his History of England. By C. BABINGTON, B.D. 8vo. 4s. 6d.
- Babington.—ΥΠΕΡΙΔΗΣ ΚΑΤΑ ΔΗΜΟΣΘΕΝΟΥΣ.
  The Oration of Hyperides against Demosthenes, respecting the Treasure of Harpalus. The Fragments of the Greek Text, now first Edited from the Facsimile of the MS. discovered at Egyptian Thebes in 1847; together with other Fragments of the same Oration cited in Aucient Writers. With a Preliminary Dissertation and Notes, and a Facsimile of a portion of the MS. By C. BABINGTON, B.D.

  4to. 6s. 6d.

4to. 0s. 0a.

- Barrett.—The Propositions in Mechanics and Hydrostatics, which are required of Questionists not Candidates for Honors, with Illustrations and Examples, collected from various sources. By A. C. BARRETT, M.A. Second Edition. With additions and corrections. Crown 8vo. 6s.
- Beal.—Palmer's Origines Liturgicæ, an Analysis of; or, Antiquities of the English Ritual, and of his Dissertation on Primitive Liturgies: for the use of Students at the Universities and Candidates for Holy Orders, who have read the Original Work. By W. BEAL, LL.D., F.S.A., Vicar of Brooke, Norfolk.

Blakesley.—Herodotus.

In Two Volumes, 8vo., with Notes, &c. By the Rev. J. W. BLAKESLEY, B.D., late Fellow and Tutor of Trinity College, Cambridge. 2 vols. 8vo. cloth, 11. 12s.

The CLIO has been issued separately, price 5s.

- Blunt.—Five Sermons, Preached before the University of Cambridge. By J. J. BLUNT, B.D., late Margaret Professor of Divinity.

  - The Nature of Sin.
     The Church of the Apostles.
  - 3. On Uniformity of Ritual. 4. The Value of Time.
  - 5. Reflections on the General Fast-Day (March 1847).
- Blunt.—Four Sermons, Preached before the University of Cambridge. By J. J. BLUNT, B.D.
  - 1. The Church of England, Its Communion of Saints.
  - Its Title and Descent.
     Its Text the Bible.
  - 4. .... Its Commentary the Prayer-Book.
- Blunt.—Five Sermons, Preached before the University of Cambridge. By J. J. BLUNT, B.D. 8vo. 5s. 6d.
  - 1. Tests of the Truth of Revelation.
  - Of Unfaithfulness to the Reformation.
  - 3. On the Union of Church and State.
  - 4. An Apology for the Prayer-Book.
  - 5. National Reform.
- Calder.—Arithmetic, a Familiar Explanation of the Higher Parts of, comprising Fractions, Decimals, Practice, Proportion, and its Applications, &c. With an Appendix. Designed as an Introduction to Algebra. By the Rev. F. CALDER, B.A., Head-Master of the Grammar School, Chesterfield. Second Edition. 12mo. 3s. 6d. With Answers, 48. 6d.
- Cambridge Antiquarian Society's Publications. Quarto Series, Parts 1 to 8, and 10 to 15, 5l. 1s. 6d. (part 14 out of print); and Octavo Series, parts 1 to 3, 9s. 6d.—Reports. Nos. 1 to 5, 5s.

- Cambridge University Almanac for the Year 1856. Embellished with a Line Engraving of a View of St. John's College New Buildings, from a Drawing by B. RUDGE. (Continued Annually.) 5s.
- Cambridge University Calendar for 1856. (Continued Annually.) 12mo. cloth, 6s. 6d.
- Cambridge Examination Papers, being a Supplement to the Cambridge University Calendar, containing the Senate-House Examination Papers, including those set for the Tyrwhitt, Crosse, Craven, and Bell Scholarships; Carus Greek Testament Prize; Ordinary B.A. Examination; Moral and Natural Sciences Triposes; the Previous Examination; Chancellor's Medals, and Theological Examinations, with a List of Ordinary Degrees and of those who have passed the Theological Examination.

  12mo. sewed. Ready.
- Chevallier.—A Translation of the Epistles of Clement of Rome, Polycarp, and Ignatius; and of the Apologies of Justin Martyr and Tertullian: with an Introduction and Brief Notes illustrative of the Ecclesiastical History of the First Two Centuries. By the Rev. T. CHEVALLIER, B.D., late Fellow and Tutor of St. Catharine's Hall.

New Edition. 8vo. 12s.

- Churton.—Pearsoni Præfatio Parænetica, ad Vetus Testamentum Græcum ex Versione Septuaginta Interpretum; juxta Exemplar Vaticanum Romæ Editum. Cantabrigiæ 1655. Cum Notulis EDVARDI CHURTON, A.M., Eccl. Ebor. Archidiac. et Canonici. 8vo. 1s.
- Crowfoot.—Academic Notes on the Holy Scriptures.

  First Series. By J. R. CROWFOOT, B.D., late Fellow and Lecturer on Divinity in Gonville and Caius College.

  8vo. 2s. 6d.
- Crowfoot.—Bp. Pearson's Five Lectures on the Acts of the Apostles and Annals of St. Paul. Edited in English, with a few Notes, by J. R. CROWFOOT, B.D. Crown 8vo. 4s.
- Dobson.—Schleiermacher's Introductions to the Dialogues of Plato. Translated from the German by W. DOBSON, M.A., Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge. 8vo. 12s. 6d.

- Donaldson.—Varronianus. A Critical and Historical Introduction to the Philological Study of the Latin Language. By J. W. DONALDSON, D.D., formerly Fellow and Classical Lecturer of Trinity College, Cambridge. Second Edition, considerably enlarged.
- Donaldson.—Classical Scholarship and Classical Learning considered with especial reference to Competitive Tests and University Teaching. A Practical Essay on Liberal Education. By J. W. DONALDSON, D.D. Crown 8vo. 5s.
- Drury.—Arundines Cami. Sive Musarum Cantabrigiensium Lusus Canori; collegit atque edidit H. DRURY, A.M. Editio quarta. 8vo. 12s.
- Earnshaw.—Dynamics; or a Treatise on Motion.

  To which is added, a short Treatise on Attractions. By the Rev. S. EARNSHAW, M.A., of St. John's College, Cambridge. Third Edition.

  8vo. 14s.
- Earnshaw.—A Treatise on Statics, containing the Theory of the Equilibrium of Forces; and numerous Examples illustrative of the general Principles of the Science. By the Rev. S. EARNSHAW, M.A. Third Edition, enlarged.

  8vo. 10s.
- Ellis.—A Treatise on Hannibal's Passage of the Alps, in which his Route is traced over the Little Mont Cenis. With Maps. By R. ELLIS, B.D., Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge. 8vo. 7s. 6d.
- Evans.—Newton's Principia, the First Three Sections, with an Appendix; and the Ninth and Eleventh Sections. Edited by the Rev. J. H. EVANS, M.A., late Fellow of St. John's College, and Head-Master of Sedburgh Grammar School. Fourth Edition.

- Foxley.—On Faith in Natural and Revealed Religion, as necessary for the Purification and Perfectibility of Man. The Burney Prize Essay for the Year 1854. By JOSEPH FOXLEY, B.A., Scholar of St. John's College, Cambridge, and Assistant Master, St. Peter's School York. 8vo. 1s.
- Gaskin.—Solutions of the Geometrical Problems proposed at St. John's College, Cambridge, from 1830 to 1846, consisting chiefly of Examples in Plane Coordinate Geometry. With an Appendix, containing several general Properties of Curves of the Second Order, and the Determination of the Magnitude and Position of the Axes of the Conic Section, represented by the General Equation of the Second Degree. By the Rev. T. GASKIN, M.A., late Fellow and Tutor of Jesus College, Cambridge. 8vo. 12s.
- Gaskin,—Solutions of the Trigonometrical Problems proposed at St. John's College, Cambridge, from 1829 to 1846. By the Rev. T. GASKIN, M.A. 8vo. 9s.
- Gaskin.—The Geometrical Construction of a Conic Section, subject to five Conditions of passing through given Points and touching given Straight Lines, deduced from the Properties of Involution and Anharmonic Ratio; with a variety of General Properties of Curves of the Second Order. By the Rev. T. GASKIN, M.A. 8vo. 3s.
- Goodwin.—The Doctrines and Difficulties of the Christian Religion contemplated from the Standing-point afforded by the Catholic Doctrine of the Being of our Lord Jesus Christ. Being the Hulsean Lectures for the Year 1855. By the Rev. HARVEY GOODWIN, M.A., late Fellow of Gonville and Caius College, Minister of St. Edward's Cambridge, and Hulsean Lecturer.
- Goodwin.—Christ in the Wilderness.

  Four Sermons preached before the University in the month of February 1855. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A.

  12mo. 4s.

Goodwin.—Four Sermons, preached before the University of Cambridge in the month of November 1853. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. 12mo. 4s.

#### CONTENTS.

The Young Man cleansing his way.

The Young Man in Religious Difficulties.

The Young Man as a Churchman.
 The Young Man called by Christ.

Goodwin.—Parish Sermons. First Series.

By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. New Edition. 12mo. 6s.

Second Series. New Edition, 12mo, 6s.

Third Series. New Edition, 12mo, 7s.

Goodwin.—" My Duty towards God, and my Duty towards my Neighbour." Being a Fourth Series of Parish Sermons. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A.

Now Ready, 12mo, 7s.

Goodwin.—Short Sermons at the Celebration of the Lord's Supper. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. New Edition. 12mo. 4s.

Goodwin.—Lectures upon the Church Catechism. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. 12mo. 4s.

Goodwin.—A Guide to the Parish Church. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. Second Edition. 18mo. 3s. 6d.

Goodwin.—Confirmation Day.
Being a Book of Instruction for Young Persons how they ought to spend that solemn day, on which they renew the Vows of their Baptism, and are Confirmed by the Bishop with prayer and the laying on of hands. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. Second Edition, 2d.; or 25 for 3s. 6d. Goodwin.—The Worthy Communicant; or, 'Who may come to the Supper of the Lord?' By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A.

Goodwin.—Education for Working Men.

An Address delivered in the Town-Hall of Cambridge, on the Evening of October 29, 1855. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A.

Goodwin.—An Elementary Course of Mathematics, designed principally for Students of the University of Cambridge. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. Fourth Edition. 8vo. 15s.

\*\*\* This Edition contains 100 pages of additional matter, and the price has been reduced from 18s. to 15s.

Goodwin.—Elementary Statics, designed chiefly for the use of Schools. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. Crown 8vo. 6s.

The design of this work is to make the principles of Statics intelligible to boys who have attained a fair knowledge of Algebra and Trigonometry. The laws of Statics, the composition and resolution of forces, and the doctrine of the lever, are first deduced experimentally; and the student having been thus rendered familiar with the fundamental truths of the subject, is subsequently introduced to their mathematical demonstration. This arrangement forms the most striking peculiarity of the book. Each chapter is accompanied by an imaginary conversation between the tutor and pupil, in which the difficulties of the subject are discussed, and collateral information introduced. There is also appended to each chapter an Examination Paper of Questions upon its contents.

Goodwin.—Elementary Dynamics, designed chiefly for the use of Schools. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A.

Crown 8vo. 5s.

\*\* The two books bound together, 10s. 6d.

This volume is a sequel and companion to the preceding. It is written as nearly as possible upon the same principle, having appended to each chapter an imaginary conversation and a paper of Examination Questions. The three Laws of Motion are dealt with in three separate chapters; each of the earlier laws being followed out into its consequences, and illustrated by practical applications, before another is introduced. It is believed that this arrangement will be found very much to facilitate the progress of beginners. There is a chapter upon the impact of balls; and the treatise concludes with the doctrine of the simple cycloidal pendulum.

- Goodwin.—A Collection of Problems and Examples, adapted to the "Elementary Course of Mathematics." With an Appendix, containing the Questions proposed during the first Three Days of the Senate-House Examinations in the Years 1848, 1849, 1850, and 1851. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. Second Edition.
- Goodwin.—Elementary Chapters in Astronomy, from the "Astronomie Physique" of Biot. By the Rev. H. GOODWIN, M.A. 8vo. 3s. 6d.
- Gorham.—A Treatise on the Episcopate of the Ante-Nicene Church, (with especial reference to the Early Position of the Roman See). By the Rev. G. M. GORHAM, M.A., late Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge, and Crosse University Scholar. Fcap. 8vo. 3s. 6d.
- Gorham.—Xenophontis Cyropædia. With English Notes, by the Rev. G. M. GORHAM, M.A.
- Gregory & Walton.—A Treatise on the Application of Analysis to Solid Geometry. Commenced by D. F. GREGORY, M.A., late Fellow and Assistant Tutor of Trinity College, Cambridge; Concluded by W. WALTON, M.A., Trinity College, Cambridge. Second Edition, revised and corrected.
- Gregory and Walton.—Examples of the Processes of the Differential and Integral Calculus. Collected by D. F. GREGORY, M.A. Second Edition, edited by W. WALTON, M.A.
- Griffin.—A Treatise on the Dynamics of a Rigid Body. By the Rev. W. N. GRIFFIN, M.A., late Fellow and Tutor of St. John's College, Cambridge. 8vo. 6s. 6d.
- Griffin.—Solutions of the Examples appended to a Treatise on the Motion of a Rigid Body. By the Rev. W. N. GRIFFIN, M.A.

  8vo. 6s.
- Griffin.—A Treatise on Optics.

  By the Rev. W. N. GRIFFIN, M.A. Second Edition.

  8vo. 8s.

- Hardwick-A History of the Articles of Religion. Including, among other Documents, the X Articles (1536), the XIII Articles (1538), the XLII Articles (1552), the XI Articles (1559), the XXXIX Articles (1562 and 1571), the Lambeth Articles (1595), the Irish Articles (1615), with Illustrations from the Symbolical Books of the Roman and Reformed Communions, and from other contemporary sources. By C. HARDWICK, M.A., Fellow and Chaplain of St. Catharine's Hall. 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Harvey-Sermons for Young Men. Preached before the University of Cambridge during the month of February 1853, by W. W. HARVEY, B.D., late Fellow of King's College, and Rector of Buckland, Herts.
- Harvey-The History and Theology of the "Three Creeds." By W. W. HARVEY, B.D. 2 vols. post 8vo. 14s.
- Harvey—Ecclesiæ Anglicanæ Vindex Catholicus, sive Articulorum Ecclesiæ Anglicanæ cum Scriptis SS. Patrum nova Collatio, curâ G. W. HARVEY, B.D. 3 vols. 8vo. 12s. each.
- Harvey—Prælectio in Prov. viii. 22, 23. Quam munus Lectoris Regii in Literis Hebraicis petendo habuit G. WIGAN HARVEY, A.M., Collegii Regalis nuper Socius, III Id. Octob. 1848. 4to, sewed, 3s.
- Harvey—S. Irenæi Libros V. adv. Hæræses. Versione Latina cum Codicib. Claromontano ac Arundel. denuo collata. Textu Græco auctiore facto; Commentationibus adjectis; Fragmenta necnon prout exstant Græce, Syriace, Armeniace, edidit G. W. HARVEY, S.T.B.
- Hildvard-M. A. Plauti Aulularia. Ad fidem Codicum qui in Bibliotheca Musei Britannici exstant aliorumque nonnullorum recensuit, Notisque et Glossario locuplete instruxit, J. HILDYARD, A.M., Coll. Christi apud Cantab. Socius. Editio altera. 8vo. 7s. 6d.
- Hildvard-M. A. Plauti Menæchmei. Ad fidem Codicum qui in Bibliotheca Musei Britannici exstant aliorumque nonnullorum recensuit, Notisque et Glossario locuplete instruxit, J. HILDYARD, A.M. Editio altera.

8vo. 7s. 6d.

Hind—The Principles and Practice of Arithmetic. comprising the Nature and Use of Logarithms, with the Computations employed by Artificers, Gagers, and Land Surveyors. Designed for the use of Students. *Eighth* Edition. With a New Appendix of Miscellaneous Questions. By the Rev. JOHN HIND, M.A., late Fellow and Tutor of Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge. 12mo, bds. 4s. 6d.

In the present treatise the Author has endeavoured to combine what is necessary of the Philosophy of the Science of Arithmetic with the

practice of the Art of Numbers.

Throughout the work he has attempted to trace the source of every rule which is given, and to investigate the reasons on which it is founded: and by means of particular examples comprising nothing but what is common to every other example of the same kind, to attain in Arithmetic the kind of evidence which is relied upon in Geometry, or in any other demonstrative science.

A Second Appendix of Miscellaneous Questions, (many of which have been taken from the Examination Papers given in the University during the last few years), has been added to the present edition of this work, which the Author considers will conduce greatly to its practical utility, especially for those who

are intended for mercantile pursuits.

Hind-A Key to the Arithmetic, with an Appendix, consisting of Questions for Examination in all the Rules of Arithmetic. By the Rev. J. HIND, M.A. Second Edition.

Hind—The Principles and Practice of Arithmetical Algebra: Established upon strict methods of Mathematical Reasoning, and Illustrated by Select Examples proposed during the last Thirty Years in the University of Cambridge. By the Rev. J. HIND, M.A. Third Edition.

Designed as a sequel to the Arithmetic, and affording an easy transition from Arithmetic to Algebra-the processes being fully exemplified

from the Cambridge Examination Papers.

Hind—The Elements of Algebra. By the Rev. J. HIND, M.A. Sixth Edition, revised, improved, and reduced in price. 8vo. 10s. 6d.

Hind—The Elements of Plane and Spherical Trigonometry, with the Nature and Properties of Logarithms and the construction and use of Mathematical Tables. By the Rev. J. HIND, M.A. Fifth Edition. 12mo. bds. 6s.

Designed to enable the Student to become acquainted with the principles and applications of Trigonometry, without requiring of him anything more than a knowledge of the Elements of Geometry and a facility in the common operations of Arithmetic and Algebra.

- Holden.—Foliorum Silvula; a Selection of Passages for Translation into Greek and Latin Verse, mainly from the University and College Examination Papers; Edited by the Rev. H. A. HOLDEN, M.A., Vice-Principal of Cheltenham College, Fellow and late Assistant Tutor of Trinity College, Cambridge.

  Post 8vo. 7s.
- Holden.—Foliorum Centuriæ. Selections for Translation into Latin and Greek Prose, chiefly from the University and College Examination Papers. By the Rev. H. A. HOLDEN, M.A. Post 8vo. 7s.
- Hopkins.—Some Points of Christian Doctrine, considered with reference to certain Theories recently put forth by the Right Honorable Sir J. STEPHEN, K.C.B., LL.D., Professor of Modern History in the University of Cambridge. By the Rev. W. B. HOPKINS, M.A., late Fellow and Tutor of St. Catharine's Hall, and late Fellow of Caius College, Cambridge.
- Hopkins.—Apostolic Missions: Five Sermons preached before the University of Cambridge in May 1852. By the Rev. W. B. HOPKINS, M.A. 8vo. 5s.
- Hopkins.—A Series of Figures Illustrative of Geometrical Optics. From the German of Professor Schellbach. Edited with Notes, &c., by the Rev. W. B. HOPKINS, M.A. Demy folio, 10s. 6d.
- Horace.—Quintus Horatius Flaccus. With Illustrations. Fcap. 8vo. 5s.
- Humphry.—An Historical and Explanatory Treatise on the Book of Common Prayer. By the Rev. W. G. HUMPHRY, B.D., late Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge, Examining Chaplain to the Lord Bishop of London. Second Edition, enlarged and revised. Post 8vo. 7s. 6d.
- Hustler.—Elements of the Conic Sections, with the Sections of the Conoids. By the Rev. J. D. HUSTLER, late Fellow and Tutor of Trinity College, Cambridge. Fourth Edition.

  Rev. 4s. 6d.

Hutt.—Solutions of Goodwin's Collection of Problems and Examples. By the Rev. W. W. HUTT, M.A., Fellow and Sadlerian Lecturer of Gonville and Caius College. 8vo. 8s.

- Hymers.—Elements of the Theory of Astronomy. By J. HYMERS, D.D., late Fellow and Tutor of St. John's College, Cambridge. Second Edition. 8vo. 14s.
- Hymers.—A Treatise on the Integral Calculus. By J. HYMERS, D.D. Third Edition. 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Hymers.—A Treatise on the Theory of Algebraical Equations. By J. HYMERS, D.D. Second Edition. 8vo. 9s. 6d
- Hymers.—A Treatise on Conic Sections. By J. HYMERS, D.D. Third Edition. 8vo. 9s.
- Hymers.—A Treatise on Differential Equations, and on the Calculus of Finite Differences. By J. HYMERS, D.D. 8vo. 10s.
- Hymers.—A Treatise on Analytical Geometry of Three Dimensions. By J. HYMERS, D.D. Third Edition. 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Hymers.—A Treatise on Trigonometry. By J. HYMERS, D.D. Third Edition, corrected and improved. 8vo. 8s. 6d.
- Hymers.—A Treatise on Spherical Trigonometry. By J. HYMERS, D.D. 8vo. 2s. 6d.

- Jeremie—Two Sermons preached before the University of Cambridge, on April 26, 1854, and March 21, 1855, being the Days appointed for General Humiliation and Prayer. By J. A. JEREMIE, D.D., Regius Professor of Divinity.

  8vo. each 1s. or together 2s.
- Jeremie—Sermon preached before the University of Cambridge, on July 1st, 1855, on the occasion of the Death of Professor Blunt. By J. A. JEREMIE, D.D. 8vo. sewed, 1s.
- Keeling—Liturgiæ Britannicæ, or the several Editions of the Book of Common Prayer of the Church of England, from its compilation to the last revision, together with the Liturgy set forth for the use of the Church of Scotland, arranged to shew their respective variations. By WILLIAM KEELING, B.D., late Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge. Second Edition.
- Kennedy—Progressive Exercises in Greek Tragic Senarii, followed by a Selection from the Greek Verses of Shrewsbury School, and prefaced by a short Account of the Iambic Metre and Style of Greek Tragedy. By B. H. KENNEDY, D.D., Prebendary of Lichfield, and Head-Master of Shrewsbury School. For the use of Schools and Private Students. Second Edition, altered and revised.
- Kennedy—Translation of Select Speeches of Demosthenes, with Notes. By the Rev. C. R. KENNEDY, M.A., Trinity College, Cambridge. 12mo. 9s.
- Liveing—An Introduction to Qualitative Chemical Analysis, including the use of the Blow-Pipe. By G. D. LIVEING, B.A., Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge.

  Preparing.
- Long—Cicero's Orations.

  Edited by GEORGE LONG, M.A., formerly Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge.

  8vo.

Vol. I. 16s. Vol. II. 14s. Vol. III. in the Press.

Long—M. Tullii Ciceronis Cato Major sive de Senectute, Laelius sive de Amicitia, et Epistolae Selectae. With English Notes and an Index. By G. LONG, M.A. 12mo. cloth, 4s. 6d.

- Long J. Caesaris Commentarii de Bello Gallico. With Notes, Preface, Introduction, &c., by G. LONG, M.A. 12mo, cloth, 5s. 6d.
- Long—An Atlas of Classical Geography, containing 22 Maps, Engraved by W. Hughes. Edited by G. LONG, M.A. With an Index. Imp. 8vo. half-bound, 12s. 6d.
- Long—A Grammar School Atlas, adapted for Junior Boys, containing 10 Maps, selected from the above. 5s.
- Macleane—The Works of Horace, with a Commentary, by the Rev. ARTHUR JOHN MACLEANE, M.A., Trinity College, Cambridge. 8vo. eloth, 18s.
- Macleane—Quinti Horatii Flacci Opera Omnia.
  With English Notes abridged from the larger edition. By
  the Rev. A. J. MACLEANE, M.A. 12mo. cloth, 6s. 6d.
- Macleane—Juvenal and Persius, with Notes. By the Rev. A. J. MACLEANE, M.A. Svo. In the Press.
- Macmichael—The Anabasis of Xenophon, based upon the Text of Bornemann: with Introduction, Geographical and other Notes, Itinerary, and Three Maps compiled from Recent Surveys and other Authentic Documents. By the Rev. J. F. MACMICHAEL, B.A., Trinity College Cambridge, Head Master of the Grammar School, Ripon. New Edition, revised.
- Macmichael—The New Testament in Greek; based on the Text of Scholz. With English Notes and Prefaces; a Synopsis of the Four Gospels; and Chronological Tables, illustrating the Gospel Narrative. Edited by the Rev. J. F. MACMICHAEL, B.A. Uniform with the "Grammar School Classics." 730 pages. 12mo. cloth, 7s. 6d.

- Marsden.—Two Introductory Lectures upon Archæology, delivered in the University of Cambridge. By the Rev. J. H. MARSDEN, B.D., Disney Professor of Archæology.

  8vo. cloth, 2s. 6d.
- Maskew.—Annotations on the Acts of the Apostles.

  Designed principally for the use of Candidates for the Ordinary
  B.A. Degree, Students for Holy Orders, &c., with College and
  Senate-House Examination Papers. By T. R. MASKEW,
  M.A., of Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge; Head-Master of
  the Grammar School, Dorchester. Second Edition, enlarged.

  12mo. 5s.
- Miller.—The Elements of Hydrostatics and Hydrodynamics. By W. H. MILLER, M.A., Professor of Mineralogy in the University of Cambridge. Fourth Edition. 8vo. 6s.
- Miller.—Elementary Treatise on the Differential Calculus. By W. H. MILLER, M.A. Third Edition.

  8vo. 6s.
- Miller.—A Treatise on Crystallography.
  By W. H. MILLER, M.A. 8vo. 7s. 6d.
- Mill.—Five Sermons on the Temptation of Christ our Lord in the Wilderness, preached before the University of Cambridge. By W. H. MILL, D.D., late Regius Professor of Hebrew in the University of Cambridge. New Edition.

  \*\*Preparing\*.
- Mill.—Professorial Lectures on the Book of Psalms, delivered in the University of Cambridge. By W. H. MILL, D.D. Preparing.
- Mill.—A Course of Lectures delivered on occasions of Public Catechizing in the Parish Church of Brasted in the Diocese of Canterbury. By W. H. MILL, D.D.

  Fsep. 8vo. Preparing.
- Mill.—Sermons preached in Lent 1845, and on several former occasions, before the University of Cambridge. By W. H. MILL, D.D. 8vo. 12s.

- Mill.—Four Sermons preached before the University of Cambridge, on the Fifth of November, and the three Sundays preceding Advent, in the year 1848. By W. H. MILL, D.D. 8vo. 5s. 6d.
- Mill.—An Analysis of the Exposition of the Creed, written by the Right Reverend Father in God, J. PEARSON, D.D., late Lord Bishop of Chester. Compiled, with some additional matter occasionally interspersed, for the use of the Students of Bishop's College, Calcutta. By W. H. MILL, D.D. Third Edition, revised and corrected. 8vo. 5s.
- Mill.—Observations on the Attempted Application of Pantheistic Principles to the Theory and Historic Criticism of the Gospels; being the Christian Advocate's Publication 1840 to 1844. By W. H. MILL, D.D. 8vo. cloth, 21s.

The Publishers have been enabled to complete a small number of copies of these publications. They are now for the first time issued in a volume, with a Preface and Analysis of the Contents.

- Monk, Bp.—Euripidis Alcestis. Ad fidem Manuscriptorum ac veterum editionum emendavit et Annotationibus instruxit J. H. MONK, S.T.P., Græcarum Literarum apud Cantabrigienses olim Professor Regius. Editio Septima.

  8vo. 4s. 6d.
  - 8vo. 4s. 6a.
- Monk, Bp.—Euripidis Hippolytus Coronifer. Ad fidem Manuscriptorum ac veterum editionum emendavit et annotationibus instruxit J. H. MONK, S.T.P. Editio quinta, recensita et emendata. 8vo. 5s.
- Muller.—Dissertations on the Eumenides of Æschylus: with Critical Remarks and an Appendix. Translated from the German of C. O. MULLER. Second Edition. 8vo. 6s. 6d.
- O'Brien.—Mathematical Tracts. On La Place's Coefficients; the Figure of the Earth; the Motion of a Rigid Body about its Centre of Gravity; Precession and Nutation. By the Rev. M. O'BRIEN, M.A., late Professor of Natural Philosophy, King's College, London.

  8vo. 4s. 6d.

- O'Brien—An Elementary Treatise on the Differential Calculus, in which the Method of Limits is exclusively made use of. By the Rev. M. O'BRIEN, M.A. 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- O'Brien—A Treatise on Plane Coordinate Geometry; or the Application of the Method of Coordinates to the Solution of Problems in Plane Geometry. By the Rev. M. O'BRIEN, M.A. 8vo. 9s.
- O'Brien & Ellis—Senate-House Problems for 1844. With Solutions, by M. O'BRIEN, M.A., Caius College, and R. L. ELLIS, M.A., Trinity College, Moderators.
- Okes—Mysæ Etonenses sive Carminym Etonæ Conditorum Delectys. Series Nova. Vol. I. Fascicylys I. Edidit RICARDYS OKES, S.T.P., Coll. Regal. apvd Cantabrigienses Præpositys. 8vo. 5s.
- Paley—P. Ovidii Nasonis Fastorum Libri Sex. With English Notes. By F. A. PALEY, Editor of "Æschy-Lus" and "Propertius." 12mo. cloth, 5s.
- Paley—Propertius. With English Notes, a Preface on the State of Latin Scholarship, and copious Indices. By F. A. PALEY. 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Paley—Æschylus. Re-edited, with an English Commentary, by F. A. PALEY. svo. cloth, 18s.
- Peacock—A Treatise on Algebra.
  By GEORGE PEACOCK, D.D., Dean of Ely, Lowndean
  Professor of Astronomy, &c.

Vol. I. ARITHMETICAL ALGEBRA. 8vo. 15s.

Vol. II. Symbolical Algebra, and its Application to the Geometry of Position. 8vo. 16s. 6d.

Pell—Geometrical Illustrations of the Differential Calculus. By M. B. PELL, B.A., Fellow of St. John's College. 8vo. 2s. 6d.

- Penrose—Demosthenes' Select Private Orations, after the Text of DINDORF, with the various Readings of REISKE and BEKKER. With English Notes, by the Rev. C. T. PENROSE, M.A. For the use of Schools. Second Edition.
- Pictorial Illustrations of the Catalogue of Manuthe Editor of that Work. Being Facsimiles of Illumination, Text, and Autograph, done in Lithograph, 4to. size, to be accompanied with two or three sheets of Letterpress Description in 8vo., as Companion to the published Catalogue.

A few Copies may be had, of which the colouring of

the Plates is more highly finished. Price 11. 10s.

- Preston—Phraseological and Explanatory Notes on the Hebrew Text of the Book of Genesis. By the Rev. T. PRESTON, M.A., Lord Almoner's Reader in Arabic and Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge. Crown 8vo. 9s. 6d.
- Rees and Ayerst—The Influence of Christianity on the Language of Modern Europe. The Essays which obtained the Hulsean Prize for the Year 1855. By WILLIAM JENNINGS REES, B.A., Scholar and Nadyn's Student of St. John's College, and Crosse University Scholar; and the Rev. WILLIAM AYERST, B.A., late Scholar of Caius College, Cambridge, Associate, and late Scholar of King's College, London.
- Richardson-On the Study of Language: an Exposition of Tooke's Diversions of Purley. By CHARLES RICHARDSON, LL.D., Author of "A New Dictionary of the English Language." 12mo. cloth, 4s. 6d.
- Richardson-A New Dictionary of the English Language. Combining Explanation with Etymology: and Illustrated by Quotations from the best Authorities. By C. RICHARDSON, LL.D. New Edition, in 2 vols. 4to. 4l. 4s.

Richardson—A New Dictionary of the English Language. Combining Explanations with Etymologies. By C. RICHARDSON, LL.D. New Edition. 8vo. 15s.

- Ritter.—Cornelii Taciti Opera. Ad Codices antiquissimos exacta et emendata, Commentario critico et exegetico illustrata. Edidit F. RITTER, Prof. Bonnensis. 4 vols.

  8vo. 11. 8s.
  A few copies printed on thick Vellum paper, imp. 8vo. 4l. 4s.
- Romilly.—Graduati Cantabrigienses: sive Catalogus eorum quos ab anno 1760 usque ad 10<sup>m</sup> Octr. 1846, Gradu quocunque ornavit Academia. Curâ J. ROMILLY, A.M., Coll. Trin. Socii atque Academiæ Registrarii. 8vo. 10s.
- Sabrinae Corolla: A Volume of Classical Translations and Original Compositions, contributed by Gentlemen educated at Shrewsbury School. With Nine Illustrations.

  Svo. cloth, 15s.
- Sandeman.—A Treatise on the Motion of a Single Particle, and of Two Particles acting on one another. By A. SANDEMAN, M.A., late Fellow and Tutor of Queens' College, Cambridge. 8vo. 8s. 6d.
- Scholefield.—Euripidis Tragædiæ Priores Quatuor, ad fidem Manuscriptorum emendatæ et brevibus Notis emendationum potissimum rationes reddentibus instructæ. Edidit R. PORSON, A.M., &c., recensuit suasque notulas subjecit J. SCHOLEFIELD. Editio tertia. 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Scott.—An Elementary Treatise on Plane Coordinate Geometry, with its Application to Curves of the Second Order. By the Rev. W. SCOTT, Mathematical Lecturer, Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge. Crown 8vo. 5s. 6d.
- Sedgwick.—A Discourse on the Studies of the University of Cambridge. By A. SEDGWICK, M.A., F.R.S., Fellow of Trinity College, and Woodwardian Professor, Cambridge. The Fifth Edition, with Additions and a copious Preliminary Dissertation.

Shakspeare,—Dramatic Works of. The Text completely Revised, with Notes, and various Readings. By SAMUEL WELLER SINGER, F.S.A. The Life of the Poet, and a Critical Essay on each Play, by WILLIAM WATKISS LLOYD, M.R.S.L. In 10 vols.

6s. each.

This edition was originally announced by the late Mr. Pickering: it is printed at the Chiswick Press, in the same size and style as the Aldine Poets.

The first volume contains a Portrait of Shakspeare; and each title-page will be illustrated with a Vignette, drawn by Stothard and engraved by Thompson, not before published.

A LARGE PAPER EDITION. 10 vols. Crown 8vo. 4l. 10s.

Shilleto.—Demosthenes de Falsa Legatione.

By R. SHILLETO, M.A., Trinity College, Cambridge, and Classical Lecturer at King's College. Second Edition, carefully revised.

8vo. 8s. 6d.

Solly.—The Will Divine and Human.
By THOMAS SOLLY.

In a

In the Press.

- Transactions of the Cambridge Philosophical Society.
  9 vols. 4to. with Plates.
- Walton.—A Collection of Elementary Problems in Statics, Dynamics, Hydrostatics, and Optics, designed for the use of those Candidates for Mathematical Honours, who are preparing for the first three days of the Senate-House Examination. By W. WALTON, M.A., Trinity College, Cambridge.
- Walton.—A Collection of Problems in Illustration of the Principles of Theoretical Mechanics. By W. WALTON, M.A. Second Edition, with numerous alterations and additions.
- Walton.—A Collection of Problems in Illustration of the Principles of Theoretical Hydrostatics and Hydrodynamics. By W. WALTON, M.A. 8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Walton.—A Treatise on the Differential Calculus. By W. WALTON, M.A. 8vo. 10s. 6d.

- Walton.—Problems in Illustration of the Principles of Plane Coordinate Geometry. By W. WALTON, M.A. 8vo. 16s.
- Wayte.—The Protagoras of Plato.

  The Greek Text. Edited, with English Notes, by the Rev.
  WILLIAM WAYTE, B.A., Fellow of King's College, Cambridge, and Assistant-Master at Eton.

  8vo. 5s. 6d.
- Webster.—The Principles of Hydrostatics. An Elementary Treatise on the Laws of Fluids and their Practical Application. By T. WEBSTER, M.A., Trinity College. Fourth Edition.
- Webster.—The Theory of the Equilibrium and Motion of Fluids. By T. WEBSTER, M.A. 8vo. 9s.
- West.—Parish Sermons, according to the order of the Christian Year. By the late Rev. C. A. WEST. Edited by the Rev. J. R. WEST, M.A, Vicar of Wrawby-with-Glandford, Brigg.
- Whewell.—Lectures on the History of Moral Philosophy in England. By W. WHEWELL, D.D., Master of Trinity College, Cambridge.
- Whewell.—Bishop Butler's Three Sermons on Human Nature, and Dissertation on Virtue. Edited by W. WHEWELL, D.D. With a Preface and a Syllabus of the Work. Third Edition. Fcp. 8vo. 3s. 6d.
- Whewell.—Bishop Butler's Six Sermons on Moral Subjects. A Sequel to the "Three Sermons on Human Nature." Edited by W. WHEWELL, D.D., with a Preface and a Syllabus of the Work. Fcp. 8vo. 3s. 6d.
- Whewell.—Sermons preached in the Chapel of Trinity College, Cambridge. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. 8vo. 10s. 6d.

- Whewell.—Conic Sections; their principal Properties proved Geometrically. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. Third Edition.

  8vo. 2s. 6d.
- Whewell.—An Elementary Treatise on Mechanics, intended for the use of Colleges and Universities. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. Seventh Edition, with extensive corrections and additions.

  8vo. 9s.
- Whewell.—On the Free Motion of Points, and on Universal Gravitation. Including the principal Propositions of Books I. and III. of the Principia. The first Part of a Treatise on Dynamics. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. Third Edition.

  8vo. 10s. 6d.
- Whewell.—On the Constrained and Resisted Motion of Points, and on the Motion of a Rigid Body. The second Part of a Treatise on Dynamics. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. Second Edition.

  8vo. 12s. 6d.
- Whewell.—Doctrine of Limits, with its Applications: namely, Conic Sections; the first Three Sections of Newton; and the Differential Calculus. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. 8vo. 9s.
- Whewell.—Analytical Statics. By W. WHEWELL, D.D.

8vo. 7s. 6d.

- Whewell.—Mechanical Euclid, containing the Elements Mechanics and Hydrostatics, demonstrated after the manner of Geometry. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. Fifth Edition.

  12mo. 55.
- Whewell.—The Mechanics of Engineering, intended for use in the Universities, and in Colleges of Engineers. By W. WHEWELL, D.D. 8vo. 9s.

Williams.—Rational Godliness. Sermons, Explanatory and Practical. Preached at Cambridge and Lampeter, by R. WILLIAMS, B.D., Fellow of King's College, Cambridge, and Professor of Hebrew, Lampeter.

Crown 8vo. 10s. 6d.

Wilson .- An Illustration of the Method of Explaining the New Testament by the early Opinions of the Jews and Christians concerning Christ. By the Rev. W. WILSON, M.A., late Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge. New Edition. 8vo. 8s.

Woodham.—The Apology of Tertullian. With English Notes and a Preface, intended as an Introduction to the Study of Patristical and Ecclesiastical Latinity. Second Edition. By H. A. WOODHAM, LL.D., late Fellow of Jesus College, Cambridge. 8vo. 8s. 6d.

Woolley.—Sermons on Bad Habits, preached before the University of Cambridge, with other Sermons preached at the Chapel Royal, White Hall. By the Rev. JOSEPH WOOLLEY, B.D., late Fellow of Emmanuel College. Preparing.

Wrigley,—A Collection of Examples and Problems in Pure and Mixed Mathematics; with Answers and occasional Hints. By the Rev. A. WRIGLEY, M.A., of St. John's College, Cambridge, Mathematical Master in the Honourable East India Company's Military Seminary, Addiscombe. Third 8vo. 8s. 6d. Edition, altered, corrected, and enlarged.

CAMBRIDGE: DEIGHTON, BELL, AND CO. LONDON: BELL AND DALDY.





BX GOODWIN 5133 PARISH SERMONS .G568 P32

117342

BX 5133 ,6568832

